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INTRODUCTION

The Banca Carige Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements for the Financial Year Under Temporary
Administration (1 January 2019 - 31 January 2020) were prepared in accordance with the international
accounting standards (IAS/IFRS) and related interpretations (SIC/IFRIC) officially approved by the
European Union, and in line with guidance provided by the Bank of ltaly in its Circular no. 262 of 22
December 2005 and subsequent updates (Banks' Financial Statements: Layout and Preparation).
The Report comprises the Financial Statements as at 31 January 2020, the Explanatory Notes and
Annexes, and is accompanied by the Temporary Administrators' Report on Operations.
Included in the financial statements are the:

- Balance sheet;

- Income Statement;

- Statement of Comprehensive Income;

- Statement of changes in Shareholders' equity

- Statement of Cash Flows.
The Report on Operations provides the required information concerning business performance as a
whole and for the various segments of the Group’s business, as well as main risks and uncertainties
encountered.
The Banca Carige Group's Financial Statements are audited by EY S.p.A. on a voluntary basis.



STRUCTURE OF THE BANCA CARIGE GROUP
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By resolution of 2/1/2019, the European Central Bank (ECB) ordered that the Bank's management and control bodies, in
particular the Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors, be dissolved and replaced with Temporary Administrators,
Mr. Fabio Innocenzi, Mr. Raffaele Lener and Mr. Pietro Modiano, who were vested with the functions and powers of
administration of the Bank, and a Surveillance Committee composed of Mr. Gianluca Brancadoro (taking on the role of
Chairman), Mr. Andrea Guaccero and Mr. Alessandro Zanotti, who were assigned the control functions and the task of
providing opinions to the Temporary Administrators, where required.

The duration of the Temporary Administration was initially set for a period of three months; subsequently, on 29 March 2019,
the European Central Bank (ECB) extended the Temporary Administration period to 30 September 2019, confirming the
mandate of the Temporary Administrators and members of the Surveillance Committee, as was decided by the ECB on 1
January 2019.

Subsequently, on 30 September 2019, the ECB again extended the Temporary Administration period to 31 December 2019,
with a further last extension to 31 January 2020 being resolved upon on 20 December 2019.

At the end of the Temporary Administration period, the Board of Directors and Board of Statutory Auditors were appointed by the
Ordinary Shareholders” Meeting on 31/1/2020 for the 2020-2021-2022 financial years, with term of office until the date of the
Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve the financial statements as at 31/12/2022.

At its meeting on the same day, the Board of Directors appointed Francesco Guido as Chief Executive Officer.

The Board of Directors also set up the following Board-internal Committees, the composition of which, as at today, is:

= Risk Committee: Angelo Barbarulo (Chair), Paola Demartini, Miro Fiordi e Leopoldo Scarpa;

= Nomination, Governance and Sustainability Committee: Lucia Calvosa (Chair), Vincenzo Calandra Buonaura and Sabrina
Bruno;

= Remuneration Committee: Francesco Micheli (Chair), Sabrina Bruno and Miro Fiordi;

= Related-Parties Committee: Gaudiana Giusti (Chair), Lucia Calvosa and Francesco Micheli.



POWERS AND DELEGATED AUTHORITIES OF THE GOVERNING BODIES

Following the ECB's decision to place the Bank under Temporary Administration on 2 January 2019 and
the subsequent extensions to 31 January 2020, date on which the Temporary Administration period
came to an end, the exercise of all Board of Directors’ functions and powers was assigned -in
compliance with ltalian Civil Code, applicable regulations and the Bank's Article of Association- to the
Temporary Administrators appointed by the ECB, as provided for in Article 72 of the Consolidated Law
on Banking.

Following the end of the Temporary Administration and the appointment by the Shareholders' Meeting of
the new governing and control bodies, the Bank’s ordinary governance was restored.

For information regarding the powers and delegated authorities of the governing and control bodies, the
restored Board of Directors as of 31 January 2020 and the Management, please refer to the separate
document: “Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure Report for 2019”, available in the
“Governance” section of the Bank’s website at www.gruppocarige.it.



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE GROUP

Balance sheet figures (EUR/mIn)

Total assets || 22220214‘,162
Funding (A+B) asorat
- Direct deposits (a) 1| 4159%75 3
- Due to banks (b) 44023300
Indirect deposits (c+d) I |21222§12478
- Assets under Management (c) E H};};
- Assets under Custody (d) 518_11'83%1
Overall funding (a+c+d) I 35|7328622969
- Loans to customers at amortised cost * 22114389%,2
- Loans to banks at amortised cost * 1_521"?44‘4
- Net bad loans to customers h %?331
Share capital and reserves 22'5;526’57
031/01/2020  @31/12/2018

* After value adjustments and debt securities at amortised cost.

Income statement figures (EUR/min)

Net interest and other banking income

Net income from banking activities

Profit (loss) before tax from continuing operations

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to the Parent Company

031012020

336.9
396.9

(1248) [
] 1517

864.4) |

(315.6)

(869.8) |

(272.8)

O3y122018

Situation as at

31/01/2020 31/12/2018
RESOURCES (end of period)
Number of branches 439 489
Headcount 3,714 4,282




KPIs (%) (1)

145.4%
Cost/income ratio } [93.7%
_35.49
Rog  -35:4% [
-13.5%
-34.1% |
Restated ROE

-12.8%

9

Bad loans/Total loans 0.5%

2.3%
@3v01200 @3ynos

(1) In order to facilitate the understanding of the Group's economic and financial performance, some Alternative Performance Measures ('"APMs") have been identified. These indicators also
represent the tools that help directors identify operating trends and make decisions about investments, allocation of resources and other business decisions.
For a correct interpretation of these APMs, taking into account the guidelines issued by the ESMA on 5 October 2015 and in force since 3 July 2016, the following is highlighted:
i. these indicators are constructed on the exclusive basis of the Group's historical data and are not indicative of the future performance of the Group;
ii. APMs are not required by international accounting standards ('IFRS") and, although they are derived from the Group's consolidated financial statements, they are not subject to auditing;
iii. APMs must not be considered as substitutes for the indicators required by the reference accounting standards (IFRS);
iv. APMs shall be referred to in combination with the Group's financial information drawn from the Group's consolidated financial statements;
v. as they do not derive from the reference accounting standards, the definitions of the indicators used by the Group may not be consistent -and hence comparable- with those adopted by
other companies / groups.
With reference to profitability indicators, the above-mentioned APMs have been selected and described as the Group believes that:
¢ The Cost/Income ratio, calculated as the ratio between operating expenses and net operating income, is one of the main indicators of the Bank's and the Group's management
efficiency; the lower the value expressed by this indicator, the greater the efficiency.
¢ Return on Equity (ROE) obtained by dividing the profit (loss) for the period by the Group's equity net of the profit (loss) for the period, and the Adjusted Return on Equity (Adjusted ROE),
obtained by dividing the profit (loss) for the period by the Group's equity net of the profit (loss) for the period and valuation reserves, are economic indicators on the return on equity.
These indicators are used to verify the rate of return on equity, i.e. the return on the equity invested in the company by the shareholders. They can be considered as a synthesis of the
overall return on equity, reflecting how the own funds were managed to increase business results.
* The Net bad loans/Loans to customers indicator is reflective of the share of bad loans on total loans to customers.
Reported below are the reference values for the calculation method of selected APMs:

- Cost/income ratio: ratio of core operating expenses (Income Statement items 190, 210 and 220 net of tax recoveries under item 230, contributions to the Single Resolution Fund and
Deposit Guarantee Scheme, DTA fees, non-core administrative expenses and non-recurring net adjustments to/recoveries on property and equipment and intangible assets) to net core
operating income (Income Statement items 30, 60, 70, 80, 90, 100 (excluding 100(a)) and 110 (for the securities component only) net of non-recurring items and 230 net of tax
recoveries);

- ROE: ratio of Net Profit (Loss) for the period attributable to the Parent Company (Income Statement item 350) to the Group's share capital and reserves (Balance Sheet Liabilities items
120, 150, 160, 170 and 180)

- Adjusted ROE: ratio of Net Profit (Loss) for the period attributable to the Parent Company (Income Statement item 350) to the Group’s share capital and reserves net of valuation
reserves (Balance Sheet Liabilities items 150, 160, 170 and 180)

- Bad loans to total loans: ratio calculated as Net balance-sheet bad loans to customers divided by Net loans to customers (Balance Sheet item 40(a) net of debt securities at amortised
cost).

Capital ratios

Common Equity Tier 1 | 12.0%
capital/Total risk-weighted assets | 10.7%
Tier 1 capital/Total risk-weighted | 12.0%
assets | 10.7%
Own Funds/Total risk-weighted | 13.9%
assets | 12.9%
Total risk-weighted assets 10,781.8
(EUR min) 14,7273
Common Equity Tier 1 L ] 12965
capital (EUR min) :l 15727
031/01/2020 031/12/2018
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REAL ECONOMY AND MONEY MARKET

The description of the underlying real and monetary framework that characterised 2019, which
represented the scenario within which the economic results described in this report were produced,
cannot exempt us from stressing from the outset that the outbreak of the health emergency related to the
spread of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic (a.k.a New Coronavirus) and the consequent respiratory disease
called Covid-19 in the first months of 2020, will have major repercussions on Asian, European and
American economic activity, certainly slowing down the pace of growth of the global economy in the
short and presumably also in the medium term, making forecasts for the future -based on past events-
uncertain.

In macroeconomic terms, the spread of the epidemic necessarily has major repercussions in an
environment of growing international tension, which is an inevitable consequence of the high degree of
interconnection between countries and the globalisation of the economy.

These repercussions, however, are at present difficult to quantify if the opposite effects are considered,
which may arise from the simultaneous monetary and budgetary policy actions that the competent
Authorities are adopting to counter this crisis situation.

To the extent that these measures prove to be particularly effective, there could be both a reduction in the
possible negative impacts associated with a loss of GDP in 2020 and a potential recovery as early as in
2021, with consequent effects in terms of outlooks for the Bank.

During the last few months of 2019, signs of a stabilisation of the global economy had intensified, with
growth in the third quarter mirroring that of the previous quarter, both in the United States and in the
Eurozone, and with growth still close to 6%, albeit slowing, in China. On these assumptions, global
growth should have been around 2.6%, which would have been the lowest in the last decade.

However, the main elements that underpinned these signs of stabilisation in 2019 were the continued
support of economic policies and the temporary freezing of trade tensions between the U.S. and Ching;
on the first point, the FED had made it known that it did not want to make any adjustments to the recent
precautionary inferest rate cuts, despite the dissemination of positive data on economic performance,
while substantial stagnation was registered on the second point, mainly due to the need of both leaders
to show no signs of weakness, including with reference to their domestic political situation.

As regards the labour market, a positive trend was registered, with US unemployment at 3.5% and wages
continuing to grow; a similar situation was also recorded in the euro area, as shown in particular by
figures for Germany.

Another noteworthy element is corporate profitability which was down less than expected both in the USA
and in the EMU areaq, leading to good performance on the stock markets in the last part of the year. On
the other hand, the economic policies had increasingly narrow margins to support the economy in
difficult situations; the US federal budget deficit was around 4.2% of GDP at the end of 2019, with debt
estimated to exceed 100% in 2020. Interest rates in China fell from 6% at the beginning of the 2000s to
4% in 2019, with total debt at a record level of 300% of GDP, after years of policies to stimulate the
economy.

Issues of social justice and income distribution have increasingly caused an unexpected surge of street
protests in various countries around the world, attacks on the independence of central banks were
believed to undermine future macroeconomic stability and increasing awareness of climate change was
thought would require a reassessment of associated costs to protect the planet from global warming.

In the United Kingdom, the general elections at the end of 2019 gave Prime Minister Boris Johnson a
broad mandate to implement the Brexit deal and negotiate with the EU an exit which was thought would
be as orderly as possible and, in any case, should not have taken place before the end of 2020, with a
transition period towards a free trade area.

The European cycle was still characterised by a phase of uncertainty, albeit with some timid signs of an
interruption of the slowdown as of 2018. Despite a difficult context for the industrial sector, growth rates
have been increasing again in both Italy and Germany, although the spread with France and Spain
remains wide. GDP continued to grow steadily, with a positive contribution from domestic demand and a
negative contribution from foreign trade and the change in inventories; a cyclical increase in GDP of
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0.2% was estimated for the last quarter of 2019, driven mainly by the construction sector and the
depreciation of the euro against the dollar in real terms. Manufacturing is still shrinking, while services
continue to be on an uptrend, albeit at a slower pace. Consumption is being led by weak inflation, which
guarantees the prospect of accommodative monetary policies and a good trend in disposable income,
supported partly by tax policies.

With regard to ltaly, the stagnation phase continued, with a slightly positive GDP trend, supported by
domestic demand and a positive contribution from changes in inventories, against a sharp contraction in
foreign trade. Domestic demand, partly as a result of the full entry into force of some expansionary
economic policies in previous months, was driven by household consumer spending, while no changes
were observed in investment trends. The industrial sector is still going through a period of difficulty, with
manufacturing in decline and a slight growth in construction; real estate buying and selling and retail
trade keep the service sector expanding, GDP -in trend terms- was up and accelerated for the third
consecutive quarter, from 0.1% in the second quarter to 0.3% in the third quarter of 2019.

The BTP/Bund spread widened again in the last few months of 2019, reaching a threshold close to 170
basis points, as compared to a low of around 130 basis points for the year, due to the increase in ltaly's
perceived country risk, as a result of greater uncertainty about the government’s tenure.

After a 2019 in which, thanks to the equity and debt market performance, the strongest growth of the last
decade was recorded in financial wealth, up by an estimated 6.5%, a rapid deterioration of the
environment was recorded in the first months of the current year, due to the crisis triggered by Covid19,
with the equity markets losing far more than they gained in the whole of last year, although the increase
in precautionary savings and the slowdown in consumption may partly mitigate the negative effect of the
markets, leading to a marked improvement in the contribution of flows. In view of a foreseeable further
deterioration of the economic and financial environment in the current year, households’ risk appetite will
decline further, taking the stock of liquidity to new peaks. Liquidity is generated not only by an increase in
savings, but also by a remix of the portfolios away from the more risky components and by the inevitable
impact that the lockdown will have on the possibility of placing financial instruments on the market, an
area in which the advisory service is traditionally based on interpersonal relations. The financial situation
will penalise mutual funds and unit-linked policies in particular, with their negative trend partly mitigated
by a containment of the outflows to prevent the massive losses that would follow a steep fall of the
markets; a positive demand is instead estimated for government bonds and insurance products linked to
separately managed investment accounts, even in a scenario of low interest rates.

It is estimated that mutual funds may recover the ground lost during this year by 2022 at the earliest.
Partly due to the modest recovery expected in the economic activity, shares and equity investments are,
instead, expected to only recover partially. The growth in insurance and pension products is expected to
be more stable, while debt securities will decline again, given the low interest rate scenario. Liquidity will
therefore still be significant, probably over one third of the total portfolio.

With regard to investments, a sharp contraction is predicted for all countries in the euro zone; in ltaly, a
reduction by at least 14% is estimated, concentrated in the first half of the year, due to the steep fall in
demand, interruption of the production chain and activities, as well as uncertainty about the time
required to overcome current difficulties. During the year, construction investments will similarly suffer a
heavy setback due to a lack of demand and the closure of several construction sites. However, public
investment could contribute positively, particularly at the end of the year.

The prospects for a recovery of the banking system, both in ltaly and internationally, appear to be
particularly compromised by the negative effects that the current recession will have on both the structure
of interest rates and the quality of assets. The system is expected to benefit from the measures already in
place or to be decided upon in the future by the ECB, the SSM and the ltalian Government to support
liquidity and the value of securities held in the portfolio, as well as from a more lenient prudential
framework, combined with credit support to businesses, which may contribute to preventing the
generation of non-performing loans. The expectation is that volumes of lending to households and
businesses will shrink and net interest income will only be sustained by a reduction in the cost of funding,
i.e. the ECB's medium-term liquidity in particular, and by a possible increase in returns on the
government securities held in the portfolio, as against a lower contribution of revenues from services.
However, the system will be able to count on the results of the efforts made in recent years to increase
capital strength and the ability to respond to liquidity shocks. Moreover, the experience gained by banks
in continuing to provide services to customers even in these months of reduced circulation of people and
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the experience gained by customers in the use of digital channels, may become an opportunity to
accelerate the process, already underway, of digital transformation in some segments of the banking
business.

The current scenario following the outbreak of the health emergency associated with the Covid-19
pandemic and increasing repercussions on the economy from the impacts of the containment measures
implemented by an increasing number of countries make future prospects and the macroeconomic
framework uncertain. According to the European Central Bank, the crisis generated by the Coronavirus
will lead to a generalised contraction in output and a reduction in domestic and foreign demand.

The world's central banks are gradually implementing extraordinary measures to inject liquidity and
provide support to the economy and the banking system.

In particular, the ECB and the SSM have approved a set of monetary policies and banking supervision
measures aimed at supporting households and businesses through favourable financing conditions to
preserve the transmission of credit to the real economy, while keeping monetary policy rates unchanged.
Among other initiatives, the following specific measures have been introduced:

o weekly LTRO auctions until June 2020. The interest rate of the LTROs will be equal to the
average rate on deposits (-0.50%), obtainable without reaching any funding target;

e more favourable conditions on TLTRO auctions between June 2020 and June 2021: a) banks
will be able to request a higher maximum amount, up to 50% of the stock of loans eligible in
February 2019 (from prior 30%); b) a benefit of 25 basis points on the rate of TLTRO IIl, which
translates into -0.25% for banks that will not exceed the target lending to businesses, and up to -
0.75% for those who will exceed it; c) conditions on the achievement of the most favourable
targets (minimum credit growth rate at 0% instead of prior 2.5%);

e EUR 120 bn increase in the asset purchase programme until the end of 2020;

e loosening of prudential requirements: the SSM allows banks to make full use of capital buffers
(Capital Conservation buffer, Countercyclical capital buffer and Pillar 2 Guidance). In addition,
the composition of the Pillar 2 Requirement (P2R) brings forward the measures that were initially
scheduled to come into effect in January 2021, as part of the latest Capital Requirements
Directive (CRD V), allowing banks to partially use Additional Tier T and Tier 2 instruments to meet
the Pillar 2 requirement;

e the ECB will additionally grant operational flexibility in the implementation of bank specific
prudential measures and has postponed the stress test exercise until 2021.

Furthermore, the European Central Bank has put in place an important plan to support the euro and
Eurozone countries in difficulty. Under the EUR 750 bn Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme
(PEPP), the ECB has committed to purchasing public and private sector securities from various EU
countries, including Greece, and commercial papers, in order to inject liquidity into the system and,
consequently, help businesses and households.

The Federal Reserve also stepped in, reducing interest rates by one percentage point to 0-0.25% and
launching a quantitative easing programme for the purchase of $700 billion worth of government bonds
and mortgage-backed bonds; coordinated action has also been planned among the world's central
banks to support liquidity.

On 19 March 2020, the European Commission approved the Temporary Framework on State aid, an
extraordinary plan of initiatives to ensure the broadest flexibility in the application and approval of aid
measures, with reference to the current crisis.
Five additional types of State aid measures have been identified as justifiable for a limited period of time
(currently until 31 December 2020, which may be extended if necessary), resolving that they can be
considered compatible with the internal market under Article 107(3)(b) of the Treaty on the Functioning
of the European Union:

1. aid in the form of direct grants, tax relief and repayable advance payments of up to EUR 800

thousand per beneficiary company;
2. aid in the form of guarantees;
3. aid in the form of favourable interest rates;
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4. aid in the form of guarantees and loans through credit institutions or other financial
intermediaries;
5. Aid in the form of public short-term export credit insurance.

In order to support workers and mitigate the risks of unemployment linked to the current pandemic, the
European Commission, on 2 April 2020, implemented an initiative called SURE (support to mitigate the
risks of unemployment in an emergency), which will provide member states with up to EUR 100 bn of
financial assistance in the form of loans granted on favourable terms. The Commission has also
proposed to redirect all available structural funds to address the current emergency. Finally, the EU
Solidarity for Health initiative, with a budget of EUR 3 bn, aims to address the needs of the healthcare
systems of EU Member States.
An additional initiative of the European Commission and the European Investment Fund plans to unlock
approximately EUR 8 bn in finance from the European Fund for Strategic Investments, allowing about
100,000 European SMEs economically impacted by the coronavirus pandemic, to receive support and
assistance by benefiting from financial relief.
Domestically, in order to contain the negative effects of the epidemic, Decree Law no. 18 was issued on
17 March 2020 largely dedicated to liquidity support measures via the banking system; the decree also
contains provisions in favour of SMEs, self-employed workers and the liberal professions.
As far as interventions in favour of SMEs are concerned, facilitations are in place, with respect to the
ordinary framework, for: access to the Central Guarantee Fund for loans under Law No. 662/1996;
access to the Solidarity Fund for "first home” mortgages for self-employed workers who certify a reduction
in turnover by at least 33%; for lenders (banks, in particular), the possibility of converting DTAs on tax
losses into tax credits against the disposal of non-performing loans, moratoria for corporate borrowers,
and additional forms of lending granted with the support of Cassa Depositi e Prestiti and guaranteed, to
a certain percentage extent, by the State.
Subsequently, on 8 April 2020, a further "Liquidity Decree" (Legislative Decree No. 23/2020) was issued,
which provides, among other things, for a series of specifications regarding the guarantees pledged by
the Central Guarantee Fund for SMEs, until 31 December 2020, with the following characteristics:

e the Fund’s guarantee is issued free of charge;

e the maximum guaranteed amount for each business is increased to EUR 5 min;

e access to the guarantee for businesses with up to 499 employees;

e the total amount of the above financial transactions may not exceed, alternatively:

> twice the beneficiary's annual wage expenses for the year 2019 or the latest year available. If
the enterprise started its activity as of 1 January 2019, the maximum amount of the loan shall
not exceed the annual wage expenses planned for the first two years of business.

> 25% of the annual turnover in 2019,

» the amount required for working capital and investment costs in the following 18 months (in
case of small and medium-sized enterprises), or 12 months (in case of enterprises having up
to 499 employees); this requirement is certified by means of self-certification.

The following guarantee coverage percentages apply:
» 100% coverage for loans to small and medium-sized enterprises and natural persons
engaged in business, arts or professions whose activity has been affected by the Covid-
19 epidemic, for an amount not exceeding 25% of the beneficiary's revenues, and in any
case not exceeding EUR 25,000, without further creditworthiness assessment by the issuer
(duration up to 72 months and repayment of principal not earlier than 24 months after
disbursement). In this case, banks may grant the financing without having to wait for
approval from the Guarantee Fund);
> 100% coverage (10% granted by Confidi) for loans to beneficiaries with revenues not
exceeding EUR 3.2 mln, whose activity has been affected by the Covid-19 epidemic, for
an amount not exceeding 25% of the beneficiary's revenues and in any case not
exceeding EUR 800,000, without performance assessment by the issuer;
> 90% guarantee, without performance assessment, for one of the following amounts
(maximum guaranteed amount EUR 5 mln, duration 72 months):
- twice the employment costs borne in 2019;
- 25% of the latest annual turnover;
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- the amount required for working capital and investment costs in the following 18
months.

In addition, the option has been introduced for large companies and SMEs, including self-employed
workers and the liberal professions, who have used up their capacity of accessing the Central Guarantee
Fund, to obtain -until 31 December 2020- a guarantee from SACE on bank loans granted. A company
of the Cassa Depositi e Prestiti Group specialising in the insurance and financial sector, SACE undertakes
an aggregate maximum commitment of EUR 200 bn, of which at least EUR 30 bn is intended for SMEs,
including self-employed workers and the liberal professions. Loans covered by the guarantee shall meet
the following conditions (in line with those defined in the Temporary Framework of the European
Commission on State aid to companies affected by the emergency):
- duration not exceeding 6 years, with the possibility of a pre-amortization period of up to 24
months;
- the beneficiary enterprise does not fall within the category of "distressed companies" and the debt
exposures of the enterprise is not classified as non-performing exposures in the banking system;
- the amount of the loan secured by the Guarantee shall not exceed the higher of the following
amounts:
e 25% of the annual turnover in 2019; and
e twice the employment costs borne in 2019;
- commitment by the beneficiary not to approve any dividend distribution in the twelve months after
the loan is granted and to manage redundancies through agreements with Trade Unions.
In relation to the loans described above, the Guarantee covers the following amounts:
- 90% of the amount of the loan, for businesses with less than 5,000 employees in ltaly and with a
turnover up to EUR 1.5 bn;
- 80% of the amount of the loan, for businesses with more than 5,000 employees in Italy and with
a turnover between EUR 1.5 and EUR 5 bn;
- 70% of the amount of the loan, for businesses with a turnover of more than EUR 5 bn.

Measures have also been introduced for the suspension of tax and contribution payments, deferred
delivery of the ‘Certificazione Unica’ tax return forms for tax withholding agents, some new measures to
ensure going concern operations and an expansion of the scope of State intervention in sectors of
national strategic importance (golden power).

At the moment, the impacts on domestic economy are impossible to predict, as they will largely depend
on the duration of the crisis, the effectiveness of the afore-mentioned, continuously evolving initiatives
implemented by the Authorities, the resilience and responsiveness of both businesses and households,
and the role that the banking system will be able to play in supporting the economy. A significant
contraction in ltaly's GDP is most definitely expected, the extent of which is, however, difficult to predict at
this stage as evidenced by the variability of the first estimates released by leading economic research
institutes; the economic measures that the ltalian government and the European institutions have
promptly taken and the further measures that could be taken during the year, will certainly help
mitigating the recessionary effects.

The forecasts made in the last days of March by Prometeia, assuming a slow and selective removal of
production blocks from the beginning of May 2020 and a hopeful return to normality in the summer
months, estimated a drop in ltalian GDP by 6.5% in 2020, despite support from both monetary and
fiscal policy, with projections of a gradual rebound in autumn and a reversal of the trend only from
2021, when GDP growth could reach 3.3%. Deep recession, slow recovery, the extent of fiscal
interventions, significant albeit constrained by the high debt burden, will but confirm ltaly's structural
fragility, further weakening its productive capacity and public finance; the scenario looming ahead
suggests a 2 percentage point lower GDP in 2022 than in 2019, as against a 15 percentage point
higher public debt, with the unemployment rate set to rise.

On 14 April, the International Monetary Fund further worsened its forecasts and published the World
Economic Outlook Report, which points out that the world economy has entered an unprecedented
recession, the most severe since the Great Depression of 1929, with a 3% contraction projected for
2020, followed by an uncertain 5.8% rebound in 2021; in January, before the pandemic outbreak, the
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IMF estimated a 3.3% growth for 2020. The cumulative loss to global GDP over the current and next
year could be around 9 trillion dollars. Italy is undoubtedly among the worst affected countries, with GDP
expected to shrink by 9.1% in 2020 and rebound by 4.8% in 2021; in Europe only Greece will do worse,
with a 10% fall in GDP. In Germany, 7% contraction in 2020 and 5.2% recovery in 2021; in France -
7.2% in 2020 and +4.5% in 2021. As a whole, the Eurozone will see a 7.5% fall in GDP, with a 4.7%
recovery in 2021. For the United States, 5.9% contraction this year and 4.7% growth in 2021. In China,
the economy is projected to grow at a subdued 1.2 percent this year, rebounding to +9.2% in 2021;
India is forecast to grow by 1.9% in 2020 and by 7.4% in 2021.

STRATEGY AND BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

As a consequence of the changed conditions resulting from the outcome of the Shareholders' Meeting of
22 December 2018, which rejected the proposal to vest the Board of Directors with the mandate to
increase the share capital, the majority of the Bank's Directors tendered their resignations with effect as of
2 January 2019, with the entire Board ceasing to hold office on the same date.
Again on the same date, the European Central Bank imposed Temporary Administration on Banca
Carige, appointing 3 Temporary Administrators and a Surveillance Committee. The Temporary
Administrators were vested by the ECB with the power to proceed with the actions required to sustainably
restore compliance with the regulatory requirements, including by assessing/exploring the possibility of a
business combination with other financial institutions.
Therefore, the Temporary Administrators decided to continue the activities for the Bank's capital
strengthening, commercial relaunch through the win-back of market shares in its core segments,
derisking through the reduction of Non-Performing Loans and the pursuit of potential business
combinations. These elements were outlined in the 2019-2023 Strategic Plan, called “Carige: Winning
back our Future” (hereinafter also the “Strategic Plan”), approved by the Temporary Administrators in
their meeting of 19 February 2019 and presented to the financial community on 27 February 2019,
which is intended to leverage the Bank’s potential from a standalone perspective as the basis for a
business combination, following three steps that build on one another:

- fortify the balance sheet and strengthen the capital position in 2019;

- reach break-even in 2020 based on short-term operating/business levers;

- return to profitability from 2021, building on the turnaround of previous years.

More specifically, the main objectives to be achieved with the new Strategic Plan are:

- faster derisking: YE2019 NPE ratio at 6-7% , through the disposal of EUR 2.1 bn in bad loans
and unlikely-to-pay exposures;

- core business at break-even by the second half of 2019, thanks to lower costs of production and
delivery of banking services to customers;

- “lean revolution”: simplification of processes, procedures, customer relations and a focus on
products and segments;

- wealth management relaunch and requalification, leveraging on Banca Cesare Ponti;

- ROE at 7% in 2023 with conservative revenue assumptions (equity and reserves calculated at
12% of RWAs);

- massive investments in digital and IT innovation;

- EUR 630 mln capital increase, to fill the demand for capital required to cover an originally
planned amount of EUR 400 mln that was not approved at the end of 2018, EUR 120 min due
to accelerated derisking, EUR 65 mln for additional investments in the lean/digital revolution and
EUR 45 min to offset the negative outcome of the Shareholders” Meeting of 22 December 2018;

- return to break-even thanks to normalisation of the cost of risk and discontinuation of negative
one-off effects;

- full and stable capital ratios compliance: CET1 ratio and TCR expected at 14% by YE 2019.
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The 2019-2023 Strategic Plan structurally reduces the Bank's risk profile, wholly rethinks Carige’s
business model to ensure viability in a standalone perspective and allows for a satisfactory return on
equity. At the same time, the Plan is the basis for the additional upside that prospective partners and
investors -both industrial and financial- will be able to obtain from a business combination with the Bank,
as a function of their intrinsic characteristics.
The Plan highlights the strengths of the Group, namely its customer base, human resources and the
specificity of its local footprint, where net wealth per capita is significantly higher than ltalian average. Its
focus is on services dedicated to specific customer segments, such as households' wealth management
and services for SMEs, in addition to a lean revolution, which will translate info a more agile "way of
doing business", eliminating waste and complexity while leveraging the Bank's small-medium sizing to
ensure speed and efficiency in customer service.
On 21 May 2019, in response to the changed conditions associated with the prospects for a business
combination, the Temporary Administrators approved an update to the afore-mentioned Strategic Plan,
which, at the request of the counterparties negotiating Carige’s change of control, included full-scale
derisking and coverage of certain higher-risk performing positions. The plan was also updated to take
account of the higher capital ratios required of the entire banking system from 1 January 2020. This led
to an increase in the overall extent of the capital strengthening effort. Finally, account was taken of the
effects of TLTRO lll, revised interest rates based on the updated macroeconomic scenario and an up-to-
date time schedule.
As a result of this complex preliminary phase, interest was shown by a leading banking player (Cassa
Centrale Banca, "Cassa Centrale” or "CCB') and support was made available by the Voluntary
Intervention Scheme ('SVI") and the Interbank Deposit Protection Fund ("FITD").
Against this background, on 26 July 2019, a final update to the 2019-2023 Strategic Plan was
approved, which provides for the structure of the Bank's capital strengthening and commercial relaunch
transaction requested by the counterparties (VIS, FITD and CCB), with an industrial outreach which
corroborates the previous versions of the Plan.
In particular, the Plan foresees:
— maintaining, on a consolidated basis, a minimum Common Equity Tier 1 Ratio (CET1 Ratio) of
11.80%;
— maintaining, on a consolidated basis, a minimum Total SREP Capital Requirement (TSCR) of
11.25%;
— maintaining, on a consolidated basis, a minimum Overall Capital Requirement (OCR) of 13.75%
as at 31 December 2019 and of 15.30%, including the 1.55% capital guidance;
— maintaining a stable capital add-on (Pillar 2 Requirement) of 3.25% over the entire Strategic Plan
period;
— maintaining, at all times and on a consolidated basis, a minimum Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)
and a minimum Net Stable Funding Ratio (NFSR) of 100% and RAF risk tolerances respectively of
119% and 103%;
— maintaining minimum coverage , including write-offs, differentiated according to the different
classes of NPLs (63% for bad loans, 32% for unlikely to pay exposures, and 18% for past due
exposures).

The strategic vision embedded in the Strategic Plan revolves around three steps building on one another:
— strengthening of the capital structure via a recapitalisation transaction and fast-paced derisking to
be achieved through the disposal of almost all non-performing loans;
— return to break-even thanks to normalisation of the cost of risk and discontinuation of negative
one-off effects;
— growth in profitability based on leaner processes, a focus on core customer products and
segments, Wealth Management relaunch and upgrading, investments in IT and digital renewal.

The Parent Company's share of profit/loss for the Temporary Administration period amounted to a
negative EUR 869.8 min, with Net Inferest Income amounting to EUR 123.5 mlIn (down significantly,
primarily on the back of interest expense on the Tier 2 subordinated debt issued in December 2018 and
converted into equity as early as in December 2019), net fees and commissions amounting to EUR 219.9
mln (shrinking primarily as a result of the State guarantee on bonds issued in the first quarter of 2019),
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cost of credit at' EUR 490.7 mln, largely traceable to completion of the non-performing loan disposal to
AMCO - Asset Management Company, and operating expenses totalling EUR 748.4 mlIn (whose
significant increase is related to the effects of the seftlement agreements and trade union agreements
resulting from the implementation of the Business Plan, as well as to write-downs of real estate assets,
indemnities on non-performing loans sold over the last three years and expenses on lawsuits brought
against the Bank).

Direct funding from retail and corporate customers stood at EUR 12 bn as at 31 January 2020, down
compared to the figure at the end of 2018 (EUR 12.3 bn). Conversely, the institutional/wholesale
funding component was up to EUR 4.1 bn, compared to EUR 2.1 bn as at December 2018. The main
contributor to this trend in institutional/wholesale funding was the increase in securities issued, following
the issuance, in January 2019, of EUR 2 bn worth of bonds backed by State guarantee pursuant to Law
Decree no. 1/2019 (of which EUR 1 bn came to maturity in January 2020), and the placement of
approximately EUR 1.5 bn worth of retained bonds with institutional investors during the first half of
2019. As a combined result of the above factors, total direct funding amounted to EUR 16.1 bn (EUR
14.5 bn at the end of 2018).

Indirect funding increased by 4.7% to EUR 22.2 bn, mainly as a result of an uptrend in Assets under
Custody (+10%) as against a slight contraction in Assets under Management (-0.2%).

Following the disposal of the NPE portfolio to AMCQO, loans to customers were down to EUR 11.4 bn (-
26.3%), while the institutional component stood at EUR 2 bn, up compared to EUR 0.7 bn in December
2018, mainly on the back of the growth in repurchase agreements (assets).

With regard to the liquidity profile, the Group had a Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) of 337% as at the
end of January 2020, higher than the minimum regulatory level (100%) and the RAF risk tolerance
(119%).

KEY EVENTS IN THE TEMPORARY ADMINISTRATION PERIOD

THE PARENT COMPANY, BANCA CARIGE

Governance

As a consequence of the changed conditions resulting from the outcome of the Shareholders' Meeting of
22 December 2018, namely the rejection of the proposal to vest the Board of Directors with the mandate
to increase the share capital, the majority of the Bank's Directors tendered their resignations with effect as
of 2 January 2019, with the entire Board ceasing to hold office on the same date.

From the same date, Consob ordered the suspension from trading of the securities issued or guaranteed
by the Bank until the ECB decision was in force.

Again on the same date, the ECB imposed Temporary Administration on Banca Carige, appointing three
Temporary Administrators and a Surveillance Committee. The Temporary Administrators were vested by
the ECB with the power to proceed with the actions required to sustainably restore compliance with the
regulatory requirements, including by assessing/exploring the possibility of a business combination with
other financial institutions. On 29 March 2019, the ECB noftified a decision extending the Bank's
Temporary Administration period to 30 September 2019, confirming the mandate of the Temporary
Administrators  (Fabio Innocenzi, Raffaele Lener and Pietro Modiano) and the members of the
Surveillance Committee (Gianluca Brancadoro, Andrea Guaccero and Alessandro Zanotti).

On 30 September 2019, the ECB notified its decision to further extend the Bank’s period of Temporary
Administration to 31 December 2019, confirming the mandate of the Temporary Administrators and
members of the Surveillance Committee, with an adequate time horizon to allow the Temporary
Administrators to execute the Group’s comprehensive capital strengthening transaction approved by the
Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting of 20 September 2019. On 20 December 2019, the ECB notified its
decision to extend the Bank’s period of Temporary Administration to 31 January 2020.

1 Sum of items 100a and 130a.
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On 31 January 2020, the ordinary Shareholders' Meeting of Banca Carige, held in one call, appointed a
new 10-member Board of Directors, its Chair and Deputy Chair and the new Board of Statutory Auditors
for the 2020-2022 three-year period, with their term of office expiring on the date of the Shareholders’
Meeting which will be held to approve the Financial Statements for the period ending 31 December

20222,

At its meeting chaired by Mr. Vincenzo Calandra Buonaura on 31 January 2020, the Board of Directors
appointed Francesco Guido as Chief Executive Office and set up the following Board-internal
Committees:
* Risk Committee, made up of: Angelo Barbarulo (recommended as Chair), Paola Demartini, Miro
Fiordi and Leopoldo Scarpa;
*  Nomination and Governance Committee: Lucia Calvosa (recommended as Chair), Vincenzo
Calandra Buonaura and Sabrina Bruno;
* Remuneration Committee, made up of: Francesco Micheli (recommended as Chair), Sabrina
Bruno and Miro Fiordi;
* Related-Parties Committee, made up of: Gaudiana Giusti (recommended as Chair), Lucia
Calvosa and Francesco Micheli.

Effective 1 February 2020, the Temporary Administrators and the members of the Surveillance
Committee ceased to hold office.

Progress of the Strategic Plan, capital strengthening, development of the NPE Strategy
and Business combination

The previous section described the evolution of the 2019-2023 Strategic Plan, starting from its first
version presented to the financial community on 27 February 2019, to the final version approved on 26
July 2019.

It should also be noted that on 26 March 2019, as part of the obligations entered into by the Bank in the
course of operations prior to the Shareholders' Meeting of 20 September 2018, the Bank announced the
completion of the disposal of 80.1% of its shareholding in consumer credit company, Creditis Servizi
Finanziari S.p.A. to Chenavari Investment Managers, in accordance with the binding agreement signed
on 6 December 2017 for an amount of EUR 69.3 mlIn (corresponding to the price of the equity
investment i.e. EUR 80.1 mln, net of the EUR 10.8 mlIn purchaser's share of dividends for 2017 earned
by the Bank).

Finally, on 19 August 2019, further to the press release issued on 9 August 2019 concerning the
framework agreement entered into for the Group’s capital strengthening, Banca Carige announced that,
after authorisation was given by the European Central Bank pursuant to art. 72, para. 6, of Legislative
Decree no. 385/93 as later amended, the Extraordinary Shareholders” Meeting was convened to be held
in one call at 10:30 a.m. on Friday 20 September 2019.

Capital strengthening

On 20 September 2019, the Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting of Banca Carige, having
acknowledged the authorisation received from the European Central Bank, approved the proposal
discussed as the only item on the agenda, namely:

A. an indivisible paid capital increase for a total amount of EUR 700,000,000.00, with exclusion of
the pre-emption right pursuant to art. 2441, paragraphs 5 and 6, of the ltalian Civil Code,
including the share premium, through the issuance of total 700,000,000,000 new ordinary
shares of the Bank having the same characteristics of the shares outstanding as at the date of
issuance, for a subscription price of EUR 0.001 per share (including the share premium), to be
offered for subscription as follows:

2 For further details, please see Paragraph “Parent company's Board of Directors, Board of Statutory Auditors and Independent Auditors as at
date of publication”.
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(i) a first tranche reserved for the Voluntary Intervention Scheme of the ltalian Interbank
Deposit Protection Fund (SchemaVolontario di Intervento del Fondo Interbancario di
Tutela dei Depositi, SVI), to be subscribed and paid-in by way of set-off
(“compensazione”) of the receivable resulting from the
reimbursement of the subordinated bonds named “Banca Carige S.p.A. 2018-2028
Tasso Fisso Tier II” held by VIS for a corresponding nominal amount (“First Tranche”);

(i) a second tranche reserved for Cassa Centrale Banca - Credito Cooperativo ltaliano
S.p.A. (and/or, in whole or in part, one of its subsidiaries) ("Second Tranche”);

(iii) a third tranche reserved for the shareholders of the Bank (“Third Tranche”); and

(iv) a fourth tranche reserved for the Fondo Interbancario di Tutela dei Depositi (ltalian
Interbank Deposit Protection Fund) (“Fourth Tranche”);

B. the issuance of up to 21,250,000,000 “Warrants Banca Carige S.p.A. 2020-2022" to be
granted, free of charge, to the shareholders that have subscribed for shares of the Third Tranche
under item A.(iii) above, at a ratio of 1 (one) warrant for every 4 (four) ordinary shares subscribed
for and paid in; with a further divisible paid capital increase by a maximum nominal amount of
EUR 21,250,000.00, in addition to any possible share premium, for the purpose of the exercise
of the warrants, through the issuance, in one or more tranches, of maximum 21,250,000,000
new ordinary shares of the Bank having the same characteristics as shares outstanding as at the
date of issuance; request for admittance to listing of the Warrants and approval of the Terms and
Conditions thereof;

C. ensuing amendments to art. 5 of the Bank's Articles of Association; related and ensuing
resolutions.

The Shareholders' Meeting saw the highest and most heartfelt participation of shareholders in the history
of the Bank, with the presence of over 20 thousand shareholders holding 47.7% of the share capital.
Adopted with the favourable vote of over 90% of attending shareholders, the resolution was a
fundamental step in the Group's turnaround and relaunch process.

The Capital Increase was the main element of the overall capital strengthening manoeuvre which,
together with the derisking transactions and the industrial relaunch initiatives set out in the 2019-2023
Strategic Plan, pave the way for the start of a combination process with a major cooperative banking
group that is industrially engaged to safeguarding the ties with its footprint areas.

The capital strengthening effort is grounded on the binding Framework agreement entered into by and
between the Bank’s Temporary Administrators and Cassa Centrale Banca Credito Cooperativo Italiano -
CCB, the Interbank Deposit Protection Fund - FITD and the Voluntary Intervention Scheme of FITD - VIS
(it. SVI), on 9 August 2019.

On 23 October 2019, in line with the Strategic Plan (envisaging the disposal of the Bank of ltaly’s shares
in excess of the 3% dividend-bearing stake), the Bank sold 1,000 shares (0.33%) of the Bank of Italy’s
share capital, for a nominal value of EUR 25,000 each, to Istituto per il Credito Sportivo at a price equal
to the shareholding’s overall nominal value of EUR 25,000,000, which also coincides with its historical
cost. On 30 January 2020, the Bank sold an additional 600 shares (0.2%) of the Bank of ltaly’s share
capital to Banca San Giorgio Quinto Valle Agno at a price equal to an overall nominal value of EUR 15
min.

On 20 November 2019 the Bank reached an agreement with the national and corporate representatives
of the Trade Union organisations Fabi, First Cisl, Fisac Cgil, Uilca and Unisin on the methods for
addressing the impacts of the 2019-2023 Strategic Plan, which focuses on enhancing the retail bank,
strengthening wealth management and streamlining operations.

Under the agreement, the Bank will access the Solidarity Fund of the banking industry to support up to
680 voluntary redundancies provided for in the Plan until 2023, including by recourse to the “Quota
100” pension option. In addition to the 450 departures already contracted for, plus 120 expected as a
result of natural employee attrition, these voluntary redundancies will make it possible to obtain the
planned organisational downsizing by 1,250 FTEs. The agreement also regulates the Bank’s branch
closures scheduled for 2019, including through a second update of personnel mobility standards and the
enhancement of part-time work.
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The agreement represented one of the key preliminary steps for the execution of the Capital
Strengthening manoeuvre approved by the Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting of 20 September last
year.

On 3 December 2019, the Bank announced that the ltalian Securities and Exchange Commission,
Consob, had approved the Prospectus relating to the Offering to Shareholders of ordinary shares arising
from the Third Tranche of the Capital Increase approved by the Shareholders’” Meeting on 20 September
2019, associated with free “Warrants Banca Carige S.p.A. 2020-2022”, and additionally concerning the
admission to trading on the Electronic Stock Market (Mercato Telematico Azionario), organised and
managed by Borsa ltaliana S.p.A., of Banca Carige's ordinary shares arising from the capital increase
and the “Warrants Banca Carige S.p.A. 2020/-2022).

On 13 December 2019, the Bank announced that, with regard to its EUR 700 mIn Capital Increase
transaction, the Offering Period for the Third Tranche reserved for its existing shareholders, starting on 4
December 2019, had ended. During the Offering Period, subscription requests were received for
approximately 16.8 billion new ordinary Shares, corresponding to approximately 19.7% of the Third
Tranche of the Capital Increase, for an overall amount of EUR 16.8 mln. In consideration of the
subscription requests received and the 10 billion free shares assigned by VIS to the Bank’s existing
Beneficiary Shareholders, the 10% free-float threshold required for readmission to trading was exceeded.

By a press release issued on 19 December 2019, the Bank announced that, on 18 December 2019, the
ltalian Securities and Exchange Commission, Consob, had approved the Prospectus concerning
admission to trading on the professional segment of the Electronic Stock Market (Mercato Telematico
Azionario), organised and managed by Borsa ltaliana S.p.A., of the fixed rate subordinated bonds
“Banca Carige S.p.A. 2019-2029 Tasso Fisso Tier II”, for a maximum total nominal value of EUR 200
min, consisting in maximum 2,000 Tier Il subordinated bonds, for a nominal value per bond of EUR 100
thousand, issued by Banca Carige.

Banca Carige further announced that the Prospectus was published under the terms and by the deadlines
set out by regulations in force.

On 20 December 2019, the Bank communicated the successful completion of the capital strengthening

transaction approved by the Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting on 20 September 2019; the EUR 700

min Capital Increase, was fully subscribed for, through the issue of 700,000,000,000 new ordinary

shares of the Bank, allocated as follows:

(i) a first tranche of EUR 313.2 mln was subscribed for by the Voluntary Intervention Scheme of the
ltalian Interbank Deposit Protection Fund (“VIS”), as an offset against the receivables arising from the
subordinated bonds “Banca Carige S.p.A. 2018-2028 Tasso Fisso Tier II” held by VIS for a
corresponding nominal amount;

(i) a second tranche of EUR 63 mlIn was subscribed for by Cassa Centrale Banca (CCB);

(iii) a third tranche of EUR 85 min was subscribed for by the shareholders (whom this tranche was
reserved for) who were shareholders of the Bank prior to the Offering start date for an amount of
EUR 22,845,540.88 min and by the Interbank Deposit Protection Fund (FITD) for an amount of EUR
62,154,459.12 min as part of the guarantee it had pledged on the unsubscribed portion of the third
tranche;

(iv) a fourth tranche of EUR 238.8 min was subscribed for by FITD.

As envisaged under the capital strengthening plan and set out in the Terms and Conditions, the free
“Warrants - Banca Carige S.p.A. 2020-2022" were assigned to beneficiary shareholders other than SVI,
FITD and CCB, at a ratio of 1 warrant for every 4 shares subscribed for and issued as part of the Capital
Increase.

Within the framework of the Bank’s capital strengthening transaction, EUR 200 mIn worth of Tier 2
subordinated bonds -entirely subscribed for by leading institutional investors- were issued and settled on
the same date.

After completion of the capital strengthening effort, giving effect to the Framework Agreement entered
into by FITD, SVI, CCB and Carige, SVI surrendered part of the shares arising from subscription of the
first tranche of the capital increase (for an overall amount of EUR 10 min) to the Bank which instructed
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the crediting of the shares to the intermediaries’ accounts on 23 December 2019, for them to be
assigned -on the terms and by the deadlines laid out in the Note for free share assignment published on
the Bank's website on 30 August 2019- to the shareholders who were shareholders of the Bank prior to
the date when the Offering was launched and attended the Shareholders' Meeting of 20 September
2019.

The Bank further informed that the 10% free-float defined by Borsa ltaliana S.p.A. as the threshold
required for readmission to trading was exceeded.

NPE Strategy Development

In order to pursue the derisking objective through the reduction of Non-Performing Loans set out in the
different versions of the Strategic Plan, the Temporary Administrators launched a competitive bidding
process in the first half of 2019, aimed at obtaining binding offers from market players for the purchase
and management of NPEs.

Under the competitive bidding process, several financial institutions specialised in such fields were
admitted to the Bank's data room, and this was followed by their submission of binding and non-binding
offers. In this context, Asset Management Company - AMCO S.p.A. (former ‘Societd per la Gestione di
Attivitd - SGA S.p.A.") submitted a binding offer to the Bank on 20 February 2019 for a portfolio of non-
performing exposures of approximately EUR 2 bn, subject to Banca Carige's Shareholders Meeting
approval of the capital strengthening effort, or to the receipt of a binding offer by a third party interested
in a merger with the Bank.

In parallel with the search of a business combination which attracted the interest of several financial
players, all interested in the Bank only on condition of a more ambitious derisking process, the Bank
obtained a new binding proposal from AMCO on 21 June 2019 (subject to the same conditions
precedent contained in the first proposal), for the purchase of almost the entire non-performing portfolio
and the granting of guarantees on a significant portion of the performing loan portfolio, characterised by
a greater risk of decay due to the deterioration of the environmental conditions.

As an integral part of the capital strengthening and turnaround of the Bank, the non-performing loan
disposal to AMCO was finalised on 20 December 2019, under the terms and conditions of the
Prospectus, enabling the achievement of a radical derisking of the Group’s assets.

The disposal consisted in the non-recourse purchase by AMCO of an NPL portfolio of approximately EUR
2.8 bn in Gross Book Value against payment of a price of about EUR T bn, 60% of which was accounted
for by exposures classified as unlikely to pay positions (“UTPs”), including a few maijor single names, and
the remaining part by bad loans.

For a residual portion of the loan book of EUR 494 min in GBV held for sale as at 31 January 2020,
relating to certain UTP positions and the non-performing leasing portfolio, the conditions for
derecognition have not yet been met. For further details, please refer to the paragraph “Non-Performing
Loan portfolio disposal to AMCO S.p.A.” of “Section 2 - Preparation criteria" of the Explanatory Notes.
Furthermore, AMCO, on the one hand, and Credito Fondiario, on the other, have entered into a
Servicing Agreement under terms and conditions in line with the Servicing Agreement entered into
between the Carige Group and Credito Fondiario in 2018.

Business combination development

Having regard to item 2.7 of the ECB’s appointment decision, the Temporary Administrators decided to
start a private partnership search process, with a view to implementing a business combination
transaction that would allow to restore the Bank's capital ratios and execute a strategic project.

To this end, the Temporary Administrators received legal advice from a primary financial advisor,
engaged to explore the opportunities for strategic alliances on the market and support the Bank in the
preparation of a business plan, including with a view to discussing it with future investors. In this context,
a competitive process was put in place to obtain the engagement of a number of first potential (banking,
financial and industrial) investors, the definition of a calendar of meetings with the investors and their
advisors, as well as the preparation and delivery of explanatory material on the Bank and the Group,
subject to prior signing of non-disclosure agreements (NDAs).
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Specific projects were, therefore, launched with investors who had expressed a special interest, to allow
them to submit non-binding offers (NBOs) by the end of February.

The Supervisory Authorities and all potential counterparties were constantly informed about the evolution
of these work streams in order to facilitate their participation in the project.

Without disregarding the pursuit of contacts with other potential investors, the business combination
process subsequently focused on two specific projects, which led to the submission of two non-binding
offers by financial investors at the end of February, with the first investor being particularly interested in
the management of the NPE portfolio via segregation of the Group’s performing and non-performing
exposures, and the second being more interested in developing the industrial project (good bank).

At the beginning of April, one of the two financial investors announced it did not intend to submit the
expected binding offer and justified its decision with evidence of the prospects being inconsistent with its
own business strategies, which were focused on maximising the value of the NPEs.

As a consequence, negotiations intensified with the other potential investor, the Blackrock fund, which
resulted in the Supervisory Authority granting an extension of the binding offer submission period.

At the beginning of May, although the Management Board of FITD had formally approved a draft
agreement on the possibility for the investor to purchase an entire or partial shareholding at a discounted
price subject to the approval of its General Assembly, Blackrock, following the negative opinion
expressed on the investment by its Investment Committee, informed the Bank of its intention not to further
pursue its expression of interest and not to submit a binding offer.

Having acknowledged the above, the Temporary Administrators nevertheless carried forward the process
they had started, continuing their search for further private solutions. On 24 June 2019, a proposal for
intervention in support of the Bank by the Apollo Global Management Fund was formalised, which saw
the participation of FITD and current key shareholders in the project; the proposal was promptly
forwarded to the counterparties for due consideration.

Following an in-depth review, FITD decided not to accept Apollo’s proposal, considering it inadequate
for the solution of the existing issues. Hence, FITD’s decision to step in as a front line player in the
transaction, in concertation with CCB, an industrial investor who had in the meantime expressed its
interest.

On 9 August 2019, the "private solution" was formalised and a binding framework agreement -
characterised by a strong industrial outreach- was prepared and entered into by and between Banca
Carige, FITD, VIS and Cassa Centrale Banca. The agreement defined the parties’ undertakings in
completing the Bank’s recapitalisation, which was later submitted to the Extraordinary Shareholders'
Meeting for approval.

Details about the outcome of the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting and the subsequent Capital
Strengthening transaction are provided in the above paragraphs of this section of the Report on
Operations, to which reference should be made.

24



Relations with the Supervisory Authorities

Following the issuance of ltalian Law Decree no. 1/2019 on 8 January 2019 (converted into Law no. 16
of 8 March 2019), which provides for a State guarantee of up to EUR 3 bn on new bonds issued, the
Bank applied for access to the State Guarantee -notifying the ECB- for two bond issuances with 12- and
18-month maturity respectively, for an aggregate amount of EUR 2 bn.

On 22 January 2019, the Bank announced that it had obtained from the Ministry of Economy and
Finance the decree containing the decision to grant a State Guarantee on the new bonds issued and that
it had concurrently set off the process for the issuance of the two lines of guaranteed bonds, which were
subsequently admitted to listing on the Electronic Bond and Government Securities Market (Mercato
Telematico delle Obbligazioni e dei Titoli di Stato, MOT) on 25 January 2019. The two bonds were
assigned a rating in line with that of the Republic of ltaly by ratings agency DBRS. The nominal amount of
the two issuances, one of which was repaid in January, is EUR 1 bn each. The second bond issuance will
come to maturity in July 2020.

In 2019, quarterly monitoring reports on ongoing on-site and remote inspections were regularly sent to
the ECB; in May 2019 all the remedial actions envisaged in the plan concerning the inspection on “the
Bank's capacity to quantify and manage liquidity risk, funding risk and the interest rate risk in the banking
book” were completed, and notice of their completion was given to the ECB on 29 May 2019.

Quarterly monitoring continued in the first quarter of 2020.

With regard the on-site inspection (OSI) on “credit and counterparty risk” carried out from 13 April to 3
August 2018 (whose final inspection report was received by the Bank on 9 January 2019), the Bank
received a draft version of the recommendations concerning the findings of the ECB’s on-site inspection
OSI-2018-ITCAR-3804 on 5 July 2019, which the Bank responded to on 11 October 2019, providing
the timeline for the implementation of the findings and an update was given on 21 January 2020.

During the reporting period, the Temporary Administrators, in line with their mandate, extended by the
ECB until 31 January 2020, kept the Supervisory Authorities constantly informed about the strategic and
operational developments of the Bank. More specifically:

- in July 2019, the Bank informed the ECB that the agreement on capital strengthening had been
reached, which was followed by the signing of a framework agreement with the counterparties on 9
August and, as requested on 5 July, the new Strategic Plan and Capital Plan were sent to the ECB.

- in September, the Bank notified the Bank of Italy of the incorporation of the company ABITARE RE
S.r.l. (fully controlled by Carige REOCO S.p.A.), as part of the real estate business carried out by the
Group via Carige REOCO S.p.A;

- in November, the Bank submitted an application to obtain the authorisation to make the
amendment to the Articles of Association required for giving effect to the capital increase for the
subsidiary, Banca del Monte di Lucca.

The ordinary Shareholders' Meeting of Banca Carige, held on 31 January 2020, appointed the Bank’s
new Board of Directors During its first meeting, coinciding with the appointment of the new Chief
Executive Officer and set up of the Board-internal committees, the Temporary Administrators and the
members of the Surveillance Committee completed all formal steps required by the law for the Bank to
return to ordinary administration and close the Temporary Administration period, which had been
imposed on the Bank by the ECB on 2 January 2019.

With regard to relationships with the Single Resolution Board (SRB), on 12 April 2019 the Bank received
the Carige Group Resolution Plan from the SRB, which encouraged the Bank to express its opinion
thereon. The opinion was sent to the SRB on 15 May 2019; the determination of the Minimum
Requirement for own funds and Eligible Liabilities (MREL) was notified to the bank by the Bank of Italy
(i.e. the National Resolution Authority) in April; the Bank of Italy hosted its annual workshop in July.

In October, a follow-up on the previous workshop was held, in which the Bank of Italy presented the
calculation methodologies applied for determining the MREL requirement assigned to Banca Carige for
2020. In January 2020, the SRB sent its draft MREL Decision to Banca Carige, in response to which the
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Bank provided its observations on 21 January 2020. The Decision was subsequently confirmed by the
Single Resolution Board in March.

Management of the liquidity position

As previously mentioned, initially the liquidity position of the Bank was negatively affected by the outcome
of the Shareholders' Meeting of 22 December 2018, which caused a rapid and significant decrease of
customer deposits.

Since mid-January 2019, the strains in the liquidity conditions were gradually relieved, on the back of the
issuance of EUR 2 bn worth of bonds backed by State guarantee pursuant to Law Decree no. 1/2019
and later as a result of a recovery in deposits from customers.

As at 31 January 2020, the liquidity position of the Group showed a Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) of
337%, well above the 119% RAF risk tolerance.

As concerns the operating procedures of the liquidity management process, it is noted that on 22
January 2019, the Temporary Administrators of Banca Carige S.p.A. approved, inter alia:

(i) disposal of one or more portfolios of eligible residential and commercial mortgage loans -originated
or renegotiated by Banca Carige S.p.A. and Banca del Monte di Lucca S.p.A.- for a maximum total
nominal amount of EUR 1 bn - to the special-purpose vehicles, Carige Covered Bond S.r.l. and
Carige Covered Bond 2 S.r.l., under the scope of the OBG1, OBG2 and OBG3 issuing
programmes, as well as the granting of subordinated debt by the transferring banks, in one or more
tranches, to the foregoing vehicles in connection with each portfolio sold, for a maximum amount
equal to the value of the assets sold;

(ii) restructuring of the Lanterna Lease securitisation transaction by amending the existing agreements
and/or implementing a new transaction with the disposal of one or more eligible asset portfolios for
up to a maximum amount of EUR 250 mlIn and the issuance of new unrated notes;

(iii) completion of the Lanterna Consumer securitisation transactions (in view of the planned disposal of
Creditis Servizi Finanziari), to be obtained by the: (i) buyback of the senior notes issued by Lanterna
Consumer and still outstanding; (ii) cancellation of all senior and junior notes issued by Lanterna
Consumer, with the concurrent buyback by Creditis of the loans transferred to Lanterna Consumer;

(iv) issuance of Banca Carige debt instruments guaranteed by the Republic of Italy under Law Decree
no. 1 of 8 January 2019, for the maximum amount specified in the aforementioned Decree (EUR 3
bn), by public placement (with retail and/or qualified investors), private placement or to be retained.

After the ECB extended the Temporary Administration of Banca Carige S.p.A. to 30 September 2019, the
Temporary Administrators confirmed, on 30 April 2019, the previous resolution concerning the OBGT,
OBG2 and OBG3 programmes which was adopted on 22 January 2019.

In relation to the aforementioned resolution, it should also be noted that:

(i)  with regard to the Lanterna Consumer securitisation transaction, on 7 February 2019, the loans
previously sold were repurchased by the originator Creditis Servizi Finanziari S.p.A. and the closing
of the transaction was completed just a few days later, with cancellation of the securities issued;

(ii)  with regard to the Lanterna Lease securitisation, the transaction initiated in 2016 was completed on
4 March 2019, and a new transaction was launched a few days later, in which Lanterna Lease
purchased receivables arising from performing financial lease agreements and issued two new
classes of securities, for an aggregate amount of EUR 234.5 min: EUR 113.7 mIn worth of senior
notes were subscribed for by an institutional investor;

(ili) with reference to the financial instruments guaranteed by the State under Law Decree no. 1 of 8
January 2019, on 25 January 2019, the issuance and repurchase of two lines of debt instruments,
guaranteed by the Republic of Italy with 12- and 18-month maturity respectively and for a nominal
amount of EUR 1 bn each, was finalised on 25 January 2019. The former issuance was used for a
repo transaction with an institutional counterparty; the latter was transferred to institutional
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counterparties for an amount of EUR 800 min; the balance was used for a repo transaction with an
institutional counterparty.

In order to guarantee an adequate level of liquidity and reserves, the following transactions were

completed in the first half of 2019:

(i) placement with an institutional investor of a senior tranche issued by Lanterna Finance (nominal
value EUR 129 mln) originally held by Banca Carige S.p.A.;

(i) placement with an institutional investor of a EUR 500 mln line of Covered Bonds issued by Banca
Carige in 2016 under the scope of the OBG1 issuing programme, coming to maturity in February
2021;

(ili) placement with an institutional investor of a EUR 600 mln line of Covered Bonds issued by Banca
Carige in 2018 under the scope of the OBG1 issuing programme, coming to maturity in October
2021;

(iv) placement with an institutional investor of a EUR 370 mln line of Covered Bonds issued by Banca
Carige in 2016 under the scope of the OBG3 issuing programme, coming to maturity in May 2022;

(v) partial cancellation of certain Covered Bonds issued under the scope of the OBG1, OBG2 and
OBG3 programmes and held by Banca Carige for an overall amount of EUR 260 min and
consequent withdrawal of surplus liquidity deposited with the transferees.

Banca Carige was assigned the following ratings by international ratings agencies Moody’s and Fitch:

— Moody's: ‘Caa2’ for the long-term issuer rating and ‘Not Prime’ for the short-term; in its latest rating
action, dated 24 December 2019, the ratings agency acknowledged the successful completion of the
capital strengthening and derisking effort, thereby concluding the review for upgrade initiated on 25
September 2019. The Bank's Baseline Credit Assessment (BCA) was upgraded by 3 notches to ‘caal’
whereas the long-term Issuer Rating (upgraded to Caa2 from Caa3) and the long-term deposit rating
(confirmed at ‘Caal’) obtained a lower benefit as a consequence of Moody’s removal of the notches
previously assigned for the probability of government support, which is now deemed non-applicable.
The agency further revised the Bank’s outlook to stable from previous ‘rating under review’.

— Fitch Ratings: ‘B-' for the long term and 'B' for the short term. In its rating action dated 9 January
2020, the agency started the Bank's re-rating process, resolving the rating watch positive assigned on
27 September 2019, after the comprehensive capital strengthening plan was approved by the
Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting of 20 September 2019. In Fitch’s opinion, the positive outcome
of the capital strengthening and balance sheet de-risking transactions, together with their stabilising
reverberations on funding and liquidity, restored the Bank’s viability and led to an upgrade of the
Viability Rating (VR) to ‘b-" from ‘f'. The Bank's Long Term Issuer Default Rating (IDR) and long term
deposit rating were accordingly aligned to ‘B-‘, up by 2 notches; the outlook was revised to “stable”.
The outlook was changed to rating watch negative on 24 March 2020, as part of a rating action in
which the agency reflected the disruption of the macroeconomic framework due to the spread of the
Covid-19 pandemic across the entire Italian banking system.

OTHER GROUP COMPANIES

At their meeting of 23 January 2019, the Boards of Directors of Banca Cesare Ponti and Banca del
Monte di Lucca, within the scope of the Parent Company’s direction and coordination activity, resolved to
approve their underwriting of debt instruments issued by Banca Carige and guaranteed by the Republic
of ltaly under Law Decree no. 1 of 8 January 2019, for the maximum amount laid down in the
aforementioned Decree (EUR 3 bn) with the concurrent saleback of the same subscribed financial
instruments to the Parent Company, at the same price of issuance and value date, and Covered Bonds
issued by Banca Carige - according, inter alia, to Law Decree no. 1 of 8 January 2019 - for an amount
up to EUR 1 min under any of the Parent Company's Covered Bond Programmes, with the concurrent
saleback of the same subscribed Covered Bonds to the Parent Company, at the same price of issuance
and value date.

On the same date, the Board of Directors of Banca del Monte di Lucca, within the scope of the Parent
Company’s direction and coordination activity, resolved to approve the 2019 Funding Plan.
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On 8 February 2019, the ordinary Shareholders' Meeting of Banca Cesare Ponti resolved to confirm
Maurizio Zancanaro as its Chief Executive Officer, with his terms of office expiring on the same date as
applies to the other members of the Board of Directors, i.e. at the end of their 2017-2019 three-year
term.

On the same date, the Board of Directors of Banca Cesare Ponti confirmed Maurizio Zancanaro as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Bank, vesting him with the decision-making and signatory powers for the
Bank.

After obtaining a positive opinion by the Temporary Administrators of Banca Carige on 26 February
2019, the Board of Directors of Carige REOCO approved the 2019-2023 Strategic Plan on 28 February
2019, which updates and supersedes the previous Plans approved by the Board. More specifically, the
Plan confirms the active role played by Carige REOCO in the management of NPEs, to be implemented
through the acquisition of approximately EUR 200 min worth of real estate assets over a five-year-period,
largely concentrated in 2019.

With the aim of supporting the expected acquisitions, the Board of Directors of Carige REOCO resolved
to increase the share capital from EUR 5 to 20 mln on 4 March 2019, fully exercising the power it was
vested with by the Shareholders' Meeting on 5 February 2018, which had resolved to increase the share
capital in one or more tranches by a maximum amount of EUR 19.5 miIn by 31 March 2019. On 13
March 2019, the shareholder Banca Carige subscribed and paid in the required capital increase.

On 18 June 2019, the company Abitare R.E. S.r.l. was incorporated -subject to a prior resolution of the
Board of Directors of Carige REOCO S.p.A. on 4 June 2019- with a EUR 5 mln share capital fully paid
in by Carige REOCO S.p.A.

At their meetings of 9 and 12 August 2019, the Boards of Directors of Banca Cesare Ponti and Banca
del Monte di Lucca, within the scope of the Parent Company’s direction and coordination activity,
respectively resolved to approve the updated ‘NPE Strategy for 20197, with regard to areas within their
remit.

The Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting of Banca del Monte di Lucca S.p.A., held on first call on 15
October 2019, approved the Bank’s financial position as at 30 June 2019, which revealed a loss for the
period of EUR 9,241,272.25, and took note of the initiatives announced by the Board of Directors with a
view to addressing the capital shortfall for the purposes of the provisions of art. 2446 of the Italian Civil
Code and for the purposes of prudential supervision, as well as to restoring conditions of profitability in
day-to-day operations, by deferring the adoption of all necessary related decisions to a subsequent
Shareholders' Meeting. On 8 November 2019, the Board of Directors approved the 2019-2021
Strategic Plan, which was prepared in accordance with the strategic guidelines set out in the update to
the Group's 2019-2023 Strategic Plan approved by the Temporary Administrators on July 26 2019,
together with the therein contained capital strengthening transaction, which -subject to the approval of
the relevant Regulatory Authority and removal of the explicit par value from the shares- requires:
- losses to be covered by a EUR 7.3 min reduction in reserves available and a EUR 30.2 mln
reduction in share capital;
- a EUR 13.5 miIn share capital increase against consideration with inclusion of the rights of
option;
- a EUR 4 min issuance of Tier 2 subordinated notes.
At the same meeting, the Board of Directors empowered the Chairman to convene an Extraordinary
Shareholders' Meeting to resolve, subject to the approval of the Supervisory Authority, upon the overall
capital strengthening transaction and related amendments to the Articles of Association.

At the meetings held on 15 and 18 October 2019, the Boards of Directors of Banca del Monte di Lucca
and Banca Cesare Ponti respectively resolved to proceed as requested by the Parent Company and within
the scope of its direction and coordination activity, with a view to allowing the Parent Company to give
effect to the commitments it undertook when it accepted the binding offer it received from SGA (now
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AMCO - Asset Management Company) on 21 June 2019 concerning the sale of a portfolio of non-
performing loans held by the banks of the Group.
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OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

As at 31 January 2020, Banca Carige's share capital amounted to EUR 1,915,163,696.00, represented
by 755,265,881,015 shares with no indication of par value, of which 755,265,855,473 ordinary and
25,542 convertible savings shares.

Changes to the composition of the share capital, which took place during the Temporary Administration
period, are the result of the capital increase, which was resolved upon by the Extraordinary Shareholders'
Meeting on 20 September 2019.

According to the shareholder register and based on notifications received in compliance with the appli-
cable legislation and other information available to the Company, the shareholders directly or indirectly
owning interests amounting to over 5% of the ordinary share capital, are as follows:

Direct shareholder % held

Declarant or subject at the top of the O'V‘\'I'(;':i'rt]g no

investment chain Name Ownership % held rights

% held
FONDO INTERBANCARIO DI Ownership 79,992 0,000
FONDO INTERBANCARIO DI TUTELA DEI TUTELA DEI DEPOSITI (FITD)

DEPOSITI (FITD) Total 79,992 0,000
Total 79,992 0,000
CASSA CENTRALE BANCA - Ownership 8,341 0,000
CASSA CENTRALE BANCA - CREDITO CREDITO COOPERATIVO ITALIANO Total 8 341 0.000

COOPERATIVO ITALIANO ° ! ’
Total 8,341 0,000
OTHER SHAREHOLDERS Total 11,667 -

Further information concerning shareholders and shareholders’ agreements is available in the “Govern-
ance” section of the Bank’s website at www.gruppocarige.it.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Full adhesion to the Corporate Governance Code for Listed Companies was resolved upon for the first
time by Carige's Board of Directors in February 2001. Since then, the Bank's governance has been con-
stantly adapted to meet the criteria set out in the Code, including its latest edition approved in 2018.

For information pursuant to article 123 bis of the Consolidated Law on Finance (TUF) regarding Carige's
corporate governance and ownership structure, please refer to the separate document: “Corporate Gov-
ernance and Ownership Structure Report for 2019”, available in the “Governance” section of the Bank’s
website at www.gruppocarige.it.

In accordance with article 2391 bis of the ltalian Civil Code, the Corporate Governance and Ownership
Structure Report may also be referred to for a description of the rules adopted by the Bank, in line with
Consob principles and supervisory regulations, to ensure the transparency as well as the substantial and
procedural correctness of transactions with related parties and connected persons, as set forth in the
"Regulation on the process with related parties and connected persons”, available under the “Govern-
ance” section of the Bank’s website.
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CARIGE SHARE PRICE

Carige shares (both ordinary and savings shares) have been suspended from trading on the regulated

market since 2 January 2019 (Consob resolutions N. 20771 of 1/1/2019 and N. 20772 of 2/1/2019).

DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS

The Carige Group's distribution system is organised into traditional and remote channels.

As at 31 January 2020, the Carige Group branch network consisted of 439 branches, down from 489 in
December 2018.

Traditional channels are based on a customer service specialisation model in which relationship manag-
ers are dedicated to the various customer segments. More specifically, the model envisages private bank-
ing, affluent and mass-market advisors dedicated to the relationship with -and growth of- the consumer
customer base; corporate banking and small business advisors are instead dedicated to the various cat-
egories of business customers.

The personal financial advisory service for higher-profile customers is based on a total of 79 private
banking relationship managers and 474 affluent banking relationship managers.

In addition to the personal financial advisory service comes the financial advisory service for businesses
which relies on 154 corporate banking advisors (2 large corporate and 152 mid-corporate), and 297
small business advisors.

Remote channels include the ‘Bancomat’ ATMs, Bancacontinua self-service branches and on-line services
(internet banking, mobile banking and the contact centre). A total of 562 Bancomat ATMs were operat-
ing at the end of January 2020 (605 in December 2018), while the number of Bancacontinua cash ma-
chines remained unchanged at 17. In order to reduce the workload for branches and speed up over-the-
counter transactions for current account holders, the Group can rely on 158 cash-in machines for cash
or cheque processing in 156 branches. In the branches involved, 37.7% of payments which could be mi-
grated were transferred to the automatic cash-in process from 1 January 2019 to 31 January 2020.
Noteworthy in the on-line segment is the platform for retail customers to access the Group's services via
web (Carige Online) and smartphones (Carige Mobile), which was gradually unified and implemented;
the number of Internet Banking contracts for retail customers amounted to 387,791.
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DISTRIBUTION NETWORK
A) TRADITIONAL CHANNELS

31/01/2020 31/12/2018
number % number %
NORTH WEST 247 56.3 274 56.0
Liguria 162 36.9 181 37.0
- Genoa 88 20.0 99 20.2
- Sawona 39 8.9 46 9.4
- Imperia 18 4.1 19 3.9
- La Spezia 17 3.9 17 3.5
Lombardy 45 10.3 52 10.6
Piedmont 39 8.9 40 8.2
Aosta Valley 1 0.2 1 0.2
NORTH EAST 48 10.9 51 10.4
Veneto 33 7.5 36 7.4
Emilia Romagna 15 3.4 15 3.1
CENTRE 87 19.8 98 20.0
Tuscany 59 13.4 65 13.3
Lazio 24 5.5 28 57
Marche 2 0.5 3 0.6
Umbria 2 0.5 2 0.4
SOUTH AND ISLANDS 57 13.0 66 13.5
Sicily 40 9.1 48 9.8
Sardinia 10 2.3 10 2.0
Apulia 7 1.6 8 1.6
Total number of branches 439 100.0 489 100.0
31/01/2020 31/12/2018
Private banking relationship managers 79 79
Corporate banking relationship managers 154 176
Affluent segment relationship managers 474 492
Small business relationship managers 297 327
Total relationship managers 1,004 1,074
B) REMOTE CHANNELS
Bancomat ATMs 562 604
Self-service "Bancacontinua" branches 17 17
Retail Internet Banking " 387,971 388,692

(1) Number of contracts.

It should be noted that, under the agreement entered into with the trade unions on 20 November 2019,
the Bank will access the Solidarity Fund of the banking industry to support up to 680 voluntary redundan-
cies provided for in the Plan until 2023, including by recourse to the “Quota 100" pension option. In
line with the Plan, in addition to the 450 departures already contracted for, plus 120 expected as a result
of natural employee attrition, these voluntary redundancies will make it possible to obtain the planned
organisational downsizing by 1,250 FTEs.

At the end of January 2020, the Group's headcount totalled 3,714 employees (4,282 in December
2018), of whom 3,711 on open-ended contract. Executives and middle managers accounted respective-
ly for 1.2% (45 units) and 25.4% (945 units) of the aggregate, with the rest of personnel accounting for
73.3% (2,724 units). Front-end staff make up 76.7% of total headcount (2,849 units).

Women account for 50.3% of the Group's total workforce; 52.6% of female personnel are based in Li-
guria. The average age of Group employees is about 49 years, and the average length of service is 23
years. The breakdown of employees by level of education shows a share of graduates of nearly 40%.

The period from 1 January 2019 to 31 January 2020 registered 580 employment relationship termina-
tions (96 of which for attaining eligibility for retirement, including incentive-based retirement, and 380
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under the Solidarity Fund) and 12 new hires. Employment relationship terminations also include 27 FTEs
whose individual contracts were transferred to Creditis Servizi Finanziari S.p.A.

BREAKDOWN OF PERSONNEL

31/01/2020 31/12/2018
number % number %
Grade
Executives 45 1.2 48 1.1
Middle managers 945 25.4 1,146 26.8
Other employees 2,724 73.3 3,088 72.1
Total 3,714 100.0 4,282 100.0
Assets
Head office 865 23.3 1,084 25.3
Market 2,849 76.7 3,198 74.7

SALES AND INNOVATION

The cross-channel approach is the basis of the Banca Carige Group service model, which aims to serve
customers with a full-fledged product and service proposition by maintaining standards of high quality in
terms of know-how and expertise, regardless of the channel chosen, be it physical, remote or mobile.

In 2019 the key proposition for retail customers, and more specifically for Households, both residing and
not residing in ltaly was "Conto Davvero'; this offering includes an ordinary current account, a debit card
to be issued to one of the account holders and the activation of Carige Online with internet and phone
banking service for each account holder who does not have one. The product is offered via an innova-
tive, easier-to-use sale process, entailing graphometric signature activation for all account holders who
have not yet activated it, a key factor to reduce the time needed to open accounts and make transactions
once the account is operating.

Companies can also rely on the long-established current accounts dedicated to professional or entrepre-
neurial activity: “Carige Stile Affari”, “Carige Stile Affari Piv”, “Carige SeilnAffari” and “Carige SeilnAffari
Maxi”.

The offering dedicated to the younger customer target was enriched with ‘Carige Gia Grande’, a free-of-
charge savings account for children up to 13 years of age, which is particularly advantageous in terms of
interest earned, and ‘Conto Giovani’, a current account for the 14-17 age group, which, in addition to
paying interest on savings, is transactionally functional to suit the needs of teenagers, with the possibility
for parents to authorise expenses above certain amounts.

Since 2011, the Fund for Study, named "Diamogli Futuro", which is managed by Consap S.p.A., has
been refinanced every year. In compliance with the rules and limits set in the terms and conditions, the
Fund supports young people who wish to study or complete their education. Consap issues first-demand,
direct, explicit, unconditional and irrevocable guarantees to the lending banks, covering 70% of the eli-
gible loans’ principal.

Digital access to the Group’s banking services via internet, smartphone or telephone is possible through
the portals “Carige Online” and “Carige Mobile” for retail customers and “Carige OnDemand” for
businesses. The security level of Servizi Online Family is high: when the contract is opened, the authenti-
cation service is automatically activated by text message, with the account holder receiving a one time
password ("OTP") on his mobile, to be used to confirm payment orders. The on-line documents service
"Documenti In Linea" is always included free of charge, allowing customers to electronically view, save
and print the main transparency notices sent by the Bank. The documents remain available on the Inter-
net for five years and have the same legal validity as hard-copy communications sent by regular mail. In
2019, there were approximately 275,000 Carige Online and/or Mobile users and over 80,000 Carige
OnDemand users.
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As for direct funding, further refinements and initiatives were introduced to optimise the offering of depos-
it products. The range of the "Carige RendiOltre" term deposit on current accounts, was expanded with a
new version with six-monthly "step up" coupons.

In assets under management, sales collaboration continued with the asset management company, Arca
SGR, the Groups' reference fund house since 2014, enabling access to a complete and diversified cata-
logue of products including open-ended funds and fixed-term funds.

As part of funds placed with different time windows, distribution continued for the coupon funds "Arca
Reddito Multivalore Plus ed. VIII, IX, X and XI” and “Arca Cedola Attiva ed. IX, X e XI” (the latter was re-
moved from the range on 30 September due to changed market conditions); similarly, the flexible time
window fund “Arca Opportunita Globali ed. Ill, IV, V and VI' continued to be marketed, with allocation
gradually shifting from bond to equity over a period of approximately 5 years. In January 2020, place-
ment of the fund ‘Arca Opportunita Sostenibili 2025" began, which focuses primarily on companies with
a significant commitment to environmental, social and governance issues, and ‘Arca Multi-Strategy Pru-
dente 2025’, a flexible fund with payout of annuities.

In 2019, the opening of new positions on the Individual Savings Plans (it. PIR) of Arca’s Italian Real
Economy segment was inhibited by legislative changes: funding continued to an extent limited to addi-
tional deposits on pre-existing positions.

The 5 segments of the Luxembourg open-ended collective investment scheme Sidera Funds of the asset
management company Arca Fondi SGR continued to be marketed during the year. Each segment is sub-
divided into two classes, one for capital accumulation and one for the payout of annuities.

The catalogue of collective investment funds available to all customers was integrated with selected funds
from Eurizon SGR. At the end of January 2020, the new memory cash collect certificates started to be
marketed on the FTSE Mib Index.

In Private banking, the range of open-architecture financial instruments offered primarily via the “All-
funds” platform continued to be integrated with selected top quality products from leading international
fund houses. In parallel, the use of model portfolios has been further expanded to increase the efficiency
of customer portfolios, in compliance with regulations in force. With specific regard to this customer
segment, the placement of managed portfolios continued with a catalogue of 14 lines offered.
Distribution continued for the 4 lines of the Open-ended Pension Fund, ‘Arca Previdenza’, differentiated
by maturities and risk appetite.

In "Bancassurance", distribution continued to focus on Line 1 products "Carige Soluzione Rendimento IlI",
"Carige Soluzione Assicurata 2015 edition" and "Carige per 5, 2015 edition" (with the latter ending on
30 December 2019), Line 3 and multi-line products “Unit Linked Carige UnitPit” and the policies
“Carige Multisoluzione II” and “Multisoluzione Piv” which make it possible to allocate the invested pre-
mium to different Line 1 and Line 3 combinations.

In the non-life insurance segment, the proposition and sale of insurance policies continued, in collabora-
tion with Amissima Assicurazioni.

With reference to third party motor liability, "Carige AutoPiv" was introduced, i.e. a policy with three dif-
ferent guarantee packages (Basic, Comfort and Premium) aimed at meeting the different insurance needs
of different customer profiles. In October 2019, innovations were introduced as far as ancillary guaran-
tees are concerned, in order to guarantee an increasingly tailored service and a higher level of customer
protection, with the land vehicles accessory guarantees to be combined with compulsory motor liability.
Among non-life policies, in addition to the well-established "Protezione Famiglia" which protects family
members against damage involuntarily caused in their own private or family life to third parties, the
"Carige Incendio e Furto, Rc Proprieta e Assistenza" multiguarantee policy has met with success. In addi-
tion to protecting the home and its contents, via two separate policies, this product indemnifies the policy
holder against damage unintentionally caused to third parties in connection with the owned building or
thereto associated items (such as equipment and fixtures), benefiting from technical assistance in case of
emergency repair and maintenance work. Covered risks are separately and independently defined but
packaged into a single contract template.

The accident and injury insurance policies "Carige Tutto Bene", "Carige Niente Male", "Carige Esco Sere-
no" and "Carige Correntista Sicuro Top", and the dental insurance "Carige Sorridenti" complete the offer-

ing.

With regard to customer profiling and due diligence activities, in 2019 the Bank continued to collect Mi-
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FID questionnaires from customers not yet profiled and began updating expired questionnaires.

During 2019, the MIFID Il and IDD compliance programme, initiated in 2017, continued with several In-
vestor Protection initiatives (disclosure of costs, charges and incentives related to financial products held,
annual portfolio monitoring, disclosure of the adequacy of the financial advisory service, product gov-
ernance policy, reporting of potential losses on portfolios under custody).

Lending to retail customers continued with the offering of fixed- and floating-rate loans, centred around
two products in particular, "Miglior Casa", with duration up to 30 years, and "Mutuo Carige Giovani'.
Targeting customers aged under 35, the latfter is a loan designed for buying a home, restructuring it and
increasing its energy efficiency.

Particularly successful were the Payment Protection Insurance (P.P.l.) policies, offering full-scale repay-
ment of a mortgage loan, as they include Life and Non-Life components. The new property & casualty
policy “Carige Domani Mutuo Light” is being marketed with success in a single version for all profession-
al categories. It offers coverage against events that can make loan repayment difficult, such as total per-
manent disability due to injury and illness as well as hospitalisation. In 2019, a similar specific policy was
introduced for businesses: "Carige Domani Mutuo Impresa", for protection against events that may limit
the capacity of loan, mortgage or unsecured loan repayment.

In consumer lending, the proposition focuses on "Mysura", a fixed or indexed unsecured loan offered by
Creditis Servizi Finanziari S.p.A., which, in its capacity as the issuing company, provides potential cus-
tomers with a SEPA direct debit loan from the customer's current account to be repaid in instalments after
creditworthiness assessment.

The number of debit cards, the new Carige Pay Debit and Carigecash Europa / Internazionale, totalled
537,648. POS payments were stable, although fewer cards were circulating than in 2018 (-16%).

The stock of prepaid riCarige cards totalled 121,162 units, up 2.2% Y/Y. Spending totalled approxi-
mately EUR 231.7 mIn (EUR 218 mln twelve months ago).

The range of prepaid cards is completed by the IBAN-linked, personal and rechargeable riCarige cards
with magnetic stripe and microchip, for worldwide use on the Visa-Electron circuit, which are immediately
available at the branch. In addition to the typical features of a prepaid card, the link to the IBAN number
makes debit and credit transactions possible: outgoing wire transfers, crediting of salary, bill payment. As
at the end of January 2020, the total number of these cards was 17,099, compared to 19,171 in 2018.
Credit card spending volumes with ‘Carige Card” were up +16.7%, with a decreasing stock of circulat-
ing credit cards (185,238 units in 2020 vs. 196,125 units in 2018).

In addition to strictly complying with customer protection regulations, the Carige Group makes consider-
able effort to adopt the required compliance framework. In this view, the Carige Group joined the Bank-
ing Ombudsman Scheme in 1993, which in 2007 became part of the Financial Banking Conciliator As-
sociation, managing other instruments for out-of-court dispute settlement, including Conciliation and Ar-
bitration; the Banking and Financial Arbitrator, ABF, has been operational since 15 October 2009, tak-
ing action in disputes regarding banking and financial services; the Arbitrator for Financial Disputes
(ACF) has been operational at CONSOB since 2017, acting as an out-of-court dispute resolution sys-
tem between retail investors and banks / intermediaries.

The Group Banks’ websites include a special “Complaints” section providing all information on legally
enforceable customer protection levels, from complaint submission to out-of-court dispute settlement and
relating statistical data.

Centralised with the Parent Bank’s Complaints Office, are all obligations arising from Art. 7 of Legislative
Decree 196/2003 (Privacy Code), Regulation (EU) 2016/679 (GDPR) and the “Code of Conduct” for
information systems managed by private entities with regard to consumer credit, reliability and timeliness
of payments, and the exercise of the interested parties' rights to access, modify and/or cancel any of their
personal data processed by the Group Banks.
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PROFIT & LOSS RESULTS

It should be noted that the figures shown for comparative purposes in the income statement are derived
from the "Report on the Consolidated Financial Position and Results of the Operations as at
31.12.2018", prepared by the Temporary Administrators pursuant to art. 73, paragraph 4 of the Con-
solidated Law on Finance (TUB), filed with the Companies’ Register, whereas P&L figures as at 31 Janu-
ary 2020 refer to a 13-month period (1 January 2019 — 31 January 2020). Changes are therefore
shown only in absolute terms.

As at 31 January 2020, the Parent Company's share of profit/loss for the period in the income statement
amounts to a negative EUR 869.8 mln, as against the EUR 272.8 min loss posted in December 2018.
This result is mainly traceable to the roll out of the 2019-2023 Business Plan, which included completion
of the NPE disposal to AMCO (resulting in the radical derisking of the Group's assets with a EUR 452.1
mln impact on the income statement and EUR 15.3 min in charges for transaction structuring) in addition
to the settlement agreements entered into with the Apollo/Amissima Group (EUR 44.3 min) and the
Credito Fondiario (EUR 24.5 min) and charges related to the management of redundancies set out in
trade union agreements (EUR 120.8 min). Added to the above are the impairment of real estate proper-
ties not used in the business (EUR 32.5 min), the charges (estimated or paid) for indemnities arising from
the NPE disposal transactions that the Group carried out over the last three years (EUR 21.6 min) and the
charges for lawsuits brought against the bank (EUR 14.6 min).

The significant drop in interest and fee & commission income is mainly related to increased charges (EUR
52 mln) on the subordinated Tier 2 debt issued in December 2018 that was not converted into equity un-
til the Capital Increase in December 2019, as well as to the State guarantee on new bonds issued in the
first quarter of 2019 (EUR 17.7 min).
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INCOME STATEMENT (EUR/000)

Situation as at Change
31/01/2020 31/12/2018 Absolute
10. Interest and similar income 370,100 400,908 (30,808)
o.w.: interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method 377,101 390,046 (12,945)
20. Interest and similar expense (246,556) (174,277) (72,279)
30. NET INTEREST INCOME 123,544 226,631 (103,087)
40. Fee and commission income 262,207 264,385 (2,178)
50. Fee and commission expense (42,322) (33,543) (8,779)
60. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 219,885 230,842 (10,957)
70. Dividends and similar income 10,733 10,492 241
80. Net profit (loss) from trading 14,029 5,036 8,993
90. Net profit (loss) from hedging 789 (1,484) 2,273
100. Profits (losses) on disposal or repurchase of: (28,716) (60,580) 31,864
a) financial assets at amortised cost (28,204) (63,472) 35,268
b) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 31 1,039 (1,008)
c) financial liabilities (543) 1,853 (2,39¢)
110. Profits (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (3,359) (14,033) 10,674
b) other financial assets mandatorily at fair value (3,359) (14,033) 10,674
120. NET INTEREST AND OTHER BANKING INCOME 336,905 396,904 (59,999)
130. Net losses/recoveries on impairment of: (462,489) (244,070) (218,419)
a) financial assets at amortised cost (462,500) (244,031) (218,469)
b) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 11 (39) 50
140. Gains (losses) due to contractual modifications not resulting in derecognition 813 (1,134) 1,947
150. NET INCOME FROM BANKING ACTIVITIES (124,771) 151,700 (276,471)
180. NET INCOME FROM BANKING AND INSURANCE ACTIVITIES (124,771) 151,700 (276,471)
190. Administrative expenses (634,897) (531,787) (103,110)
a) personnel expenses (394,521) (280,282) (114,239)
b) other administrative expenses (240,376) (251,505) 11,129
200. Net provisions for risks and charges (30,815) (41,672) 10,857
a) commitments and guarantees given 9,694 17,356 (7,662)
b) other net provisions (40,509) (59,028) 18,519
210. Net adjustments to/recoveries on property and equipment (58,913) (11,421) (47,492)
220. Net adjustments to/recoveries on intangible assets (10,294) (6,408) (3,886)
230. Other operating income (expense) (13,455) 57,432 (70,887)
240. OPERATING EXPENSES (748,374) (533,856) (214,518)
250. Profits (losses) on equity investments 8,235 9,522 (1,287)
280. Profits (losses) on disposal of investments 517 57,020 (56,503)
290. PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (864,393) (315,614) (548,779)
300. Taxes on income from continuing operations (15,788) 19,765 (35,553)
310. PROFIT (LOSS) AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (880,181) (295,849) (584,332)
320. Profit (loss) after tax from discontinued operations 3,758 20,897 (17,139)
330. PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (876,423) (274,952) (601,471)
340. Non-controlling interests (6,646) (2,128) (4,518)
350. NET PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PARENT COMPANY (869,777) (272,824) (596,953)

More specifically, Net Interest Income amounted to EUR 123.5 mIn (EUR 226.6 min as at December
2018). In particular, with reference to assets and liabilities at amortised cost, Net Interest Income from
customers totalled EUR 343.4 min, whereas Net Interest Income from banks was a negative EUR 9.4
min.

Interest income stood at EUR 370.1 mln and interest expense totalled EUR 246.6 mIn. The drop in Nll is
mainly attributable to the "Securities issued" component, which includes EUR 52 min worth of charges re-
lating to the subordinated Tier 2 debt and the reduction in interest on loans to customers due to the
gradual derisking of assets.

INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME (EuR/000)

Change

31/01/2020 31/12/2018 Absolute
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2,565 2,242 323
- financial assets held for trading 329 290 39
- other financial assets mandatorily at fair value 2,236 1,952 284
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 2 76 (74)
Financial assets at amortised cost: 391,029 413,910 (22,881)
- loans to banks 346 390 (44)
- loans to customers 390,683 413,520 (22,837)
Hedging derivatives (27,665) (22,282) (5,383)
Other assets 3,586 4,826 (1,240)
Financial liabilities 583 2,136 (1,553)
Total interest and similar income 370,100 400,908 (30,808)
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INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSE (EUR/000)

Change

31/01/2020 31/12/2018 Absolute
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 188,006 127,108 60,898
- due to central banks 1,288 - 1,288
- due to banks 9,651 7,089 2,562
- due to customers 47,295 33,480 13,815
- securities issued 129,772 86,539 43,233
Other liabilities and funds 198 10 188
Hedging derivatives 39,921 32,547 7,374
Financial assets 18,431 14,612 3,819
Total interest and similar expense 246,556 174,277 72,279

Net fees and commissions amounted to EUR 219.9 miIn (EUR 230.8 mIn in December 2018); fee and
commission income amounted to EUR 262.2 mIn (EUR 264.4 mln in December 2018), whereas fee and
commission expense amounted to EUR 42.3 miIn (EUR 33.5 min in December 2018). The decrease in
net fee and commission income was mainly due to charges (EUR 17.7 mln) related to the State guaran-
tee on new bonds issued in the first quarter of 2019 (EUR 2 bn).

FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME (EUR/000)

_ Change
31/01/2020 31/12/2018 Absolute
Guarantees issued 6,332 6,626 (294)
Portfolio management, brokerage and advisory services: 99,569 95,145 4,424
1. Trading of financial instruments 55 36 19
2. Currency trading 1,576 2,152 (576)
3. Portfolio management 2,709 2,651 58
4. Custody and administration of securities 1,673 1,741 (68)
6. Placement of securities 41,823 43,064 (1,247)
7. Receipt and issue of orders 4,597 4,790 (193)
8. Consulting services 41 30 11
9. Distribution of third-party services 47,095 40,681 6,414
- portfolio management 2,266 2,103 163
- insurance products 24,760 25,861 (1,101)
- other products 20,069 12,717 7,352
Collection and payment services 42,332 54,809 (12,477)
Securitisation servicing - 543 (543)
Factoring services 724 706 18
Maintenance and management of current accounts 98,481 90,751 7,730
Other services 14,769 15,805 (1,036)
Total fee and commission income 262,207 264,385 (2,178)
FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSE (EUR/000)
Change
31/01/2020 31/12/2018 Absolute
Guarantees received 17,867 235 17,632
Portfolio management and brokerage services 1,754 2,433 (679)
1. Trading of financial instruments 213 904 (691)
3. Portfolio management 145 168 (23)
4. Custody and administration of securities 1,388 1,296 92
5. Placement of financial instruments 8 64 (56)
6. Off-site marketing of financial instruments, products and services - 1 (m
Collection and payment services 9,159 19,061 (9,902)
Other services 13,542 11,814 1,728
Total fee and commission expense 42,322 33,543 8,779

Net gains (losses) from disposal/repurchase of financial assets and liabilities' contributed a positive EUR

! Income Statement items 70, 80, 90, 100 b), c)and 110
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21.7 min.

More specifically, dividends, mainly traceable to the stake held in the Bank of Italy, totalled EUR 10.7
mln (EUR 10.5 mIn in December 2018); net profit (loss) from trading amounted to a positive EUR 14 mln
(EUR 5 min in December 2018), mainly relating to foreign exchange operations, and net profit (loss)
from hedging was a positive EUR 789 thousand (as compared to a negative EUR 1.5 mln in December
2018).

NET PROFIT (LOSS) FROM TRADING (EuR/000)

Change

31/01/2020 31/12/2018 Absolute
Debt securities 55 (797) 852
Total equities, debt securities and UCITS 55 (797) 852
Financial derivatives (416) (1,077) 661
Exchange differences 23,702 11,555 12,147
Other financial assets/liabilities from trading (9,312) (4,645) (4,667)
Total profit (loss) from trading 14,029 5,036 8,993

Losses on disposal of financial assets at amortised cost amounted to EUR 28.2 min, traceable to the
foregoing NPL disposal to AMCO (the item must be read together with net losses on impairment of
loans. As at December 2018, losses amounted to EUR 63.5 min and were partly traceable to the dispos-
al of positions classified as unlikely-to-pay exposures and bad loans in the last quarter of 2018 and part-
ly to an exchange of positions classified as bad loans under the contractual agreements entered into with
Credito Fondiario in December 2017.

Net profit (loss) from financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss amounted to a
negative EUR 3.4 mln; the item totalled a negative EUR 14 min in December 2018, mainly attributable
to the valuation of loans to customers that failed the Solely Payments of Principal and Interests (SPPI) Test
and were mandatorily classified under this category.

Net interest and other banking income thus totalled EUR 336.9 min (EUR 396.9 min in December
2018).

Net loan losses totalled EUR 462.5 min and are mainly traceable to the completion of the foregoing NPE
disposal to AMCO, which resulted in the Bank’s radical derisking and a consequent reduction of the

gross NPE ratio.
The foregoing disposal transaction had an overall impact of approximately EUR 452.1 mlIn on the in-
come statement, spread across items 10, 100a, 110b and 130a.

NET LOSSES/RECOVERIES ON CREDIT RISK(EUR/000)

31/01/2020 31/12/2018

Financial assets at amortised cost: 462,500 244,031
1. Loans to banks 177 (968)
2. Loans to customers 462,349 244,999
3. Debt securities (26) -
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (11) 39
iT:::I::Is net losses/recoveries on credit risk and other financial 462,489 244,070

Net income from banking activities was a negative EUR 124.8 mIn (as against a positive EUR 151.7 mlIn
in December 2018).

Operating expenses totalled EUR 748.4 min (EUR 533.9 mln in December 2018). More specifically:
- personnel expenses amounted to EUR 394.5 mIn (EUR 280.3 min as at December 2018) and in-
clude the provisions to the Redundancy Fund (EUR 120.8 min) recognised after signing of the un-
ion agreements in November 2019;
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- other administrative expenses totalled EUR 240.4 min (EUR 251.5 mIn in December 2018) and
are inclusive of EUR 21 mlin in contributions to the National Resolution Fund and the Italian In-
terbank Deposit Protection Fund (EUR 21.5 min as at December 2018), as well as EUR 15.1 mln
worth of DTA charges (EUR 13.9 miIn as at December 2018).

Net provisions for risks and charges amounted to EUR 30.8 mIn (EUR 41.7 mln as at December 2018)
and contain charges for an amount of EUR 21.7 mln in relation to indemnification claims on loan dis-
posals completed in prior periods.

Net adjustments to/recoveries on property and equipment and intangible assets totalled EUR 69.2 mln
(EUR 17.8 min as at December 2018). The item was affected, partly, by the impairment of real estate
properties not used in the business (EUR 32.5 mlIn) and, partly, by the adoption of IFRS16 in 2019, which
led to the recognition of "rights of use" subject to amortisation (EUR 15.3 mln in thirfeen months) and in-
terest expense (EUR 1 mln in thifeen months) to replace rents payable, which were recognised under
other administrative expenses until 2018 (EUR 17.9 mln in December 2018).

OPERATING EXPENSES (EUR/000)

Change

31/01/2020 31/12/2018 Absolute
Personnel expenses 394,521 280,282 114,239
Other administrative expenses 240,376 251,505 (11,129)
- overhead expenses 148,523 162,326 (13,803)
- contribution to the National Resolution Fund and FITD 21,002 21,451 (449)
_indirect taxes 1) 55,712 53,862 1,850
- DTA charges 15,139 13,866 1,273
Net provisions for risks and charges 30,815 41,672 (10,857)
- commitments and guarantees given (9,694) (17,356) 7,662
- other net provisions 40,509 59,028 (] 8,51 9)
Amortisation on: 69,207 17,829 51,378
- tangible assets 58,913 11,421 47,492
- intangible assets 10,294 6,408 3,886
Other operating income (expense) 13,455 (57,432) 70,887
Total operating expenses 748,374 533,856 214,518

(1) Taxes recovered from customers are posted to item 220 of the Income Statement “Other operating income (expenses)”.

Other net operating income/expense amounted to a negative EUR 13.5 mlin (vs. a positive EUR 57.4 mln
in December 2018). The opposite sign is essentially due to the significant increase in other charges which
includes the outcome of the settlement agreement with the Apollo/Amissima Group (EUR 44.3 miIn) and
with Credito Fondiario (EUR 24.5 min).

This item also includes the result of REOCO S.p.A.'s operations in terms of management of the properties
it holds, which began in 2019.
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OTHER OPERATING INCOME/EXPENSE (EUR/000)

Change

31/01/2020 31/12/2018 (1) Absolute
Lease payments receivable 3,130 3,868 (738)
Third-party charges: 55,934 56,482 (548)
recovery of credit facility fees 11,578 11,968 (390)
recovery of taxes ? 44,032 44,196 (164)
customer insurance premiums 324 318 6
f’rofifs ((osses) on disposal of property and equipment classified as 1,344 i 1344

inventories (IAS 2)

Other income 13,970 14,414 (444)
Total other income 74,378 74,764 (386)
Losses on lawsuits and out-of-court settlements (78,739) (5,987) (72,752)
Routine maintenance expenses on investment property (168) (5) (163)
Expenses for improvement of third parties’ assets (323) (4171) 88
Charges for covered bond and securitisation transactions (2,228) (2,419) 191
Other expenses® (6,375) (8,510) 2,135
Total other expenses (87,833) (17,332) (70,501)
Total operating income/expense (13,455) 57,432 (70,887)

(1) The figures were restated in accordance with the classification shown with reference to the data as at 31 January 2020.

(2) The item consists of taxes recovered from customers, whose cost is posted to sub-item 180 b) "Other administrative expenses" in the income

statement.
(3) The item consists of out-of-court settlements and litigation for EUR 78.7 min.

In light of the considerations above and having regard to gains on equity investments and disposal of in-
vestments for an aggregate amount of EUR 8.8 mln, the Group's profit (loss) before tax from continuing
operations was a negative EUR 864.4 min as against a negative EUR 315.6 mln in December 2018.
Finally, considering the EUR 15.8 mIn worth of tax for the period and the EUR 3.8 min worth of profit
from discontinued operations, the loss for the period amounted to EUR 876,4 min.

Net of the non-controlling interests' share of loss for the period, the Parent Company's share of profit
(loss) for the period amounted to a negative EUR 869.8 mIn (-EUR 272.8 mln in December 2018).

Including the income components directly booked to equity, the Parent Company’s share of total com-

prehensive income was a negative EUR 857.1 min.
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BALANCE SHEET ITEMS, FUNDING AND LENDING

ASSETS (EUR/000)

Situation as at Change
31/01/2020 31/12/2018 absolute %

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 256,660 266,088 (9,428) (3.5)
20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 157,473 173,716 (16,243) (9.4)
20. a) FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING 1,715 2,042 (327) (16.0)
20. c) OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS MANDATORILY AT FAIR VALUE 155,758 171,674 (15,916) (9.3)

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
30. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 783,696 811,438 (27,742) (3.4)
40. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST 18,551,726 17,200,504 1,351,222 7.9
40. a) LOANS TO BANKS 4,544,378 1,524,106 3,020,272
40.b) LOANS TO CUSTOMERS 14,007,348 15,676,398 (1,669,050) (10.6)
50. HEDGING DERIVATIVES 9,087 13,842 (4,755) (34.4)
70. EQUITY INVESTMENTS 98,153 99,318 (1,165) (1.2)
90. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 883,261 726,412 156,849 21.6
100. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 78,441 53,668 24,773 46.2
110. TAX ASSETS 1,664,189 1,781,090 (116,901) (6.6)
110. a) CURRENT 587,960 616,032 (28,072) (4.6)
110. b) DEFERRED 1,076,229 1,165,058 (88,829) (7.6)
120. NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND DISPOSAL GROUPS HELD FOR SALE - 617,224 (617,224) (100.0)
130. OTHER ASSETS 231,549 351,284 (119,735) (34.7)

TOTAL ASSETS 22,714,235 22,094,584 619,651 2.8
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (EUr/000) Situation as at Change

31/01/2020 31/12/2018 absolute %

10. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST 20,072,079 19,087,529 984,550 52
10.a) DUE TO BANKS 3,999,981 4,592,969 (592,988) (12.9)
10. b) DUE TO CUSTOMERS 11,819,364 12,046,474 (227,110) (1.9)
10. c) SECURITIES ISSUED 4,252,734 2,448,086 1,804,648 73.7
20. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING 1,165 720 445 61.8
40. HEDGING DERIVATIVES 266,295 239,612 26,683 11.1
60. TAX LIABILITIES 10,762 9,533 1,229 12.9
60. a) CURRENT 5,068 3,734 1,334 35.7
60.b) DEFERRED 5,694 5,799 (105) (1.8)
70. LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH GROUPS OF ASSETS HELD FOR SALE - 234,759 (234,759) (100.0)
80. OTHER LIABILITIES 430,598 456,675 (26,077) (5.7)
90. EMPLOYEE TERMINATION INDEMNITIES 42,796 52,611 (9,815) (18.7)
100. ALLOWANCES FOR RISKS AND CHARGES: 290,599 243,754 46,845 19.2
100. a) COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES GIVEN 24,636 34,330 (9,694) (28.2)
100. b) POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 29,073 29,256 (183) (0.6)
100.c) OTHER ALLOWANCES FOR RISKS AND CHARGES 236,890 180,168 56,722 31.5
120. VALUATION RESERVES (91,146) (103,776) 12,630 (12.2)
150. RESERVES 24,257 296,651 (272,394) (91.8)
160. SHARE PREMIUM RESERVE 623,958 - 623,958
170. CAPITAL 1,915,164 1,845,164 70,000 3.8
180. TREASURY SHARES (-) (15,572) (15,572) - -
190. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (+/-) 13,057 19,748 (6,691) (33.9)
200. NET PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (+/-) (869,777) (272,824) (596,953)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 22,714,235 22,094,584 619,651 2.8

Overall funding from customers —direct and indirect deposits— totalled EUR 38,296.9 mIn as at 31 Janu-
ary 2020, up compared to December 2018 (+7.2%).
Direct deposits amounted to EUR 16,072.1 mln, whilst indirect deposits totalled EUR 22,224.8 min.
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OVERALL FUNDING (EUrR/000)

Situation as at Change
31/01/2020 31/12/2018 absolute %

Total (A+B) 38,296,934 35,726,215 2,570,719 7.2

Direct deposits (A) (V 16,072,098 14,494,560 1,577,538 10.9
% share of total 42.0% 40.6%

Indirect deposits (B) 22,224,836 21,231,655 993,181 4.7
% share of total 58.0% 59.4%

- Assets under Management 11,111,729 11,131,201 (19,472) (0.2)
% share of total 29.0% 31.2%
% share of Indirect deposits 50.0% 52.4%

- Assets under Custody 11,113,107 10,100,454 1,012,653 10.0
% share of total 29.0% 28.3%
% share of Indirect deposits 50.0% 47.6%

(1) ltems 10 b), 10 ¢) and 30 of Balance Sheet liabilities.

Overall funding, including direct funding and deposits from banks, amounted to EUR 20,072.1 mln, up
5.2%.

Direct funding was up 10.9% to EUR 16,072.1 bn, primarily on the back of trends in securities issued,
following the issuance, in January 2019, of EUR 2 bn worth of bonds backed by State guarantee pursu-
ant to Law Decree no. 1/2019 (of which EUR 1 bn came to maturity in January 2020), and the place-
ment of approximately EUR 1.5 bn worth of retained bonds with institutional investors during the first half
of 2019, as detailed in the section "Key events in the Temporary Administration period" in this Report.
More specifically, direct retail funding, for a total amount of EUR 12,010.9 min, decreased by 2.7% dur-
ing the period, whereas institutional funding (EUR 4,061.2 mln) was up compared to EUR 2,145.9 in
December 2018.

With regard to direct funding, amounts due to customers totalled EUR 11,819.4 mln, down 1.9%, pri-
marily on the back of the decline in current accounts and demand deposits and the reduction of repur-
chase agreements to zero. Current accounts, accounting for 84.1% of the aggregate, were down 3.9%
to EUR 9,944.7 min, and were partly offset by an increase in term deposits (from EUR 1,172.9 mln in
December 2018 to EUR 1,669.6 mlIn in January 2020).

The aggregate includes EUR 58.4 mIn worth of lease liabilities (item not booked in December 2018),
due to first time adoption of the new international accounting principle "IFRS 16 - Leases", as of 1 Janu-
ary 2019.

Securities issued amounted to EUR 4,252.7 min (EUR 2,448.1 min in December 2018) and were signifi-
cantly up (EUR 1.8 bn), mainly ascribable to the liquidity measures described in the section "Key events in
the Temporary Administration period" in this Report.

Amounts due to banks stood at EUR 4,000 min, as against EUR 4,593 mlIn as at December 2018. The
overall amount of refinancing operations with the ECB (T-LTRO Il) totalled EUR 3,500 min.
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FUNDING (EUR/000)

Situation as at Change
31/01/2020 31/12/2018 Absolute %
Total (A + B) 20,072,079 19,087,529 984,550 5.2
Direct deposits (A) 16,072,098 14,494,560 1,577,538 10.9
Due to customers 11,819,364 12,046,474 (227,110) (1.9
current accounts and demand deposits 9,944,656 10,345,469 (400,813) (3.9)
repurchase agreements - 335,423 (335,423) (100.0)
term deposits 1,669,592 1,172,916 496,676 42.3
loans 2,311 3,115 (804) (25.8)
lease liabilities 58,426 - 58,426
other 144,379 189,551 (45,172) (23.8)
Securities issued 4,252,734 2,448,086 1,804,648 73.7
bonds 4,252,128 2,447,437 1,804,691 73.7
other securities 606 649 (43) (6.6)
short-term 10,693,043 11,318,855 (625,812) (5.5)
% share of total 66.5 78.1
medium-long term 5,379,055 3,175,705 2,203,350 69.4
% share of total 33.5 21.9
Due to banks (B) 3,999,981 4,592,969 (592,988)  (12.9)
Due to central banks 3,500,000 3,500,000 - -
Current accounts and demand deposits 8,402 102,051 (93,649) (91.8)
Repurchase agreements 252,813 704,145 (451,332) (64.1)
Loans 229,895 281,110 (51,215) (18.2)
Lease liabilities 2,598 - 2,598
Other 6,273 5,663 610 10.8

Regional data highlights Liguria’s prevailing share of direct funding with 49.7% of total. Tuscany is the
second-ranking region with a share of 13.2%, followed by Lombardy (11.1%). Veneto's share of total is
6.4% and Lazio’s 5.6%. The other regions hold shares of less than 5%.

DIRECT DEPOSITS AS AT 31/01/2020() DIRECT DEPOSITS AS AT 31/12/20218%)
100%= EUR 12,010.9 MLN 100%= EUR 12,348.6 MLN
 Liguria 5.0% aLguria 5.4%

4.6% 4.3% 4.9% 3.7%

= Tuscany

= Tuscany

5.6%
W Lombardy M Lombardy 6.4%

]
Veneto ®Veneto

%
 Lazio 64 °

49.7% = (azio 6.8% 49.6%

= sicily =sicily
11.1%

Piedmont
Piedmont 9.8%

Other

Other
13.2%
(1) Net of the institutional component

13.3%
(1) Net of the institutional component

68.5% of amounts due to customers were from households and amounted to EUR 8,098.6 mlIn; non-
financial companies and personal businesses (EUR 1,562.5 min) accounted for 13.2%. Financial and in-
surance companies contributed EUR 1,190.8 min worth of deposits (10.1% of total), private social insti-
tutions EUR 597.9 min (5.1% of total) and public administrations EUR 369.5 mln (3.1% of total).
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DIRECT DEPOSITS - BREAKDOWN BY BUSINESS SEGMENT (cur/000)

Situation as at

31/01/2020 31/12/2018

% %
Public Administration 369,473 3.1% 423,267 3.6%
Financial and insurance businesses 1,190,797 10.1% 711,592 6.1%
Non-financial businesses and personal businesses 1,562,508 13.2% 1,705,507 14.6%
Private social institutions and non-classified entities 597,939 5.1% 654,839 5.6%
Households 8,098,647 68.5% 8,215,846 70.2%
Total by business segment 11,819,364 100.0% 11,711,051 100.0%
Repurchase agreements - 335,423
Total deposits from customers 11,819,364 12,046,474
Securities issued 4,252,734 2,448,086
Total direct deposits 16,072,098 14,494,560

Indirect deposits, amounting to EUR 22,224.8 miIn, were up 4.7% in the thiteen-month period.

Assets under management stood at EUR 11.111,7 mlin, broadly stable compared to December 2018 (-
0.2%): more specifically, mutual funds and open-ended collective investment schemes (SICAV) amounted
to EUR 4,918.5 min, up 1.5%, whereas portfolio management stood at EUR 258.9 mlIn, up 5.7%. Con-
versely, a 1.7% decrease was registered in bancassurance products, which totalled EUR 5,934.4 min.
Assets under Custody amounted to EUR 11,113.1 mIn, up 10% on the back of trends in assets pertaining
to Amissima Assicurazioni amounting to EUR 6,685.2 min, up 8.1%; a 9% decrease was registered in
government bonds to EUR 2,286 mln; bonds totalled EUR 408.9 miIn (-35.3%), while shares amounted
to EUR 1,733.1 mlIn, up compared to EUR 770.4 min in December 2018. The aggregate includes a rel-
ative value of EUR 916.8 min for Carige ordinary shares valued at the latest available market price be-
fore suspension from trading (EUR 0.0015 on 28 December 2018).

INDIRECT DEPOSITS (rur/000)

Situation as at Change
31/01/2020 31/12/2018 absolute %
Total (A+B) 22,224,836 21,231,655 993,181 4.7
Assets under Management (A) 11,111,729 11,131,201 (19,472) (0.2)
Mutual funds and open-end collective investment schemes 4,918,462 4,846,558 71,904 1.5
Portfolio management 258,894 244,861 14,033 5.7
Bancassurance products 5,934,373 6,039,782 (105,409) (1.7)
Assets under Custody (B) 11,113,107 10,100,454 1,012,653 10.0
Gowvernment securities 2,285,950 2,512,754 (226,804) (9.0)
Bonds 408,886 631,673 (222,787) (35.3)
Shares (1) 1,733,098 770,394 962,704
Other 6,685,173 6,185,633 499,540 8.1

(1) The aggregate includes EUR 916,8 min worth of Carige shares, the ordinary component of which is valued at the latest available stock exchange

price (EUR 0.0015 as at 28/12/2018).

As far as indirect deposits are concerned, the Liguria region contributed the highest share, i.e. 67.1% of
the total, followed by Lombardy (12.1%) and Tuscany (6.8%). The remaining regions contributed less
than 5% each.

INDIRECT DEPOSITS AS AT 31/12/2018

INDIRECT DEPOSITS AS AT 31/01/2020 E
100%= EUR 22,224.8 MLN 100%= EUR 21,231.7 MLN
2.6% o 2.3% 2.800'5% 2.4%
" Liguria 2.6% 2.2% W Liguria 2.9%

= Lombardy 4.3%

W Tuscany 6.8%
= Veneto

= Piedmont
12.1%

= Sicily
Lazio

Other

u Lombardy 4.6%
u Tuscany 7.2%
HVeneto
m Piedmont
u Sicily 13.7%
Lazio 63.9%
67.1%
Other
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In terms of breakdown by segment, the two main customer segments -households and financial and in-
surance companies- respectively contributed 60.1% and 35.3% of the total; the share contributed by
non-financial businesses and personal businesses was 3.2%.

INDIRECT DEPOSITS - BREAKDOWN BY BUSINESS SEGMENT (tur/000)

Situation as at

31/01/2020 31/12/2018

% %
Public Administration 156,965 0.7% 133,843 0.6%
Financial and insurance businesses 7,846,830 35.3% 6,567,567 30.9%
Non-financial businesses and personal businesses 701,075 3.2% 703,164 3.3%
Private social institutions and non-classified entities 164,485 0.7% 159,409 0.8%
Households 13,355,481 60.1% 13,667,672 64.4%
Total indirect deposits 22,224,836 100.0% 21,231,655 100.0%

Net loans to customers (Balance Sheet item 40 b) totalled EUR 14,019.8 mIn, down 10.6% from EUR
15,676.4 min in December 2018. 57.3% of the item is accounted for by mortgage loans.

LOANS TO CUSTOMERS AT AMORTISED COST (EUR/000)

Situation as at Change
31/01/2020 31/12/2018 absolute %

Current accounts 1,008,985 1,360,458 (351,473) (25.8)
Repurchase agreements 1,351,835 - 1,351,835
Mortgage loans 8,023,885 10,082,581 (2,058,696) (20.4)
Credit cards, personal loans and fifth of salary-backed loans 85,275 82,860 2,415 2.9
Leasing 476,999 573,577 (96,578) (16.8)
Factoring 72,587 78,202 (5,615) (7.2)
Other loans 1,729,017 2,215,526 (486,509) (22.0)
Debt securities 1,258,765 1,283,194 (24,429) (1.9)

Total 14,007,348 15,676,398 (1,669,050) (10.6)

Gross of value adjustments and net of debt securities at amortised cost, loans to customers totalled EUR
13,339.5 mIn (down 17.3% as compared to December, mainly due to the NPE portfolio disposal).
Excluding the institutional component, gross loans to retail customers amounted to EUR 11,361.3 mln,
down on December 2018 (-26.3%). As part of this aggregate, a decrease was registered in loans to
businesses (-30% to EUR 5,709.8 min), whereas loans to households were broadly stable (-0.9% to EUR
5,330.3 min).

The short-term component, accounting for 22.8% of total, amounted to EUR 3,036.7 mIn (+23.2%
compared to 31 December 2018); the medium-long term component amounted to EUR 10,075.6 mln (-
20.4% compared to 31 December 2018). Bad loans fell to EUR 227.2 min (-77.5%) following comple-
tion of the above-mentioned NPE disposal to AMCO.

Loans to banks, net of debt securities at amortised cost and gross of adjustments for an amount of EUR
3.7 min, totalled EUR 4,548.1 mlin, up from EUR 1,527.7 min as at December 2018; 93.7% of this ag-
gregate is accounted for by short-term loans. The change is primarily related to trends in compulsory re-
serves, which amounted to EUR 3 bn as at 31 January 2020.

The net interbank position (difference between loans to and deposits from banks, net of debt securities at
amortised cost) shows a credit position of EUR 544.4 mlIn, as compared to a debt exposure of EUR

3,068.9 min in December 2018.
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LOANS AT AMORTISED €OST ‘") (Fur/000)

Situation as at Change
31/01/2020 31/12/2018 Absolute %
Total (A+B) 17,292,961 15,917,311 1,375,650 8.6
Loans to customers (A) 12,748,583 14,393,205 (1,644,622)  (11.4)
- Gross exposure @ 13,339,540 16,135,865 (2,796,325)  (17.3)
current accounts 986,004 1,237,608 (251,604) (20.3)
repurchase agreements 1,351,990 - 1,351,990
mortgage loans 7,564,633 8,681,747 (1,117,114) (12.9)
Z;eciééo;;c;sr,jspersona/ loans and fifth of salary- 85,375 82,611 2764 3.3
leasing 430,474 485,168 (54,694) (11.3)
factoring 72,929 57,811 15,118 26.2
other loans 1,716,918 2,043,186 (326,268) (16.0)
non-performing assets 1,131,217 3,547,734 (2,416,517) (68.1)
- short term 3,036,680 2,465,213 571,467 23.2
% share of nominal value 22.8 15.3
- medium/long term 10,075,615 12,660,867 (2,585,252) (20.4)
% share of nominal value 75.5 78.5
- Bad loans 227,245 1,009,785 (782,540)  (77.5)
% share of nominal value 1.7 6.3
-Value adjustments (-) 590,957 1,742,660 (1,151,703) (66.1)
Loans to banks (B) 4,544,378 1,524,106 3,020,272
- Gross exposure @ 4,548,110 1,527,662 3,020,448
compulsory reserves 3,745,343 378,126 3,367,217
current accounts and demand deposits 18,840 22,236 (3,39¢) (15.3)
repurchase agreements 119,762 570,996 (451,234) (79.0)
loans 651,362 543,523 107,839 19.8
non-performing assets 12,803 12,781 22 0.2
-short term 4,261,513 1,253,682 3,007,831
% share of nominal value 93.7 82.1
-medium/long term 286,597 273,980 12,617 4.6
% share of nominal value 6.3 17.9
-Value adjustments (-) 3,732 3,556 176 4.9

(1) As at 31/01/2020, net of debt securities at amortised cost amounting to EUR 1,258,765 thousand (loans to customers), and as at 31/12/2018, net

of debt securities at amortised cost amounting to EUR 1,283,193 thousand (loans to customers).

(2) Before value adjustments.

In terms of a geographical breakdown, Liguria accounts for 49% of loans to customers. Tuscany is the
second-ranking region, with a share of 11.3%; Lombardy ranks third with a share of 9.9%.

GROSS LOANS TO CUSTOMER AS AT 31/01/2020

uliguria

®Tuscany

W Lombardy

®Veneto

® piedmont

= Emilia Romagna

Hlazio

" Other

100%= EUR 11,987.6 MLN

4.9% 6.5%
.9%

5.7%

L

49.0%
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GROSS LOANS TO CUSTOMER AS AT 31/12/2018

100%= EUR 16,135.9 MLN

6.3%

4.7%

6.1%

6.0%

0/
6.3% 49.7%

9.8%

In terms of a breakdown by segment, non-financial companies and personal businesses account for
42.9% of loans to customers, for a total of EUR 5,148.2 mlin; the households’ share of total (41.3%) is
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mostly comprised of mortgages for the purchase of homes. The public administrations” share of total is
12.2%, while financial and insurance companies account for 2.8% of total.

GROSS LOANS TO CUSTOMERS!” - BREAKDOWN BY BUSINESS SEGMENT (:ur/000)

Situation as at

31/01/2020 31/12/2018

% %
Public Administration 1,463,253 12.2% 1,417,341 8.8%
Financial and insurance businesses 339,258 2.8% 693,568 4.3%
Non-financial businesses and personal businesses 5,148,229 42.9% 8,439,395 52.3%
Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motorvehicles and motorcycles 1,048,183 8.7% 1,538,848 9.5%
Manufacturing 954,832 8.0% 1,487,668 9.2%
Transportation and storage 757,972 6.3% 1,013,960 6.3%
Real Estate 714,948 6.0% 1,067,990 6.6%
Construction 509,284 4.2% 1,614,225 10.0%
Other 1,163,010 9.7% 1,716,704 10.6%
Private social institutions and non-classified entities 89,812 0.7% 88,123 0.5%
Households 4,946,999 41.3% 5,497,438 34.1%
Total breakdown by business segment 11,987,551 100.0% 16,135,865 100.0%

Buy/sell-back repos (assets) with financial institutions 1,351,990 -
Total loans to customers 13,339,541 100.0% 16,135,865 100.0%

(1) Gross of value adjustments and net of debt securities at amortised cost.

Loans mandatorily at fair value amounted to EUR 102.7 mln, compared to EUR 107.7 min as at De-
cember 2018, of which EUR 77.5 min in loans to customers and EUR 25.1 mlIn in loans to banks.

LOANS MANDATORILY AT FAIR VALUE " (cur/000)

Situation as at Change

31/01/2020 31/12/2018 Absolute %

Total (A+B) 102,680 107,692 (5,012) (4.7)
Loans to customers (A) 77,534 94,597 (17,063) (18.0)
Performing 77,534 94,253 (16,719) (17.7)
- of which Forborne - 69,682 (69,682) (100.0)
Non-performing - 344 (344) (100.0)
- of which Forborne - 344 (344) (100.0)
Loans to banks (B) 25,146 13,095 12,051 92.0
Performing 25,146 13,095 12,051 92.0

(1) Net of securities mandatorily at fair value totalling EUR 53,078 thousand at as at 31/01/2020 and EUR 63,982 thousand as at 31/12/2018.

Following completion of the foregoing NPE disposal to AMCO, non-performing on-balance-sheet loans
to customers amounted to EUR 1,131.2 miIn (EUR 3,547.7 mlIn in December 2018); the corresponding
share of gross non-performing loans to customers out of total gross loans to customers ("gross NPE ra-
tio") settled at 8.5% (22% in December 2018).

In particular, gross bad loans to customers totalled EUR 227.2 mIn (EUR 1,009.8 mlIn in December
2018) and account for 1.7% of the aggregate.

Gross Unlikely-To-Pay exposures to customers totalled EUR 879.4 min (EUR 2,497.3 in December
2018).

Past due loans, consisting entirely in loans to customers, totalled EUR 24.6 miIn, on a downturn from EUR
40.7 mln as at December 2018.

The coverage ratio for non-performing on-balance-sheet loans to banks and customers was 44.2% com-
pared to 45.9% as at 31 December 2018. In particular, bad loans show a coverage of 69.9%,, Unlikely-
To-Pay exposures of 38.4% and past-due exposures of 18.1%, values that guarantee full compliance
with the coverage targets set by the ECB.

As a whole, losses on loans to customers (including performing exposures) amounted to EUR 591 min
(EUR 1,742.7 mln in December).
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QUALITY OF LOANS AT AMORTISED COST (EUR/000)

31/01/20 31/12/18
Gross Value Net % Gross Value Net %
exposure adjustments exposure  (b) / (a) exposure adjustments exposure  (b) / (a)
(a) (b) (a)-(b) (a) (b) (a)-(b)
On-balance-sheet loans
Non-performing loans
Bad loans 227,245 158,909 68,336 69.9 1,009,785 679,664 330,121 67.3
- customers 227,245 158,909 68,336 69.9 1,009,785 679,664 330,121 67.3
Unlikely-To-Pay exposures 892,208 342,299 549,909 38.4 2,510,072 946,648 1,563,424 37.7
- banks 12,803 3,348 9,455 26.2 12,781 3,326 9,455 26.0
- customers 879,405 338,951 540,454 38.5 2,497,291 943,322 1,553,969 37.8
Past due 24,567 4,446 20,121 18.1 40,658 7,310 33,348 18.0
- customers 24,567 4,446 20,121 18.1 40,658 7,310 33,348 18.0
Total non-performing loans 1,144,020 505,654 638,366 44.2 3,560,515 1,633,622 1,926,893 45.9
- banks 12,803 3,348 9,455 26.2 12,781 3,326 9,455 26.0
- customers 1,131,217 502,306 628,911 44.4 3,547,734 1,630,296 1,917,438 46.0
- of which Forborne 243,587 89,085 154,502 36.6 1,480,954 588,193 892,761 39.7
Performing loans
- banks 4,535,307 384 4,534,923 0.0 1,514,881 230 1,514,651 0.0
- customers 12,208,323 88,651 12,119,672 0.7 12,588,131 112,364 12,475,767 0.9
Total performing loans 16,743,630 89,035 16,654,595 0.5 14,103,012 112,594 13,990,418 0.8
- of which Forborne 307,954 14,865 293,089 4.8 528,272 29,082 499,190 5.5
Total on-balance-sheet loan 17,887,650 594,689 17,292,961 3.3 17,663,527 1,746,216 15,917,311 9.9
- banks 4,548,110 3,732 4,544,378 0.1 1,527,662 3,556 1,524,106 0.2
- customers 13,339,540 590,957 12,748,583 4.4 16,135,865 1,742,660 14,393,205 10.8

(1) As at 31/01/2020, net of debt securities at amortised cost amounting to EUR 1,258,765 thousand (loans to customers), and as at 31/12/2018, net of debt securities at amortised
cost amounting to EUR 1,283,193 thousand (loans to customers).

A geographic breakdown of bad loans shows that Liguria has the largest share of total (76.2%), followed
by Lombardy (8.5%) and Emilia Romagna (3.3%).

BAD LOANS TO CUSTOMERSAS AT 31/12/2018
BAD LOANS I(%‘%EELQ%E;QZSQEI\?T 31/01/2020 100%= EUR 1,000.8 MLN
1.6% 3.2% 2.2%4.7%
2.6%1.9% o 2.5%
Hliguria 2.7% " Liguria 5.6%
M Lombardy 3.3% ® Lombardy
¥ Emilia Romagna
B Emili
Emilia Romagna 8.5% e tuscany .
W Tuscany oiedmont 15.4%
eamen 51.7%
M Piedmont W Lazio
W lazio Sicily
5.2%
Sicily Other

Other 76.2%

12.6%

The breakdown by business segment shows a total amount of bad loans for non-financial companies and
personal businesses of EUR 105.3 mln (46.4%). The highest share of bad loans is in the "Manufacturing
activities" segment (EUR 26.1 min, 11.5%), followed by "Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehi-
cles and motorcycles" (EUR 24.2 min, 10.7%).

The “Financial companies” segment ranks second in volume and accounts for 30.3% of the total.
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BAD LOANS TO CUSTOMERS " - BREAKDOWN BY BUSINESS SEGMENT (cur/000)

Situation as at

31/01/2020 31/12/2018

% %

Public Administration 999 0.4% 1,585 0.2%
Financial and insurance businesses 68,763 30.3% 24,252 2.4%
Non-financial businesses and personal businesses 105,380 46.4% 839,560 83.1%
Manufacturing 26,108 11.5% 146,736 14.5%
Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motorvehicles and motorcycles 24,229 10.7% 108,903 10.8%
Construction 18,769 8.3% 341,867 33.9%
Real Estate 12,936 5.7% 74,198 7.3%
Health and social care 4,582 2.0% 5,488 0.5%
Other 18,756 8.3% 162,368 16.1%
Private social institutions and non-classified entities 252 0.1% 3,618 0.4%
Households 51,851 22.8% 140,770 13.9%
Total bad loans 227,245 100.0% 1,009,785 100.0%

(1) Gross of value adjustments and net of debt securities at amortised cost.
The gross bad loans/total loans ratio is 1.7%.

BAD LOANS/TOTAL LOANS " - BREAKDOWN BY BUSINESS SEGMENT (pcrcentage values)

Situation as at

31/01/2020 31/12/2018

Public Administration 0.1% 0.1%
Financial companies 20.3% 3.5%
Non-financial businesses and personal businesses 2.0% 9.9%

- of which @:

Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motorvehicles and motorcycles 2.3% 7.1%

Manufacturing 2.7% 9.9%

Transportation and storage 0.5% 1.9%

Real Estate 1.8% 6.9%

Construction 3.7% 21.2%
Private social institutions and non-classified entities 0.3% 4.1%
Households 1.0% 2.6%
Total © 1.7% 6.3%

(1) Gross of value adjustments and net of debt securities at amortised cost.
(2) Main business segments in terms of overall credit exposure.
(3) Buy/sell-back repos (assets) with financial institutions are included in the denominator (gross receivables).

The securities portfolio amounts to EUR 2,095.7 min, down 2.6% as compared to December 2018.

As shown in the table below, debt securities (EUR 1,794.6 mln) make up 85.6% of the portfolio (alt-
hough consisting mainly of government securities, this item also includes securities issued by securitisa-
tion vehicles). Equities amount to EUR 288.9 mlIn and include the 3.50% equity investment in the Bank of
ltaly, totalling EUR 262.4 mln. Units in UCITS (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Se-
curities) totalled EUR 12.1 mln.

Net of the stake in the Bank of Italy, Italian Government bonds account for 77.3% of the total with a fi-
nancial duration of 1.2 years.

As regards the breakdown under the international accounting standards (IAS/IFRS), securities at amor-
tised cost totalled EUR 1,258.8 mln and accounted for 60.1% of the securities portfolio; financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income amounted to EUR 783.7 min (37.4% of the securities
portfolio); financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value stood at EUR 53.1 mlin, whereas securities
Held For Trading (HFT) totalled EUR 114 thousand.
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SECURITIES PORTFOLIO (EUR/000)

Situation as at Change
31/01/2020 31/12/2018 Absolute %
Debt securities 1,794,625 1,830,647 (36,022) (2.0)
Held for trading 114 565 (457) (79.8)
Mandatorily at fair value 40,236 48,869 (8,633) (17.7)
ﬁfcfsli;;/alue through other comprehensive 495,510 498,020 (2,510) (0.5)
At amortised cost 1,258,765 1,283,193 (24,428) (1.9)
Equity instruments 288,904 314,430 (25,526) (8.1)
Mandatorily at fair value 718 1,012 (294) (29.7)
Af fair value through other comprehensive 288,186 313,418
income
Units in UCITS 12,124 14,101 (1,977)  (14.0)
Mandatorily at fair value 12,124 14,101 (1,977) (14.0)
Total 2,095,653 2,159,178 (63,525) (2.9)
of which:
Held for trading 114 565 (451) (79.8)
Mandatorily at fair value 53,078 63,982 (10,904) (17.0)
At fair value through other comprehensive
income 783,696 811,438
At amortised cost 1,258,765 1,283,193 (24,428) (1.9)

As at 31 January 2020, the book value of the Group's exposures to sovereign states amounted to EUR
1,417.1 min. The tables below show that the nominal value of these exposures amounted to EUR
1,367.6 mln, while their fair value stood at EUR 1,422.7 mln.

Total exposure with sovereign states as at 31/01/2020 (EUR/000)

Nominal value

Book value

Fair Value

Exposure with EU countries

ltaly 1,367,558 1,417,061 1,422,726
Total exposure with EU countries 1,367,558 1,417,061 1,422,726

Exposure with other countries
Argentina 47 - R
Total exposure with other countries 47 - -
Total Carige Group 1,367,605 1,417,061 1,422,726

Financial assets
measvured at fair
valuve through profit
or loss (IFRS 7, para.

Financial assets at fair

value through other
h

Financial assets

ivei

(IFRS 7, para. 8, letter

at amortised cost

Total book value

(IFRS 7, para. 8,

8, letter a)) h)) letter )

Exposure with EU countries

ltaly 19 495,510 921,532 1,417,061
Total exposure with EU countries 19 495,510 921,532 1,417,061
Exposure with other countries

Argentina - - - -
Total exposure with other countries - - - -
Total Carige Group 19 495,510 921,532 1,417,061

EUR/000

Tax assets and liabilities respectively amounted to EUR 1,664.2 mln and EUR 10.8 mln.
Deferred tax assets totalled EUR 1,076.2 mln.
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FIXED ASSETS AND EQUITY INVESTMENTS

The value of property and equipment amounted to EUR 883.3 mln, up 21.6% during the year. Assets
used in the business (EUR 499.8 miIn) were down 11.2%, while those held for investment (EUR 177.6
mln) were up 12.4%.

Intangible fixed assets amounted to EUR 78.4 min, up from EUR 53.7 min as at December 2018.

Equity investments totalled EUR 98.2 mln (EUR 99.3 min in December 2018) and were mainly in relation
to ‘Autostrada dei Fiori’ (@ company subject to significant influence, valued at equity) and companies
carried at cost.

ANNUAL CHANGES IN EQUITY INVESTMENTS (£ur/000)

31/01/2020 31/12/2018
A. Opening balance 99,318 98,569
B. Increases 11 753
B.1 Purchases 11
B.2 Write-backs
B.3 Revaluations R
B.4 Other increases - 753
C. Decreases 1,176 4
C1. Sales -
C2. Value adjustments 1,152 4
C3. Write-downs -
C4. Other increases 24
D. Closing balance 98,153 99,318

CASH FLOW STATEMENT, SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND RISK MANAGEMENT

In the Temporary Administration period, liquidity used in operations amounted to a total of EUR 255.7
mln: operations generated a negative flow of EUR 202.9 min, financial assets absorbed EUR 1,500.4
mln in cash, while financial liabilities generated EUR 1,447.7 mIn worth of cash flows. Investment activi-
ties absorbed cash for an amount of EUR 134.5 min, while EUR 380.8 min was generated by funding.
The total net cash flow used in the year amounted to EUR 9.4 min.

After deducting treasury shares for an amount of EUR 15.6 min', equity totalled to EUR 1,586.9 min as
at 31 January 2020, and consisted of: share capital for an amount of EUR 1,915.2 min, reserves total-
ling EUR 24.3 mln, negative valuation reserves for an amount of EUR 91.1 mlin (of which EUR 73.6 mIn
referring to the negative cashflow hedge reserve) and a loss for the period totalling EUR 869.8 min.

The Parent Company’s share of consolidated shareholders’ equity and consolidated net profit (loss) for
the period are obtained from Banca Carige's shareholders’ equity and net profit (loss) for the period
through the following changes:

! The treasury shares held by Banca Carige as at 31 January 2020 numbered 219,513 and were not traded during the year.
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RECONCILIATION BETWEEN PARENT COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED EQUITY
AND PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

(EUR/000)
Shareholders' equih  of which net
profit (loss)

Balance as at 31/01/2020 - as per Parent Company financial statements 1,503,754 (850,470)
Difference from carrying amount (42,058) (645)
Impairment of goodwill recognised in the consolidated financial statements (51,931) -
Cancellation, at consolidated level, of impairment of equity investments in subsidiaries 185,601 4,669
Dividends distributed by associated companies and written off (9,399) (9,399)
Other 917 (13,932)
Consolidated balance as at 31/01/2020 1,586,884 (869,777)

The Parent Company, Banca Carige, in compliance with the law and regulations and pursuant to the
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code for listed companies, has adopted an Internal Control
System (ICS) designed to identify, measure and continually verify the risks typical of the Bank's business.
From an operational perspective, the ICS includes 3 levels of control:

- Line controls (1st level) for the purpose of ensuring the correct performance of operations; these are
carried out by the operating units or built-in in the IT procedures;

- Risk management controls (2nd level), aimed at defining the methods for measuring risk, verifying
compliance with the limits assigned to the various operating functions and monitoring the attainment
of their respective risk-return objectives. These controls are assigned to units other than operating
units, i.e.: the Manager in charge of preparing the company’s accounting documents, Risk Manage-
ment, Rating Systems Validation, Compliance, Anti-Money Laundering;

- Internal auditing (3rd level) is performed by the Internal Control department (which is different and
independent from the operating units). Its tasks are to assess the adequacy and effectiveness of first
and second level controls, to identify irregularities, breaches of procedures and regulations and to
evaluate the functional efficiency of the Internal Control System as a whole.

Risk-taking policies in the Carige Group are set by the RAF (Risk Appetite Framework), approved by the

Parent Company's Board of Directors, which defines the risk-return target profile which the Group intends

to adopt in line with its business model and Strategic Plan.

The Parent Company has steering and supervision functions in respect of all risks, primarily via an inte-

grated risk management of Pillar 1 and Pillar 2 risks under the Bank of ltaly's supervisory instructions

(circ. No. 285 of 17 December 2013 as later amended).

The different risk categories are monitored by the 2nd level control functions, and the results are subject

to periodic reporting to the Board of Directors, Risk Committee, Risk control committee and Top Man-

agement.

It should be recalled that in prior years a number of significant measures were taken to qualitatively and

quantitatively strengthen the Internal Auditing, Risk Management and Compliance functions of the Parent

Company and further activities are in progress to reinforce the supporting information system. Partly in

light of the observations made at a Group level by the ECB under the Supervisory Review and Evaluation

Process (SREP) and further to subsequent inspections, progress was made throughout the year in im-

provement initiatives aimed at further strengthening group-wide risk management and control.

* Kk * %k x

The capital strengthening effort and derisking transaction (although not fully completed) conducted in
2019 made it possible to drive the indicators to levels exceeding those required by the ECB in its SREP
Decision of December 2017.

With regard to the Pillar 2 capital guidelines under the SREP process, the Group is in line with the ECB's
recommendation set out in the 2017 SREP letter. With respect to maintaining the Pillar 2 capital guide-
lines for the TCR, the bank will be in breach of guidance on the Total Capital Ratio when the new SREP
decision is nofified.

In view of this, it is worth recalling that, in acknowledging the COVID-19 pandemic and the consequent,
exceptional stress scenario of the economic and financial situation, in its Communication of 12 March
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2020 ("ECB Banking Supervision provides temporary capital and operational relief in reaction to corona-
virus'), the ECB has resolved that banks may temporarily operate below the level of capital defined by the

Pillar 2 Guidance and the Capital Conservation Buffer.

The fully-phased in TCRis 12.0%, T1R is 10.0% and CET1 is 10.0%.

BREAKDOWN OF CONSOLIDATED OWN FUNDS

(EUR/000)

Situation as at

31/01/2020

31/12/2018

Common Equity Tier 1 capital before deductions

Share capital

Reserves from profit and other reserves
Share premium reserve
Profit (+) / Loss (-) for the year

OCl reserves

IFRSY Phase-in impact on CET1
Bis Ill Phase-in impact on CET1

Deductions from common equity Tier 1 capital

Goodwill

Bis Il deductions with 10% threshold

Bis Il deductions with 17.65% threshold

Excess of deduction from AT1 items over AT1 capital
Other negative elements and prudential filters

Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1)
Additional Tier 1 capital (AT1)

AT1 instruments (capital)

AT1 instruments (share premium)

Innovative capital instruments (Grandfathering)
Phase-in impact on AT1

Excess of deduction from AT1 items over AT1 capital

Tier 1 (T1) (CET1+AT1)

Tier 2 (T2)

Own Funds (T1+T2)

1,847,599
1,915,164
24,257
623,958
(869,777)
(91,146)
245,144

551,100

35,182

515,918

1,296,499
175

1,296,674
206,796
1,503,469

2,097,999
1,845,163
296,651

(272,824)
(103,776)
332,785

525,257

32,419

492,838
1,572,743

2,427
1

2,426

1,575,170
321,774
1,896,943
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CONSOLIDATED OWN FUNDS AND SOLVENCY RATIOS

(EUR/000) Situation as at
31/01/2020 31/12/2018
Own Funds
Common Equity Tier 1 capital 1,296,499 1,572,743
Additional Tier 1 capital 175 2,427
Tier 1 capital 1,296,674 1,575,170
Tier 2 capital 206,796 321,774
Own Funds 1,503,469 1,896,943
Risk-weighted assets
Credit risk 9,293,758 13,005,688
Credit risk Bis 111 ) 680,094 766,693
Market risk 3,093 7,384
Operational risk 804,880 947,506
Total risk-weighted assets 10,781,824 14,727,271
Capital requirements
Credit risk 743,501 1,040,455
Credit risk Bis lll 54,408 61,335
Market risk 247 591
Operational risk 64,390 75,801
Total 862,546 1,178,182
Ratios
Common Equity Tier 1 capital/Total risk-weighted assets 12.0% 10.7%
Tier 1 capital/Total risk-weighted assets 12.0% 10.7%
Own Funds/Total risk-weighted assets 13.9% 12.9%

(1) Includes risk weights for DTAs and non-deductible non-material investments.
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GROUP COMPANIES

Provided below is a summary of the Profit and Loss and Balance Sheet results of the Group companies.
Data for the subsidiary banks and Reoco are drawn from the separate Financial Statements for the period
ending 31 December 2019, as approved by their respective Boards of Directors. The reporting packages
as at 31 January 2020, as approved by the subsidiaries” Boards of Directors for the sole purpose of pre-
paring these Consolidated Financial Statements, show no significant deviations.

For further details on the scope of consolidation and related-party transactions, please refer to Part A -
Accounting Policies, Section 3 — Scope and methods of consolidation and Part H — Related-party transac-
tions of the Explanatory Notes.

A. The Parent Company: Banca Carige

As at 31 January 2020, overall funding from customers of the Parent Company, Banca Carige S.p.A.,
totalled EUR 35,682.8 miIn, on an upturn as compared to December 2018 (+7.5%). Direct deposits
amounted to EUR 15,330.6 mln, whilst indirect deposits totalled EUR 20,352.2 mln.

Loans to customers, net of value adjustments for an amount of EUR 571.8 mln, totalled EUR 12,734.5
min. Gross of provisions, the aggregate rises to EUR 13,306.2 mIn, down 17.1% on December 2018
primarily as a result of the disposal of the non-performing loan portfolio.

Mid-long term loans (EUR 9,777.1 min) account for 73.5% of total loans; short-term loans (EUR 3,302.4
min) account for 24.8% of total loans. Bad loans were down 75% to EUR 226.7 mlIn, mainly driven by
the foregoing disposal of bad loans to AMCO.

The securities portfolio amounted to EUR 2,083.2 mlIn, down 17.7% as compared to December 2018,
mainly on account of trends in debt securities held for trading.

The income statement for the period as at 31 January 2020 posted a negative result of EUR 838.1 min,
as against a negative EUR 279.8 min as at December 2018. Net Interest Income totalled EUR 114.3 min
(EUR 218.2 min in December 2018). Net fees and commissions amounted to EUR 210.2 min (EUR
228.1 min as at December 2018). Net gains (losses) from disposal/repurchase of financial assets and
liabilities' contributed a positive EUR 30.4 mln. Losses on disposal of financial assets at amortised cost
amounted to EUR 29 mln; this item should be read together with net losses on impairment of loans,
which amount to EUR 435.8 mIn and are mainly the result of the completion of the foregoing disposal of
non-performing loans to AMCO, a transaction that obtained the Bank’s total derisking. The overall net
impact of this transaction on the income statement, spread across items 10, 100a, 110b, 130aq,
amounts to approximately EUR 346.5 min.

Operating expenses totalled EUR 717.9 mIn (EUR 508.8 mlIn in December 2018). Personnel expenses
amounted to EUR 371.2 mIn (EUR 261.4 min in December 2018) and include provisions to the Redun-
dancy Fund (EUR 114.5 mln) recognised after signing of the union agreements in November 2019; other
administrative expenses amounted to EUR 228.4 mIn (EUR 239.8 mln in December 2018.

Net provisions for risks and charges amounted to EUR 29.9 mIn (41.5 mln in December 2018) and con-
tain charges for an amount of EUR 21.7 min in relation to indemnification claims on loan disposals
completed in prior periods.

Net adjustments to/recoveries on property & equipment and intangible assets totalled EUR 66.4 min
(EUR 17.4 mln as at December 2018). The item was affected, partly, by the write-down of the entire port-
folio of not-for-own-use real estate assets (EUR 31.7 min) and, partly, by the adoption of IFRS16 in
2019, which resulted in the recognition of "rights of use" subject to amortisation (EUR 13.6 mIn over thir-
teen months) and interest expense (EUR 0.9 mlin over thiteen months) to replace rents payable, which
were recognised under other administrative expenses until 2018 (EUR 16.3 mlIn in December 2018).
Other net operating income and expense totalled a negative EUR 22.1 mln (vs. a positive EUR 51.3 min
in December 2018), mainly on the back of ‘other expenses’, which incorporates the outcome of the set-
tlement agreements with the Apollo / Amissima Group and with Credit Fondiario, as well as expenses in
relation to the issuance of covered bonds and securitisation transactions.

! Income Statement items 70, 80, 90, 100 b), c) and 110
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Profit (loss) before tax from continuing operations was a negative EUR 811.7 mln; considering EUR 16.3
min in income tax, a net loss of EUR 838.1 miIn was posted for the period.

B. Subsidiary banks.

Since 2006, Banca Carige has been the Group’s sole retail bond issuer, with all other Group banks be-
ing in charge of placement. Accordingly, in order to manage maturity transformation more effectively,
Carige’s Board of Directors resolved to cover the medium/long-term financial demand of subsidiary
banks via Carige’s subscription to bonds issued by the subsidiaries. For subsidiaries, this process results
in a higher amount of assets under custody and bonds issued, with a lower amount of funds borrowed on
the interbank lending market.

As at 31 December 2019, Banca del Monte di Lucca S.p.A.'s overall funding totalled EUR 958.8 mln,
down from EUR 1,067.9 mlIn over the 12-month period. Direct deposits amounted to EUR 564.4 min,
down 12% from December 2018; indirect deposits totalled EUR 394.5 mln, down 7.5% since the begin-
ning of the year, following the negative trend in assets under custody.

Before value adjustments, loans to customers amounted to EUR 451 min, down with respect to Decem-
ber 2018 (-27.6%), primarily as a result of the disposal of the non-performing loan portfolio. Mid-long
term loans (EUR 389.1 mln) account for 86.3% of total loans, down 13.6%; short-term loans, totalling
EUR 61.7 mln and accounting for 13.7% of total, decreased by 19.1%. The securities portfolio amounts
to EUR 21.5 mln, down 12.6% Y/Y, and includes EUR 21.2 mln in debt securities at amortised cost.

The income statement for the period posted a net loss of EUR 16.9 mIn, compared to a net loss of EUR
5.1 min as at December 2018. Net Interest Income totalled EUR 10 mln, down 6% from December
2018; net fees and commissions amounted to EUR 7.5 mln, as compared to EUR 8.2 mIn as at Decem-
ber 2018 (-8,7%). Net profit (loss) from trading amounted to a positive EUR 106 thousand and Net profit
(loss) from hedging amounted to a positive EUR 152 thousand. Profits /losses on disposal or repurchase
of financial assets at amortised cost were a positive EUR 491 thousand (vs. a negative EUR 719 thou-
sand in December 2018) and are traceable to the non-performing loan disposal to AMCO. This item
was determined by taking into account the value adjustments already recognised in the interim financial
statements under item 130 a) Net losses/recoveries on impairment of loans”, and should therefore be
read in conjunction with this item. As a whole, Net interest and other banking income settled at EUR 18.1
min, largely stable compared to December 2018 (4+0.9%).

Net losses on impairment of loans totalled EUR 14.8 mln, up significantly compared to 2018 as a result
of the completion of the afore-mentioned non-performing loan disposal, which led to a major reduction
of the NPE ratio. The overall net impact of the disposal on the profit and loss for the period was EUR
12.3 min.

Operating costs amounted to EUR 21.1 mln, up from EUR 14.7 mln in December 2018; personnel ex-
penses amounted to EUR 14.2 min, on an uptrend compared to EUR 8.4 mIn as at December 2018,
driven primarily by EUR 5.9 mln in provisions made to the industry's Solidarity Fund after the union
agreement signed in November 2019; other administrative expenses totalled EUR 7.4 mln as compared
to EUR 7.8 min in December 2018.

Considering EUR 334 thousand in income tax recoveries, a net loss of EUR 16.9 min was posted for the
period.

As at 31 December 2019, Banca Cesare Ponti S.p.A.’s overall funding from customers totalled EUR
1,739.2 mln, down compared to 1,785.6 min in December 2018, primarily on the back of the trend in
indirect funding.

In particular, direct deposits amounted to EUR 247.4 min, up Y/Y (+17.9%), while indirect deposits
amounted to EUR 1,491.8 mln, down 5.3%.

Loans to customers, before value adjustments, amounted to EUR 43.3 miIn (EUR 52 mIn as at December
2018; -16.7%); medium / long-term loans (EUR 37.3 mln; -11.8%) account for 86.2% of the total;
short-term loans amounted to EUR 6 mlIn (12.7% of the total; +7.5%). The securities portfolio amounts
to EUR 43.8 mln (vs. EUR 39.9 mIn as at December 2018).
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The profit/loss account for the period posted a negative result of EUR 694 thousand, as against a posi-
tive EUR 728 thousand as at December 2018. Net Interest Income totalled EUR 1.6 min, up from EUR
1.2 mln in December 2018; net fees and commissions amounted to EUR 7.6 mln, down 15.7% from
December 2018 (EUR 9 mln). Net profit (loss) from trading amounted to a positive EUR 281 thousand
and Net profit (loss) from hedging amounted to EUR 302 thousand, both on a slight downtrend as com-
pared to the prior period. Profits /losses on disposal or repurchase of financial assets at amortised cost
were a positive EUR 305 thousand (nil in December 2018) and are traceable to the non-performing loan
disposal to AMCO. This item incorporates the residual effect of the disposal, taking account of the value
adjustments already recognised in the interim financial statements under item 130 a) Net loss-
es/recoveries on impairment of loans, and should therefore be read in conjunction with this item.

Net interest and other banking income totalled EUR 10.1 mlIn, down 7.4% with respect to December
2018. Net losses on impairment of loans totalled EUR 1.1 min and, as stated, are traceable to the com-
pletion of the afore-mentioned non-performing loan disposal. The overall net impact of the disposal on
profit and loss for the period was EUR 696 thousand. Operating expenses totalled EUR 9.8 mlIn, down
1.8% from EUR 9.9 min in December 2018: personnel expenses amounted to EUR 6.1 min, on a down-
trend compared to EUR 6.4 mIn as at December 2018 (-5.4%) largely on account of the reorganisation
of seconded staff in 2018, whose effects materialised in 2019. This reduction also offset the non-
recurring cost of the Bank's participation in the Group's redundancy fund at the end of November 2019,
which resulted in provisions for approximately EUR 290 thousand. Other administrative expenses
amounted to EUR 5.1 mln, down compared to EUR 6.5 mln in December 2018 (-21.8%).

Considering EUR 56 thousand in income tax recoveries, the net loss for the year amounts to EUR 694
thousand.

C. Financial subsidiaries.

Argo Mortgage 2 S.r.l., a special purpose vehicle for the securitisation of mortgage loans to consumer
customers, established by Banca Carige in June 2004, posted collections for an overall amount of EUR
1,006.3 min, EUR 10.2 mln of which in the period from1 January 2019 to 31 January 2020. As at 31
January 2020, securities were outstanding for a total amount of EUR 41.8 min, of which Class B notes
for an amount of EUR 12.5 mIn and Class C notes for an amount of EUR 29.3 min.

Carige Covered Bond S.r.l. is the vehicle company which was set up to back two medium / long-term
funding programmes.

With regard to the first programme launched in 2008 (“OBG1”), as at 31 January 2020 the Company
had purchased EUR 8.4 bn worth of loans originated by the banks of the Banca Carige Group, whose
outstanding debt totals EUR 2.8 bn, and registered collections for an amount of EUR 606.9 min in the
period from 1 January 2019 to 31 January 2020.

EUR 130 mlIn worth of securities issued were derecognised in the same period and no new issuance was
made. Covered bonds issued under the bond issuance programme and not yet re-paid amount to EUR

2.3 bn.

With reference to the programme launched in 2016 (“OBG3”), the Company purchased EUR 904.5 min
worth of loans originated by the banks of the Banca Carige Group, whose outstanding debt totalled EUR
712.4 min as at 31 January 2020, and registered collections for an amount of EUR 112.6 mln in the pe-
riod from 1 January 2019 to 31 January 2020.

As at 31 January 2020, covered bonds issued under the bond issuance programme and not yet re-paid
amounted to EUR 530 mln, whereas EUR 45 mln worth of securities issued were derecognised in the pe-
riod from 1 January 2019 to 31 January 2020 and no new issuance was made.

Carige Covered Bond 2 S.r.l. is the special purpose vehicle set up to back an additional medium to
long-term issuance programme for a maximum amount of EUR 5 bn.

As at 31 January 2020, the Company purchased EUR 1.5 bn worth of loans originated by the banks of
the Banca Carige Group, whose outstanding debt totals approximately EUR 0.4 bn, and registered col-
lections for an amount of EUR 163.8 mln in the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 January 2020.

58



As at the same date, covered bonds issued under the bond issuance programme and not yet re-paid
amounted to EUR 265 mlin, whereas EUR 85 miIn worth of securities issued were cancelled in the period
from 1 January 2019 to 31 January 2020 and no new issuance was made.

Lanterna Finance S.r.l. is a special purpose vehicle for the securitisation of commercial mortgage and
signature loans, established by Banca Carige in 2015, which posted an overall EUR 532.4 min in collec-
tions, EUR 80 mlIn of which in the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 January 2020.

In 2018, as part of a new securitisation, Lanterna Finance S.r.l. purchased an additional portfolio of
commercial mortgage and signature loans and posted EUR 127.6 min in collections in relation to this
second securitisation in the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 January 2020.

With reference to these transactions, securities were outstanding for an amount of EUR 354.3 mln as at
31 January 2020, of which Class A notes for an amount of EUR 64.2 mln and Class B notes for an

amount of EUR 290.1 min.
Class A securities were placed with institutional investors.

Lanterna Lease S.r.l., a special purpose vehicle established in 2016 and restructured in 2019 for the se-
curitisation of receivables arising from financial lease agreements originated by Banca Carige, posted an
overall amount of EUR 168.7 min in collections, of which EUR 47.2 mln in the period from 1 January
2019 to 31 January 2020. As at 31 January 2020, the following securities were outstanding for a total
amount of EUR 196.8 min: Class A notes for an amount of EUR 76 mIn and Class B notes for an
amount of EUR 120.8 min.

D. Other main subsidiaries.

As it was no longer in the Carige Group's inferest to continue operating in the trust services sector, on 2
February 2018, the Board of Directors of the Parent Company vested the Chief Executive Officer with the
powers to communicate to the subsidiary Centro Fiduciario C.F. S.p.A. that conditions were not there for
the company to obtain registration as a trust in the new Register pursuant to art. 106 of Legislative De-
cree no. 385/93 and therefore asked the subsidiary to fulfil its obligations towards its customers and the
Supervisory Authorities as are required to discontinue operations and relinquish the procedures for ob-
taining registration in the above-mentioned Register.

On 28 March 2018, the Shareholders’ Meeting of Centro Fiduciario C.F. S.p.A. resolved to wind up the
company, appointing a receiver. On 5 April 2018, the wind-up period of the company began and the
Ministry of Economic Development appointed a Standing Receiver on 6 June 2018 to verify the wind-up
progress. To date, all customer accounts have been closed and the wind-up is in its final stages.

In 2019, Carige REOCO's activity outlined in the 2018-2023 Strategic Plan, as updated by a resolution
of the Board of Directors on 28 February 2019 and previously endorsed by the Board of Temporary Ad-
ministrators, focused on the development of projects in Parma, Genoa and Mantua. The latter two were
acquired in January 2019. The purchase and development of real estate projects relating to the coop-
erative companies belonging to Abitcoop, initially planned to be executed directly by Carige REOCO,
was instead carried out through the newly-established and wholly owned subsidiary Abitare R.E. S.r.l.
Financial year 2019 closed with a loss of EUR 1.2 min, entirely attributable to the prudential write-down
by EUR 1.3 min in the value of the equity investment in Abitare R.E., following the subsidiary's negative
result for the period.

The result was achieved thanks to a total production value of EUR 21.9 mln, as against EUR 21.4 mln in
production costs and EUR 333 thousand in financial charges.

Revenues from sales amounted to EUR 4.3 min, of which EUR 3.7 min for the real estate assets in Parma
and EUR 0.6 min for the real estate assets in Genoa. Overall, these revenues generated EUR 1.4 min in
proceeds from sales.

Production costs (EUR 21.4 mln) mainly consist of purchases and conversion of the development areas
(EUR 20 mln, of which EUR 19.7 min capitalised) and include EUR 18.4 mln in purchase costs for the
Genoa and Mantua buildings.
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SOCIAL AND CULTURAL PROMOTION ACTIVITIES

The Group’s promotional activity focused on consolidating the Carige brand at local and national level,
including via communication campaigns primarily for the promotion of products and services. As usual, a
Christmas greeting campaign was organised at year-end to improve the Group’s image across the areas
of the Bank’s footprint.

In the realm of culture, on the weekends of 4 May and 12 October, the Banca Carige Group joined the
'Rolli Days" initiative as the main sponsor. The popular event, which attracts over one hundred thousand
visitors per edition, is promoted by the Municipality of Genoa to promote the history and tradition of the
city in the 17" century, the period of its greatest splendour. On this occasion, numerous historic palaces
are opened to display their artistic treasures. Banca Carige also opened its art collections to the public,
welcoming over six thousand visitors in four days.

The commitment of BML to cultural promotion reached its apex with the concert on 20 December, held
at the Teatro Comunale del Giglio in Lucca, with Puccini opera recitals performed by soprano Maria
Agresti. The concert offered the opportunity to retrace a journey into the world of the great musician from
Lucca who significantly influenced the musical trends between the 19™ and 20" centuries.

In line with continued efforts to promote Italian excellence, Banca Cesare Ponti promoted, among others,
a meeting at its Milan head office dedicated to the excellence of the city of Milan, which was atftended,
among others, by Roberta Guaineri, Municipal Councillor for Sport, Leisure and Quality of Life of the
City of Milan. In the field of culture and arts, Banca Ponti also sponsored various initiatives dedicated to
contemporary art with the promotion of artists and collections in its own exhibition spaces at its head of-
fice in Genoa.

Traditionally present in sport, the Carige Group continued to sponsor local volleyball, basketball, water
polo, tennis and football teams, in order to encourage young people's participation in sport and also to
support small sporting organisations in the local communities in which the Group is present.

The promotion of social activities translated into support for a number of voluntary associations engaged
in solidarity projects and the several initiatives they carry out at a national level. Of particular importance
is the commitment of the Banca Carige Group to Gaslini Onlus, a not-for-profit organisation that sup-
ports the projects of the Istituto Giannina Gaslini paediatric hospital. The sum allocated by the Group to
Christmas gifts for 2019 was donated to this institution.

The Banca Carige Group's attention for young people also took the form of regular educational training
sessions on money saving for schools. Ongoing collaboration with the University of Genoa and a num-
ber of other universities from all over ltaly fits within this context. The most significant event addressing
youth, the Festival della Cultura Creativa, was promoted by the Banca Carige Group under a national
project supported by the ltalian Banking Association (ABI) involving around 200 students from primary
and secondary school in the province of Genoa.

Worthy of note was the collaboration for meetings and conferences organised by Professional and Trade
Associations in the various regions of ltaly in which the Banca Carige Group operates.

Thanks to its partnership with organisations and consortia, the Group similarly maintained a significant
institutional presence in tourism, qualifying as the financial partner of choice for tourism operators.

In 2019, the Bank also maintained its commitment to the publishing industry, by promoting the culture
and information magazine, “La Casana”, with the goal of championing culture and the artistic heritage
of the areas where the Group operates.

Finally, particular appreciation was expressed for "Vetrine d'artista", an exhibition (in collaboration with
the "Renzo Aiolfi" association) of works by the most important 20™ century painters from Savona and
emerging artists, which are on display in the windows of the Banca Carige Head Office of the local Mar-
ket Area of Western Liguria, at Corso ltalia, in Savona.

As regards the enhancement of cultural heritage, Carige took part in the annual event “Invito a Palazzo”,
promoted by the ltalian Banking Association and celebrating its 15" year, which allows art lovers and
tourists to admire the pieces of art in the Bank’s art collection, which are usually not accessible to the
public. During the event, Banca Carige's headquarters hosted the exhibition "Sul filo del lusso nel Secolo
dei Genovesi" (On the thread of luxury in the Genoese Century), centred on fashion, in particular the use
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of lace garments, in the 17th/18th century in Genoa. 2019 also saw the opening to the public of the
15th century Palazzo del Monte di Pietd (Mount of Piety) in Lucca, today's headquarters of Banca del
Monte di Lucca (BML), with its art collections and the exhibition “Dieci anni di storia ed uno sguardo al
futuro” (Ten years of history and a look to the future), celebrating ten years of exhibitions organised by
Fondazione BML. Savona’s Head Office in the Western Liguria market area also opened to the public,
hosting the exhibition “Fotografie d’epoca di Savona” ("Vintage photographs of Savona"). With a selec-
tion of photographs from the Billa Photographic Archive owned by Banca Carige, the exhibition docu-
ments the history of Savona from the 1930s to the 1950s.

MAIN RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES?

AND OUTLOOK ON OPERATIONS

Main risks and uncertainties

Business operations in 2019 unfolded against a macroeconomic scenario which was still characterised
by a phase of uncertainty, despite some timid signs of recovery. Trade has been expanding again and
commercial tensions between the USA and China have eased, but prospects remain uncertain due to
persisting geopolitical tensions.

The European economy was slowed down mainly by the weakness of the manufacturing industry, with
potential repercussions on the growth of the service sector.

With regard to ltaly, the stagnation phase continued, with a slightly positive GDP trend, supported by
domestic demand and a positive contribution from changes in inventories, against a sharp contraction in
foreign trade.

The Banca Carige Group manages risks that are typical of the banking business -including liquidity, mar-
ket, credit and compliance risk. For this purpose, it uses regulatory models and more advanced ap-
proaches that, over time, have made it possible to expand the range of risks monitored and improve the
assessment of capital adequacy from both a regulatory and an economic point of view.

The main risks and uncertainties identified stem from the macroeconomic, monetary and political context,
which is characterised by significant international trade tensions and a slowdown in global operations,
with monetary conditions that will continue to remain very accommodative in the future.

The impacts of a continuously evolving regulatory framework (caused by the adoption of new accounting
standards, a new definition of default, more stringent rules on exposures to sovereign states, the EU-wide
process of transposition of the new Stable Funding and Leverage Ratio regulatory frameworks, changes
in the calculation of the capital requirement on credit risk) are likewise an element of uncertainty with
specific regard to liquidity and capital profiles and the IRRBB rate and, more in general, the entire super-
visory mechanism (Banking Union, Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM), the introduction of the Bank Re-
covery and Resolution Directive (BRRD), the introduction of the bail-in mechanism as a tool for the reso-
lution of failing banks); chief among the uncertainties connected with the SSM are the potential requests
that may be made as a result of the ongoing on-site and remote inspections conducted by the ECB on
the Bank’s operations.

The difficulties of the macro-economic and financial context, reflected in the real economy, will hamper a
robust growth in funding/lending volumes, and will affect both lending and the quality of loans granted.
In addition to these challenges, the lending sector is affected by specific, inherent issues, such as reduced
Net Interest Income in a scenario of low interest rates (a reversal of the current expansionary monetary
policy has been further delayed), difficulties in compressing operating expenses further, combined with
the need to support investments in digitisation, high provisions and/or losses on loan portfolios to meet
the need for a rapid disposal of large portions of the NPE portfolio to specialised players.

2 The methods used by the Group to manage risks are reported in Part E of the Notes to these Financial Statements.
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Specifically, in addition to the probable impact of the above-mentioned factors, the Group has managed
the ongoing turnaround and necessary compliance with the asset and capital quality requirements of the
supervisory authority within the framework of the Temporary Administration procedure which was im-
posed on the Bank by the ECB on 2 January 2019 and came to a close on 31 January 2020. The ECB-
appointed Temporary Administrators outlined the short-and medium-term strategy required to sustainably
overcome this challenging phase in the new Strategic Plan (presented to the financial community on 27
February 2019). This Plan was functional for the pursuit of a business combination process during the
first half of 2019. For this purpose, contacts were established with various (mainly financial) counterpar-
ties; however, the process did not materialise into a business combination. On 24 June 2019, the ltalian
Interbank Deposit Protection Fund stepped in, announcing its utmost willingness to support the Bank's
rescue plan including by means of the Voluntary Intervention Scheme. In the meantime, AMCO (former
‘Societd per la Gestione di Attivita - SGA S.p.A.") had submitted a binding derisking proposal, for the
purchase of the non-performing portfolio and the granting of a guarantee on a large portion of the per-
forming loan portfolio, characterised by greater risk of decay. At the end of July 2019, the Temporary
Administrators updated the Business Plan to incorporate the financial projects arising from new develop-
ments in the agreements that were being entered into with FITD, SVI, AMCO and the private partner
Cassa Centrale Banca. On 9 August 2019, the Bank, SVI, FITD and CCB entered into the Framework
Agreement which made it possible, through corporate and authorisation processes, to successfully final-
ise the capital strengthening effort on 20 December 2019 and to restore the Bank's capital and risk indi-
cators, including through the derisking transaction with AMCO.

Since 31 January, the foregoing risk factors are have been compounded by the non-measurable impact
of the spread of the Coronavirus pandemic, which the Temporary Administrators are currently unable to
quantify: although a sharp reduction in global GDP is very likely, its extent is still very difficult to predict,
as can be seen from the first estimates released by leading economic research institutes.

Although it is certainly true that the current closure of most economic activities will lead to a reduction in
generated income, no predictions can be made about its impact on the national economy at the mo-
ment. A crucial role will certainly be played by the economic measures that national and European politi-
cal, monetary and regulatory authorities have adopted and will adopt in the near future with the aim of
mitigating the recessionary effects of this unprecedented crisis and guaranteeing maximum liquidity, an
additional flow of funding and subsidies, in any case backed to some extent by the State, in order to off-
set higher credit risk, by reducing the amount of expected losses with respect to unsecured forms of lend-
ing. Moreover, moratoria are being offered on existing loans.

In light of the stronger capital and liquidity position of the European banking system, banking supervision
is also oriented towards avoiding excessive pro-cyclical effects. To ensure that banks can continue to fulfil
their role to fund households and corporations, the ECB has announced a more flexible prudential treat-
ment of loans backed by public support.

In general, the measures activated by the Authorities allow banks to support the provision of credit to
businesses and households, using greater leverage in terms of capital and liquidity and benefiting from
public guarantees pledged to secure credit lines granted under national law. Such measures are ex-
pected to mitigate the negative impacts on banks' profitability and risk ratios in particular, at least in the
short- and medium-term.

The elements of uncertainty commented above may also affect the drivers underlying the forward looking
models required by the IFRS 9 to estimate expected credit losses. In a context such as the current one,
characterised as it is by a high level of uncertainty, such scenarios should, however, take account of ade-
quately stable long-term outlooks in the scenario analyses used to estimate the cost of credit.

In this regard, the Temporary Administrators note that the Management and the Board of Directors of the
Bank pay utmost attention and care to the impacts of the monetary policy measures adopted by the ECB,
as well as to the impacts which could arise in the future with reference to certain valuation items, such as:
allowances and provisions for liabilities (e.g. onerous contracts); residual value of property and equip-
ment, intangible assets and right of use assets; recoverability of deferred tax assets, including by taking
account of the potential reverberations of some of the provisions of the "Cura ltalia" Decree in terms of
conversion info tax credits.
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Going concern
On 2 January 2019, a decision by the European Central Bank started Banca Carige's Temporary Admin-

istration procedure with the appointment of three Temporary Administrators and a Surveillance Commit-
tee (the “Decision”) pursuant to articles 69-octiesdecies, 70 and 98 of Legislative Decree No. 385/1993
(the Consolidated Law on Banking or “TUB").

During the period, the Temporary Administrators worked in pursuit of the objectives set in the Decision.
They also prepared a new Strategic Plan, which was approved in its final version on 26 July 2019. In this
context, the Bank followed a twofold approach, namely radical de-risking on the one hand, primarily in
the aim to reduce the NPE stock, and the pursuit of a business combination, on the other, to ensure the
Bank's commercial relaunch and adequate profitability.

In light of the above, the Temporary Administrators opted for a Capital Strengthening transaction to be
structured with the exclusion of the shareholders' right of option pursuant to art. 2441, para. 5 of the Ital-
ian Civil Code, which was functional for: (i) the mechanism of repayment in shares (by set-off of the re-
ceivable for a corresponding nominal value) of the subordinated bonds named "Banca Carige S.p.A.
2018-2028 Tasso Fisso Tier II' held by the Voluntary Intervention Scheme of the Interbank Deposit Pro-
tection Fund (“SVI”); (i) the entry of Cassa Centrale Banca — Credito Cooperativo ltaliano S.p.A. (“Cassa
Centrale”) in the Company's share capital and (i) the intervention of the Interbank Deposit Protection
Fund (“FITD”) in the Bank's share capital. As part of the proposed transaction, one tranche of the capital
increase was reserved for those shareholders who were shareholders of the Bank prior to the date when
the capital increase was launched, in proportion -as part of such tranche- to the percentage share of
capital they held before the offering was launched.

As a result, the Extraordinary Shareholders” Meeting of 20 September 2019 resolved to approve: (i) the
capital increase by an aggregate amount of EUR 700 mln and (ii) the issuance of Warrants and a dedi-
cated share capital increase for the exercise of the Warrants.

The Bank also issued subordinated bonds having the characteristics to be classified as Tier 2 capital in-
struments for a total amount of EUR 200 mln.

At the same time, the Temporary Administrators continued the project for the almost full-scale disposal of
the non-performing portfolio existing at the beginning of the reporting period to AMCO - Asset Man-
agement Company S.p.A. (“Project Hydra”), details of which are set out in the following paragraph
“Non-Performing Loan portfolio disposal to AMCO S.p.A.”.

With the end of the Parent Company's Temporary Administration procedure initiated by the ECB on 2
January 2019 and the appointment of the new governing and control bodies by the Shareholders” Meet-
ing, a situation of ordinary, stable governance was restored, with a new ownership structure, capable of
providing the governing bodies with the continuity required to pursue the strategic guidelines set by the
different stakeholders in the Capital Strengthening transaction.

The Temporary Administrators point out that not all of the derisking actions planned were completed by
the end date of the Temporary Administration period. Reference is made, in particular, to the afore-
mentioned disposal of the non-performing leasing portfolio and the partial disposal of the Messina
Group exposure (EUR 494 min in GBY), with a corresponding return to performing status of the portion
of the Messina Group exposure which was not included in the scope of disposal (EUR 228 mlIn in GBV)
and the synthetic securitisation of a performing loan portfolio.

These derisking transactions are still scheduled for 2020, but the macroeconomic environment following
the Covid-19 pandemic has significantly increased the uncertainty surrounding their completion.

Against this background, in compliance with the requirements of IAS 1 and guidance provided in Docu-
ment no. 2 of 6 February 2009, jointly issued by the Bank of Italy, Consob and ISVAP as subsequently
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updated, the Temporary Administrators attentively assessed the going concern assumption, providing a
number of alternative scenarios.

The Temporary Administrators have therefore assessed the execution of the Capital Strengthening plan
and the reinstatement of a stable, day-to-day governance, as well as the significant uncertainties con-
nected with the current macroeconomic environment and the potential consequences of the spread of the
coronavirus pandemic and the achievement of the objectives of the 2019-2023 Strategic Plan within the
expected timeframe.

As for the macroeconomic framework, the Temporary Administrators are unable to measure the effects of
the pandemic on the Bank's operations and accounts after 31 January. They acknowledge, however,
that, thanks to the significant progress made with the strengthening of its capital and the achievements
already obtained or to be completed on the derisking path, Carige is in much better conditions than be-
fore to deal with such a situation, and pandemic-related uncertainty is in any case mitigated by the com-
plex countercyclical measures implemented by the Italian Government and -within the European Union-
by the ECB’s recent, specific interventions of 12 March 2020 which allow banks, in the current situation,
to operate temporarily below the minimum capital threshold defined by Pillar 2 Guidance and the Capi-
tal Conservation Buffer respectively. Additional action in support of the economies affected by the pan-
demic is also likely, if the macroeconomic framework deteriorates further.

In summary, despite the significant uncertainties described above, the Temporary Administrators believe
that the Bank and the Group have the reasonable expectation of continuing in operational existence in
the foreseeable future and of continuously complying with the minimum prudential requirements for own
funds and liquidity.

Therefore, based on the development scenarios described above, the Group's Consolidated Financial
Statements at 31 January 2020 were prepared on a going concern basis.
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CONSOLIDATED
BALANCE SHEET

Situation as at

31/01/2020  31/12/2018
10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 256 660 266,088
20. EI)\ISAgNCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR 157473 173716
20. a) FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING 1715 2042
20. ¢) OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS MANDATORILY AT FAIR VALUE 155,758 171,674
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
30. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 783,696 811,438
40. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST 18,551,726 17,200,504
40. a) LOANS TO BANKS 4544378 1 524,106
40. b) LOANS TO CUSTOMERS 14007,348 15,676,398
50. HEDGING DERIVATIVES 9087 13,842
70. EQUITY INVESTMENTS 98,153 99318
90. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 883261 726,412
100. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 78,441 53 668
110. TAX ASSETS 1 664,189 1 781,090
110. a) CURRENT 587,960 616,032
110. b) DEFERRED 1,076,229 1.165,058
NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND DISPOSAL GROUPS HELD
120. ol 617,224
130. OTHER ASSETS 231 549 351 284
TOTAL ASSETS 22,714,235 22,094,584

(EUR/000)

67



Situation as at

31/01/2020 31/12/2018
10. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST 20,072,079 19,087,529
10. a) DUE TO BANKS 3,999,981 4,592,969
10. b) DUE TO CUSTOMERS 11,819,364 12,046,474
10.¢)  SECURITIES ISSUED 4,252,734 2,448,086
20. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING 1,165 720
40. HEDGING DERIVATIVES 266,295 239,612
60. TAX LIABILITIES 10,762 9,533
60.a) CURRENT 5,068 3,734
60. b) DEFERRED 5,694 5,799
70. LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH GROUPS OF ASSETS HELD
FOR SALE - 234,759
80. OTHER LIABILITIES 430,598 456,675
90. EMPLOYEE TERMINATION INDEMNITIES 42,796 52,611
100. ALLOWANCES FOR RISKS AND CHARGES: 290,599 243,754
100.
a) COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES GIVEN 24,636 34,330
100.
b) POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 29,073 29,256
100.
<) OTHER ALLOWANCES FOR RISKS AND CHARGES 236,890 180,168
120. VALUATION RESERVES (91,146) (103,776)
150. RESERVES 24,257 296,651
160. SHARE PREMIUM RESERVE 623,958 -
170. SHARE CAPITAL 1,915,164 1,845,164
180. TREASURY SHARES (-) (15,572) (15,572)
190. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (+/-) 13,057 19,748
200. NET PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (869,777) (272,824)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 22,714,235 22,094,584

(EUR/00

0)
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CONSOLIDATED

31/01/2020 31/12/2018

10. Interest and similar income 370,100 400,908
o.w.: inferest income calculated using the effective interest rate method 377,101 390,046

20.  Interest and similar expense (246,5506) (174,277)
30.  NET INTEREST INCOME 123,544 226,631
40.  Fee and commission income 262,207 264,385
50.  Fee and commission expense (42,322) (33,543)
60. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 219,885 230,842
70.  Dividends and similar income 10,733 10,492
80.  Net profit (loss) from trading 14,029 5,036
90. Net profit (loss) from hedging 789 (1,484)
100.  Profits (losses) on disposal or repurchase of: (28,716) (60,580)
a) financial assets at amortised cost (28,204) (63,472)

b) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 31 1,039

c) financial liabilities (543) 1,853

110.  Profits (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (3,359) (14,033)
b) other financial assets mandatorily ot fair value (3,359) (14,033)

120.  NET INTEREST AND OTHER BANKING INCOME 336,905 396,904
130.  Net losses/recoveries on impairment of: (462,489) (244,070
a) financial assets at amortised cost (462,500) (244,031)

b) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 11 (39)

140.  Gains (Losses) due to modifications not resulting in derecognition 813 (1,134)
150. NET INCOME FROM BANKING ACTIVITIES (124,771) 151,700
180. NET INCOME FROM BANKING AND INSURANCE ACTIVITIES (124,771) 151,700
190.  Administrative expenses (634,897) (531,787)
a) personnel expenses (394,521) (280,282)

b) other administrative expenses (240,376) (251,505)

200.  Net provisions for risks and charges (30,815) (41,672)
a) commitments and guarantees given 9,694 17,356

b) other net provisions (40,509) (59,028)

210.  Net adjustments to/recoveries on property and equipment (58,913) (11,421)
220.  Net adjustments to/recoveries on intangible assets (10,294) (6,408)
230.  Other operating income/expense (13,455) 57,432
240. OPERATING EXPENSES (748,374) (533,856)
250.  Profits (losses) on equity investments 8,235 9,522
280.  Profits (losses) on disposal of investments 517 57,020
290. PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (864,393) (315,614)
300.  Taxes on income from continuing operations (15,788) 19,765
310. PROFIT (LOSS) AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (880,181) (295,849)
320.  profit (Loss) after tax from discontinued operations 3,758 20,897
330. PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (876,423) (274,952)
340.  Non-controlling interests (6,646) (2,128)
350. NET PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PARENT COMPANY (869,777) (272,824)

(EUR/000)

Earnings per Share (in EUR)
- Basic -0.005 -0.005
- Diluted -0.005 -0.005
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Situation as at

31/01/2020  31/12/2018

10. PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (876,423)  (274,952)

Other comprehensive income after tax not reversed in profit or loss

20. Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 1,009 315
70. Defined benefit plans (3,754) 1,315
90. Share of valuation reserves of equity investments valued at equity (12) 20

Other comprehensive income after tax reversed in profit or loss

120. Cash flow hedges 12,461 14,919
140. i ancial o.ssef.s (other than equity instruments) at fair value through other 2 880 (2,876)
comprehensive income ! !
170. Total other comprehensive income after tax 12,584 13,693
180. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (ltem 10+170) (863,839) (261,259)
190. Consolidated comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests (6,692) (2,124)

Consolidated comprehensive income attributable to the Parent

200.
Company

(857,147)  (259,135)

(EUR/000)
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Alloc{o’rion of profit (loss) Changes in the year 2
rom prior year o
N
© § o Transactions on Q
& 5 & - shareholders' equity P
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< > = g 8 o | 5 2 | 8 . © 8 8
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- -— “ %3 17} “— O = = 7}
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Share capital: 1,873,556 1,873,556 70,000 - - - - 1,915,164 28,392
a) ordinary shares 1,873,555 1,873,555 1 70,000 - - - - 1,915,164 28,392
b) other shares 1 1 (1) -
Share premium
reserve 1,847 1,847 623,958 - - - - 623,958 1,847
Reserves: 288,415 288,415 (274,952) 431 24,257 (10,363)
a) from profits 101,796 101,796  (274,952) - 431 (162,362) (10,363)
b) other 186,619 186,619 186,619
Valuation reserves (103,903) (103,903) 12,584 (91,146) (173)
Equity instruments
Advances on
dividends
Treasury shares (15,572) (15,572) - (15,572)
Profit (loss) for the
year (274,952) (274,952) 274,952 - . - - - - (876,423) (869,777) (6,646)
Group
shareholders’
equity 1,749,643 1,749,643 430 693,958 - - - (857,147) 1,586,884 X
Non-controlling
interests 19,748 19,748 1 - (6,692) X 13,057

EUR/000
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Allocation of profit (loss) )
~ 3 © from prior year Changes in the year 5
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a - O O
Share capital: 2,874,249 - 2,874,249 (1,000,693) 1,845,164 28,392
a) ordinary
shares 2,874,248 - 2,874,248 (1,000,693) 1,845,163 28,392
b) other shares 1 - 1 1
Share
premium
reserve 630,211 630,211 (628,364) 1,847
Reserves: (685,916)  (263,029) (948,945) (393,364) - 1,630,724 296,651 (8,236)
a) from profits (737,188)  (263,029)  (1,000,217) (393,364) - 1,495,377 - - - - - - - - 110,032 (8,236)
b) other 51,272 51,272 135,347 186,619
Valuation
reserves (140,759) 23,622 (117,137) - - (459) - - - - - 13,693  (103,776) (127)
Equity
instruments
Treasury
shares (15,572) - (15,572) - - - - - - - - - - - (15,572)
Profit (loss) for
the year (393,364) - (393,364) 393,364 - - - - - - - - - (274,952)  (272,824)  (2,128)
Group
shareholders’
equity 2,244,724  (237,156) 2,007,568 - - 1,209 - - - - - - (259,134) 1,749,643 X
Non-
controlling
interests 24,125 (2,251) 21,874 - . (1 - - - 3 . - (2,125) X 19,748
EUR/000
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

A. OPERATIONS 31/01/2020 31/12/2018
1. Cash flow from (used in) operations (202,944) (9,011)
- interest income received (+) 332,278 374,723
- inferest expense paid (-) (247,168) (189,297)
- dividend and similar income (+) 10,733 10,492
- net fee and commission income (+/-) 225,045 239,729
- personnel expenses (-) (265,865) (263,821)
- net insurance premiums collected
- other insurance revenues and expenses (-) -
- other costs (-) (332,031) (258,381)
- other income (+) 87,610 99,204
- tax and duties (-) (22,651) (49,994)
- costs/revenues after tax from discontinued operations (+/-) 9,105 28,334
2. Cash flow from (used in) financial assets (1,500,417) 2,240,193
- financial assets held for trading (438) 1,203
- financial assets measured at fair value
- other financial assets mandatorily at fair value 15,813 14,516
- financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income 42,371 568,344
- financial assets at amortised cost (1,837,241) 1,359,665
- other assets 279,078 296,465
3. Cash flow from (used in) financial liabilities 1,447,673 (2,384,291)
- financial liabilities amortised cost 1,552,899 (2,361,651)
- financial liabilities held for trading 6,969 (466)
- financial liabilities measured at fair value -
- other liabilities (112,195) (22,174)
Net cash flow from (used in) operations (255,688) (153,109)
B. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
1. Cash flow from 48,435 164,038
- sale of equity investments - 1,817
- dividends collected on equity investments 9,399 8,762
- sale of property and equipment 5,550 111,743
- sale of intangible assets - -
- sale of subsidiaries and business branches 33,486 41,716
2. Cash flow used in (182,935) (41,423)
- purchase of equity investments amn
- purchase of property and equipment (147,857) (11,712)
- purchase on intangible assets (35,067) (29,711)
- purchase of subsidiaries and business branches
Net cash flow from (used in) investment activities (134,500) 122,615
C. FUNDING ACTIVITIES
- issue/purchase of treasury shares 380,758
- issue/purchase of equity instruments
- dividend distribution and other purposes
- sale/purchase of non-controlling interests
Net cash flow from (used in) funding activities 380,758 .
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH (9,430) (30,494)

EQUIVALENTS DURING THE YEAR

- Figures in EUR/000
KEY: (+) from; (-) used in
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RECONCILIATION

31/01/2020 31/12/2018
Items
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 266,090 296,584
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the year (9,430) (30,494)
Cash and cash equivalents: effect of changes in exchange rates )
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 256,660 266,090

Total cash and cash equivalents at end of the year also includes the amount of EUR 2 thousand from

the company held for sale.
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CONSOLIDATED
EXPLANATORY
NOTES



I
Part A

ACCOUNTING POLICIES




A.1 - INTRODUCTION

SECTION 1
Statement of compliance with international accounting standards

The Banca Carige Group's Consolidated Report for the Temporary Administration period of 1 January
2019 - 31 January 2020 (thirteen months), drafted by the Temporary Administrators on 29 May 2020
and submitted to the ECB for approval, was prepared pursuant to article 75, para. 2 of the ltalian
Consolidated Law on Banking and in accordance with the International Accounting Principles
IAS/IFRSs and related interpretations (SIC/IFRIC), as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB), endorsed by the European Commission and effective as at the close of these Financial
Statements.

Please refer to the Annexes section for a list of the international accounting principles and related
interpretations (SIC/IFRIC) endorsed and effective as at 31 January 2020.

In the course of 2019 the review and integration of international accounting standards, interpretations
or amendments continued, which partially apply for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

In particular, the following international accounting standards (IAS/IFRS) were endorsed in 2019 and
January 2020:

- “Amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Long term interests in
associates and joint ventures”: Commission Regulation (EU) 237/2019 of 08 February 2019;

- “Amendments to IAS 19 - Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement”: Commission Reg. (EU)
402/2019 of 13 March 2019;

- “Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle”: Commission Regulation (EU)
412/2019 of 14 March 2019;

- “Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards”: Commission
Regulation (EU) 2075/2019 of 29 November 2019;

- “Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material”. Commission Regulation (EU) 2104/2019
of 29 November 2019;

-“Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7)”: Commission
Regulation (EU) 34/2020 of 15 January 2020 (the document was issued by the IASB on 26 September
2019).

Additionally, the ISB issued the following document in January 2020: “Amendment to IAS 1:
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”.
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Finally, reported below are the impacts deriving from the application of the international accounting
standard IFRS16 and the interpretation IFRIC 23.

IFRS 16 “LEASES”

The new international accounting principle, IFRS 16, effective 1 January 2019 and endorsed by the
European Commission with Regulation no. 2017/1986 of 31 October 2017, replaces IAS 17
("Leasing") and some associated interpretations (IFRIC 4 — “Determining Whether an Arrangement
Contains a Lease”; SIC15 — “Operating Leases — Incentives”; SIC 27 — “Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions in the Legal Form of a Lease”).

IFRS 16 introduces significant changes to the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of leases in the lessee’s financial statements, thus providing users with greater
transparency in the financial statements.

In general, the standard provides a single lessee accounting model, superseding the previous IAS 17

approach and eliminating the distinction between operating or finance leases.

The new accounting model applies to all the contracts that convey the right to use an asset (the 'Right

of use', RoU) for a period of time, in exchange for consideration.

More specifically, the lessee shall measure the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments

payable over the lease term, as an offsetting entry to the recognition of the right to use the underlying

asset of the lease contract under assets.

After initial recognition:

e alessee shall measure the right-of-use asset applying a cost model (pursuant to IAS 16) or the fair
value model (pursuant to IAS 40);

e under the cost model in IAS 16, the right-of-use asset shall be depreciated over the lease term and
shall be assessed to determine whether the right-of-use asset is impaired and to account for any
impairment loss identified under IAS 36;

e the lessee shall measure the lease liability by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; interest on the lease liability shall be recognised in profit or loss;

e under IFRS 16, a lessee may exclude from the scope of application lease contracts that have a
lease term of 12 months or less (“short term”) and leases for which the underlying asset is of low
value (“low value”).

IFRS 16’s approach to lessor accounting is substantially unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17, as
lessors continue to classify leases as operating or finance; the new standard requires the lessor to
provide additional information in the notes to the financial statements.

IN 2018, the Banca Carige Group started a specific project concerning the introduction of IFRS 16,
which was developed with the participation of all of the Group’s organisational units concerned and
the active involvement and supervision of the Top Management.

The project was structured into the following project phases:

e “Assessment” phase, the objective of which was to analyse the main business areas affected by the
adoption of the new principle and define the “business macro requirements” necessary for the
transition to the new accounting principle;

e “Design & Implementation”, during which:

0 the main interpretative and accounting choices were defined;

0 outstanding lease agreements were analysed, defining the scope of application of the
standard;

o0 the software application was selected for the management of lease agreements and
determination of related book values under IFRS 16;

0 the first-time application values were calculated and accounted for in relation to the right
of use acquired with the lease and related lease liabilities.
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First-Time Adoption (FTA) of IFRS 16

The Banca Carige Group has decided to apply IFRS 16 to all lease agreements falling within the scope
retrospectively, with the cumulative effect of initially applying the Standard recognised at the date of
initial application in accordance with paragraph C5 b)'.

The “modified retrospective method” under paragraph C8 b) ii) of IFRS 16 has thus been defined as
a transition method. According to this method, the lessee shall recognise a right-of-use asset at the
date of First Time Adoption (FTA) for an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of
any prepaid or accrued lease payments, with no impact on net accounting equity.

The impact from the adoption of IFRS 16 on the CET1 ratio, in relation to the right of use acquired
with lease agreements (“right of use”) recognised upon first-time application (1 January 2019) for an
amount of EUR 79.8 mln, in terms of new lessee accounting rules, is approximately -6 bps, at Group
level and before tax.

The Group’s identified scope of application of IFRS 16 is:
e land and buildings;
e cars;

e Automated Teller Machines (ATMs)?.

The Banca Carige Group has decided to apply all practical expedients laid down by IFRS 16, in
Appendix C. In particular, the Group has defined the amount of Euro 5 thousand as the threshold for
identifying lease contracts in which the underlying asset is of low value and has elected not to apply
the accounting criteria provided for by IFRS 16 to such contracts, mainly for tablets, personal
computers, printers, photocopiers, telephones and small office furniture.® The Group also used the
practical expedient under paragraph C3 b) of the Appendix, and decided not to apply the standard to
contracts that were not previously identified as containing a lease applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.

Additional key criteria adopted upon First-Time Adoptions are described below:

e lease ferm

As regards the term of lease agreements entered into by the Group as a lessee and falling within
the scope of IFRS 16, the Group assessed whether, at the commencement date, it was reasonably
certain that an extension option was exercisable, considering all relevant facts and circumstances
that would create an economic incentive.

According fo its types of lease agreements as a lessee, the Banca Carige Group -with a view to
defining the lease terms- identified several renewal options, on the basis of facts and circumstances
existing at the reference date that may have an impact on the reasonable certainty of exercising
the options included in the lease contracts, considering both the requirements in the standard and
its strategy for real estate contracts and the business plan.

e Interest rate
Since the interest rate implicit in the lease was not available, payments due for leasing were
discounted for all outstanding contracts using the Bank’s own incremental borrowing rate at the
date of initial application. This rate was identified as the "amortizing internal transfer rate (ITT)" of
funding and was determined for each lease contract, taking intfo account the term of the contract
and the frequency of payments.

e lease payments
Only the lease payments made were taken into account to measure the lease liability, excluding
charges for value added tax (VAT).

! Therefore, it was not necessary fo restate comparative information.
2 |ease agreements for cars and ATMs contain both a leasing component and non-leasing components that are accounted
for separately in accordance with other applicable accounting standards.
3 The provisions of IFRS 16 relating to short-term leasing contracts were applied only in FTA and for car leases only.
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Onerous contracts and impairment

No onerous contracts under IAS 37 existed at the date of initial application of IFRS 16.

After first-time application of the standard, in accordance with paragraph 33 of IFRS 16, the lessee
shall apply “IAS 36 - Impairment of Assets” to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired.

As part of the property leases entered into by Banca Carige, a number of contracts provide that, in the
event of termination of the use of the assets, the obligation to pay the lease for a certain period may
still remain in place. In these cases, upon termination of use of the assets, impairment losses are
recognised in the income statement to reduce the carrying amount of the Right-of-Use (RoU) to zero.
This applied to Banca Carige’s closure of branches in the fourth quarter of 2019 in accordance with
the Business Plan, which led to the recognition of impairment losses for an amount of EUR 664
thousand in these Consolidated Financial Statements.

For further information on the criteria adopted by the Group for the recognition of lease contracts,
reference should be made to Section "2 -Preparation criteria" of part "A-Accounting policies" and part
"M - Information on leases" of the Explanatory Notes.

IFRIC 23 — “UNCERTAINTY OVER INCOME TAX TREATMENTS”

On 7 June 2017, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty
over Income Tax Treatments” to clarify how to apply the recognition and measurement requirements in
IAS 12 when there is uncertainty over the tax treatment of certain items. An entity shall apply this
Interpretation for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

In assessing whether and how an uncertain tax treatment affects the determination of taxable profit, an
entity shall assume that a taxation authority will examine amounts it has a right to examine and have
full knowledge of all related information when making those examinations. Under this Interpretation, an
entity shall consider whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment.

If an entity concludes it is probable that the taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
entity shall determine the taxable profit consistently with the tax treatment used or planned to be used

in its income tax filings.

On the contrary, if an entity concludes it is not probable that the taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment, the entity shall reflect the effect of uncertainty in determining the related taxable profit.

The Group has not identified any specific areas of uncertainty for which the application of this
Interpretation has had an impact on these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SECTION 2

Preparation criteria

The Consolidated Financial Statements refer to the Parent Company Banca Carige and other Group
companies, as defined in the terms indicated in Section 3 - Scope and methods of consolidation, which
have adopted the accounting standards, indicated in Part A.2 concerning the main items of the
accounts.

These Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared pursuant to Art. 75, para. 2 of the ltalian
Consolidated Banking Law, in accordance with the general principles of IAS 1 and adopting the
guidance contained in Bank of Italy Circular no. 262 of 22 December 2005, 6th update of 30
November 2018 “Bank financial statements: layout and preparation”. In particular:

- Balance Sheet, Income Statement and Explanatory Notes.

With reference to the Balance Sheet and Income Statement, no accounts were recognised if there was
no amount to recognise for either this or the previous financial reporting period. The reporting period
for these financial statements as at 31 January 2020 is thirteen months long, and reflects the Temporary
Administration period of Banca Carige S.p.A. 1 January 2019 - 31 January 2020.

With regard to the Explanatory Notes, the tables were compiled only for the applicable items. In the
Income Statement (statements and Explanatory Notes) revenues are indicated without a +/- sign,
whereas costs are indicated in brackets.

- Statement of Comprehensive Income

In addition to the profit for the period, the statement of comprehensive income presents other profit
components, split into items with and without reversal to profit or loss. No accounts were recognised in
this statement if there was no amount for either the period of these Consolidated Financial Statements
or the previous period; negative amounts are indicated in brackets.

- Statement of changes in Shareholders' equity
The Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity illustrates the breakdown and changes in

shareholders’” equity for the current and prior period. The items are broken down into the Group’s and
non-controlling interests” shares of changes in shareholders' equity.

- Statement of Cash Flows

The Statement of Cash Flows was prepared using the direct method.

- Reporting currency and rounding off
The financial statements and explanatory notes are expressed in thousands of euros.

In rounding off, the amount of items, sub-items and “of which” items equal to or lower than EUR 500
are ignored; amounts greater than EUR 500 are rounded up to the nearest thousand. The rounded-off
figures of each item are obtained by summing the rounded-off sub-items. The algebraic sum of
differences from these roundings is shown under “Other assets/liabilities” in the Balance sheet and
under “Other operating income/expenses” in the Income Statement.

In rounding off, the amounts in the Explanatory Notes equal to or lower than EUR 500 are ignored;
amounts greater than EUR 500 are rounded up to the nearest thousand. The figures contained in the
Explanatory Notes should in any case be rounded off in such a way as to ensure consistency with the
amounts presented in the Balance sheet and Income statement.
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- Going concern

On 2 January 2019, a decision by the European Central Bank started Banca Carige's Temporary
Administration procedure with the appointment of three Temporary Administrators and a Surveillance
Committee (the “Decision”) pursuant to articles 69-octiesdecies, 70 and 98 of Legislative Decree No.

385/1993 (“TUB”).

During the period, the Temporary Administrators worked in pursuit of the objectives set in the Decision.
They also prepared a new Strategic Plan, which was approved in its final version on 26 July 2019. In
this context, the Bank followed a twofold approach, namely radical de-risking on the one hand, primarily
in the aim to reduce the NPE stock, and the pursuit of a business combination, on the other, to ensure
the Bank's commercial relaunch and adequate profitability.

In light of the above, the Temporary Administrators opted for a Capital Strengthening transaction to be
structured with the exclusion of the shareholders' right of option pursuant to art. 2441, para. 5 of the
ltalian Civil Code, which was functional for: (i) the mechanism of repayment in shares (by set-off of the
receivable for a corresponding nominal value) of the subordinated bonds named "Banca Carige S.p.A.
2018-2028 Tasso Fisso Tier II" held by the Voluntary Intervention Scheme of the Interbank Deposit
Protection Fund (“SVI”); (ii) the entry of Cassa Centrale Banca — Credito Cooperativo ltaliano S.p.A.
(“Cassa Centrale”) in the Bank's share capital and (iii) the intervention of the Interbank Deposit
Protection Fund (“FITD”) in the Bank's share capital. As part of the proposed transaction, one tranche
of the capital increase was reserved for those shareholders who were shareholders of the Bank prior to
the date when the capital increase was launched, in proportion -as part of such tranche- to the
percentage share of capital they held before the offering was launched.

As a result, the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of 20 September 2019 resolved to approve: (i) the
capital increase by an aggregate amount of EUR 700 min and (ii) the issuance of Warrants and a
dedicated share capital increase for the exercise of the Warrants.

The Bank also issued subordinated bonds having the characteristics to be classified as Tier 2 capital
instruments for a total amount of EUR 200 min.

At the same time, the Temporary Administrators continued the project for the almost full-scale disposal
of the non-performing portfolio existing at the beginning of the reporting period to AMCO - Asset
Management Company S.p.A. (“Project Hydra"”), details of which are set out in the following paragraph
“Non-Performing Loan portfolio disposal to AMCO S.p.A.”.

With the end of the Parent Company's Temporary Administration procedure initiated by the ECB on 2
January 2019 and the appointment of the new governing and control bodies by the Shareholders’
Meeting, a situation of ordinary, stable governance was restored, with a new ownership structure,
capable of providing the governing bodies with the continuity required to pursue the strategic guidelines
set by the different stakeholders in the Capital Strengthening transaction.

The Temporary Administrators point out that not all of the derisking actions planned were completed as
at the end date of the Temporary Administration period. Reference is made, in particular, to the afore-
mentioned disposal of the non-performing leasing portfolio and the partial disposal of the exposure to
the Messina Group (EUR 494 mln in GBV), with a corresponding return to performing status of the
portion of the Messina Group exposure which was not included in the scope of disposal (EUR 228 mln
in GBV) and the synthetic securitisation of a performing loan portfolio.

These derisking transactions are still scheduled for 2020, but the macroeconomic environment following
the Covid-19 pandemic has significantly increased the uncertainty surrounding their completion.

Against this background, in compliance with the requirements of IAS 1 and guidance provided in
Document no. 2 of 6 February 2009, jointly issued by the Bank of Italy, Consob and ISVAP as
subsequently updated, the Temporary Administrators attentively assessed the going concern assumption,
providing a number of alternative scenarios.

The Temporary Administrators have therefore assessed the execution of the Capital Strengthening plan
and the reinstatement of a stable, day-to-day governance, as well as the significant uncertainties
connected with the current macroeconomic environment and the potential consequences of the spread

of the coronavirus pandemic and the achievement of the objectives of the 2019-2023 Strategic Plan
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within the expected timeframe.

As for the macroeconomic framework, the Temporary Administrators are unable to measure the effects
of the pandemic on the Bank's operations and accounts after 31 January. They acknowledge, however,
that, thanks to the significant progress made with the strengthening of its capital and the achievements
already obtained or to be completed on the derisking path, Carige is in much better conditions than
before to deal with such a situation, and pandemic-related uncertainty is in any case mitigated by the
complex countercyclical measures implemented by the Italian Government and -within the European
Union- by the ECB’s recent, specific interventions of 12 March 2020 which allow banks, in the current
situation, to operate temporarily below the minimum capital threshold defined by Pillar 2 Guidance and
the Capital Conservation Buffer respectively. Additional action in support of the economies affected by
the pandemic is also likely, if the macroeconomic framework deteriorates further.

In summary, despite the significant uncertainties described above, the Temporary Administrators believe
that the Bank and the Group have the reasonable expectation of continuing to operate as a going
concern in the foreseeable future and of continuously complying with the minimum prudential
requirements for own funds and liquidity.

Therefore, based on the development scenarios described above, the Group's Consolidated Financial
Statements at 31 January 2020 were prepared on a going concern basis.

- Consistency of presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements

The presentation and classification of items in the financial statements are retained from one period to
the next to ensure inter-period comparability, unless a change is justified either by an IFRS or
interpretation, or it becomes apparent that another presentation or classification would be more
appropriate, in terms of reliability and relevance of the information provided. When the presentation or
classification of items is changed, the corresponding amounts are restated accordingly, unless this is
not feasible, and a description of the nature and reasons for the restatement is given.

- Materiality and aggregation

Each material class of similar items is presented separately in the Financial statements. Items of a
different nature or with different allocation are recognised separately, unless they are considered
irrelevant.

- Netting
Assets, liabilities, costs and revenues are not netted, unless required or permitted by an international
accounting standard or interpretation or if this is expressly required by the financial statements in use
for banks.

- Comparative figures

The figures shown for comparative purposes in the financial statements are derived from the “Report on
the Consolidated Financial Position and Results of the Operations as at 31.12.2018”, prepared by the
Temporary Administrators pursuant to art. 73, paragraph 4 of the Consolidated Law on Finance (TUB),
filed with the Companies’ Register. In particular, balance sheet and income statement figures as at 31
December 2018 refer to 12 months (1 January 2018 — 31 December 2018), whereas balance sheet
and income statement figures as at 31 January 2020 refer to a 13-month period (1 January 2019 —
31 January 2020).

The Group has decided to retrospectively apply IFRS 16 to all lease agreements falling within the scope,
with the cumulative effect of initially applying the Standard recognised at the date of initial application
in accordance with paragraph C5 b). As a result, a redetermination of comparative information was
not required.
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ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS IN THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
ASSOCIATED UNCERTAINTIES

Preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions for
the calculation of certain cost and revenue components and for the valuation of assets and liabilities.

Estimates required by the application of the accounting standards can have a significant impact on the
value of balance sheet and profit and loss items, as well as on the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Production of these estimates involves the
use of available information and adoption of subjective assessments. By their nature, the estimates and
assumptions utilised may vary from one period to another and, therefore, it cannot be ruled out that in
subsequent periods the present values entered in the accounts may differ, even to a significant extent,
as a result of changes in subjective assessments made. Such estimates and assessments are therefore
difficult and bring along inevitable elements of uncertainty, given also the particular situation of
uncertainty in the macroeconomic framework, caused by the outbreak of the coronavirus pandemic.
Any assessment of the economic effects of Covid-19 significantly depends on the duration of contagion
and the measures to contain it. Therefore, providing a quantitative estimate of the potential impact of
Covid-19 is deemed impossible at the present date.

Adjustments to the estimates may be necessary as a result of changes in the circumstances on which
they were based; in particular, as specified in the section "Subsequent Events", the negative effects on
the world economy resulting from the coronavirus epidemic are factors of uncertainty which cannot be
quantified to date, but may affect the future scenarios in which the Group will operate.

Estimates and assumptions are more likely to be used for the fair value measurement of amounts
recognised in relation to financial assets measured at amortised cost (loans to customers and loans to
banks), other financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value, property, plant and equipment and
the quantification of provisions for personnel, provisions for risks and charges, as well as the
measurement of tax items.

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Loans were classified according to strict guidelines which are reflective of the consequences of the
negative developments in the economic environment; loan-related valuations were estimated on the
basis of evidence emerging from the monitoring of existing relations with borrowers and their economic-
financial situation.

For the measurement of loans as at 31 January 2020, the Group applied the criteria defined by its
impairment models, which are based on ordinary debt collection strategies.

In particular, main estimates were made about the: (i) determination of parameters for a significant
increase in the credit risk between the origination date and the Financial Statements reporting date; (ii)
incorporation of forward looking macroeconomic factors; (iii) future cash flows from non-performing
loans, for the estimation of which several elements are considered, including expected recovery time,
the estimated realizable value of any guarantees and, where applicable, the probability of sale for
positions possibly in scope for disposal.

As far as disposal-related assumptions are concerned, the closing of the derisking transaction at the
end of 2019 should be noted, which resulted in the sale of almost the entire NPL portfolio. For a residual
portion of the loan book of EUR 494 mlin in GBV held for sale as at 31 January 2020, relating to certain
UTP positions and the non-performing leasing portfolio, the conditions for derecognition are not yet in
place. The disposal of said exposures will be completed in the course of 2020. Even in the absence of
the conditions for the derecognition of these exposures, the purchase price indications for the non-
performing portfolio being disposed of contained in the binding offer and subsequent developments
were gradually reflected in the valuation of the portfolio, in accordance with the criteria required by the
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impairment models adopted by the Group, generating an overall impact of approximately EUR 92.5
min on the income statement for the period. For further details about the afore-mentioned derisking
transaction, please refer to the following paragraph “Non-Performing Loan portfolio disposal to AMCO
S.p.A.” of this Section.

At present, having the objective of reducing the non-performing share of the total loan portfolio been
achieved, no further transactions are planned for the disposal of non-performing loans.

It should be noted that an extension or worsening of the current economic-financial crisis -including in
light of ongoing developments associated with the Corona-virus pandemic in the course of 2020- may
cause a further deterioration of the borrowers' and issuers' financial conditions which could result in
higher losses on loans granted or on financial assets purchased, than those currently estimated and
accordingly considered during preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

In particular, the Expected Credit Loss as at 31 January 2020 was estimated on the basis of the expected
evolution of the main economic variables as at that date, with consequent uncertainties regarding the
effects of the coronavirus in view of the many unknown and undefined determining factors.

During preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements, credit risk adjustments were made on
HTC and HTC&S securities for an amount of EUR 186.3 thousand.

FINANCIAL ASSETS MANDATORILY AT FAIR VALUE

In addition to the securities component, the item "Financial assets mandatorily at fair value" includes
loans and receivables that did not pass the SPPI test, the carrying amount of which totals EUR 102.7
min; these assets registered positive fair value changes for a total amount of EUR 4 mlIn during the
period.

At the reporting dates, the banks of the Group update the parameters used to estimate the fair value of
securities classified in this category, whose value, determined by applying internal models, amounts to
EUR 53.1 mln; these updates resulted in EUR 7.4 mIn worth of negative changes to the fair value of the
securities in the portfolio during the period.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The property and equipment impairment process is another area characterised by estimates, which is
affected by subjectivity in determining the methodology used and the underlying parameters.

With reference to property and equipment, the Group had its entire portfolio of "not for own use" real
estate assets appraised by an independent expert during the reporting period. The outcome of the
appraisal was assessed by the Bank's competent structures to determine the cases where it would have
been appropriate to adjust the book values of some assets.This activity resulted in the recognition of
write-downs for an aggregate amount of EUR 31.7 mln.

ALLOWANCES FOR RISKS AND CHARGES AND PROVISIONS FOR PERSONNEL

The estimate of allowances for risks and charges represents an area of uncertainty because it involves
the use of assumptions with a high degree of subjectivity.

With regard to a quantification of the provisions for personnel and allowances for risks and charges, an
estimation is made of the amount, if due, and the timing of any potential expenditure connected with
fulfilment of the obligations deemed likely to occur.

With reference to the provisions for personnel recognised after signing of the union agreements in
November 2019, an estimation is made of the P&L costs expected to be incurred for the creation of the
funds required for payment of the employee termination indemnities disbursed by the National Social
Security Authority (INPS) to members and related contributions.

DISPOSAL OF INSURANCE COMPANIES — GUARANTEES AND COMMITMENTS — SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENTS

On 5 June 2015, Banca Carige and Primavera Holdings S.r.l., a company controlled by funds affiliated
to Apollo Global Management LLC, completed the disposal of the entire share capital held by Banca
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Carige in Carige Vita Nuova S.p.A. and in Carige Assicurazioni S.p.A. (hereinafter “Amissima Vita
S.p.A.” and “Amissima Assicurazioni S.p.A.”).

On the date of disposal, a distribution agreement valid until 31 December 2024 and renewable for a
similar period, was entered into by Banca Carige, the Group's banks (excluding Banca Cesare Ponti)
and Creditis (hereinafter also the "Distributors") with the Insurance Companies for the distribution of the
Insurance Companies' life and non-life insurance products, in line with the insurance distribution plan,
against payment of contractually defined commissions to the Distributors. Banca Carige constantly
monitors, including for operational management purposes, Line 1 and Line 3 life insurance production
performance.

Moreover, the Sale and Purchase Agreement envisaged some warranties and indemnities, which are
referenced to in Part A “Accounting Policies" in the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31
December 2015.

In particular, indemnities were possibly envisaged with regard to:

- certain insurance policies, should claims be settled for an amount exceeding either the allocated
reserves as at the reference date set in the disposal agreement (30 June 2014), or any additional
provisions relating to the same reserves;

- specific disputes, should the final expenditure exceed the provisions existing as at the above-
mentioned reference date.

With regard to the foregoing agreements, the following is highlighted:

on 20 June 2016, the Bank took action against Mr. Cesare Castelbarco Albani, former Chairman
of the Board of Directors of Carige, Mr. Piero Montani, former Chief Executive Officer of Carige,
and some companies of the Apollo group (Apollo LLC, Apollo Management Holdings L.P., Apollo
Management International L.L.P., Amissima Holdings and the Insurance Companies; all of which
are hereinafter jointly referred to as the “Apollo Group”) to obtain compensation for damages
arising from the disposal and other conducts subsequently held by the affiliates of the Apollo Group
(General Register No. 8965/2016). In their response to the claim, the defendants entered an
appearance before the court and filed their counterclaims against Carige for an aggregate amount
of EUR 622 mlIn. With a judgement published in December 2018, the Panel rejected the claims of
the Bank and the counterclaims of the defendants, and ordered the Bank to pay the defendants'
litigation costs. The Bank appealed against the judgement of first instance (General Register No.
22/2019) before Genoa's Court of Appeal, where parties had filed an appearance;

on 22 November 2016, Carige (together with its subsidiaries Banca Carige Italia, Banca del Monte
di Lucca and Creditis Servizi Finanziari) lodged an application for arbitration with the Chamber of
Arbitration of Milan, requesting that the clauses of the Life Insurance Distribution Agreement
concerning the obligation of exclusivity, distribution targets and penalties be declared null and void
and that the Life Insurance Distribution Agreement be accordingly declared null or ineffective in its
entirety. In turn, Amissima Vita -via Amissima Holdings, which claimed for compensation in relation
to the hypothesis that it may lose the arbitration proceedings- entered an appearance in the case,
claiming for Carige's payment of the adjustment of fees and commissions earned in 2016. The
Arbitration Panel rejected Carige’s claims, confirming the validity and effectiveness of the Life
Insurance Distribution Agreement and ordering Carige to pay the foregoing fees and commissions
plus interest to Amissima Vita. The arbitration award was challenged before the Milan Court of
Appeal by Carige and its subsidiaries in September 2018, pursuant to art. 829, para. 3, second
sentence, of the ltalian Code of Civil Procedure (General Register No. 3721/2018);

on 21 June 2017, Amissima Vita challenged before the Court of Genoa (General Register No.
7844/2017) the resolution adopted by the Bank’s Shareholders Meeting of 28 March 2017, which
had approved the liability action against former Chairman of the Board of Directors, Mr. Cesare
Castelbarco Albani, and former Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Piero Montani. In relation to this
litigation, a judgment in favour of Carige was issued and published on 25 July 2019, ordering
Amissima Vita to pay the defendant's costs.

In the broader context of the settlement agreement negotiations described below, on 11 October 2019,
Amissima Holdings and the Bank signed a deed whereby they acknowledged the compensation —
enforced at the initiative of Amissima Holdings under the Sale and Purchase Agreement- between the
receivable owed by the Bank to Amissima Holdings by way of indemnity for the trend registered by

certain reserves of the Insurance Companies, with the receivable owed by Amissima Holdings to the
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Bank for the repayment of the Vendor Loan balance amount (approximately EUR 97 mlin); the
termination of the effects of the Vendor Loan and the Pledge Agreement was accordingly acknowledged.

On 22 November 2019, the Bank, Banca del Monte di Lucca and the Apollo Group affiliates entered
into a seftlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) whereby, inter alia:

a) the Parties settled their Litigation by waiving all existing and/or potential actions, rights, demands
and claims against each other, with the parties to the Settlement Agreement committing to
carrying out all activities necessary to obtain the termination of the Litigation, without prejudice
to the need for obtaining prior authorisation from the Shareholders” Meeting of the Bank (after
the end of the Temporary Administration period and the appointment of a new Board of
Directors), in relation to the litigation pending before Genoa’s Court of Appeal.

b) the Parties resolved the claims for compensation brought against Carige by Amissima Holdings
in relation to the Shares Sale and Purchase Agreement; specific indemnities due to the breach
of certain representations and warranties; as well as the payment of an amount of approximately
EUR 6.7 mln by the Bank to Amissima Holdings in relation to the amount of the claim reserves;

c) defined the amount of fee and commission adjustments payable in relation to the Life Insurance
Distribution Agreement by Carige to Amissima Vita, as were accrued from 31 December 2017
to 31 December 2018, with the Bank’s payment of an amount of approximately EUR 18.6 mln
to Amissima Vita;

d) in relation to the Litigation brought before Genoa’s Court of Appeal, Carige has paid the
following amounts by way of litigation expenses (seftled in the relevant proceedings): (i)
approximately EUR 626,000 to Amissima Holdings, Apollo Global Management LLC, Apollo
Management Holdings L.P. and Apollo Management International L.L.P.; (ii) approximately EUR
109,000 to Amissima Vita; (iii) approximately EUR 132,000 to Amissima Assicurazioni;

e) in relation to the Litigation brought before the Court of Genoa, Amissima Vita has paid EUR
31,206 to Carige by way of litigation expenses (settled in the relevant proceedings);

f) the Parties have waived all actions, rights, demands and claims against each other, as may arise
from the following agreements: (i) the Shares Sale and Purchase Agreement and (ii) the Life
Insurance Distribution Agreement;

g) have acknowledged the termination of the Life Insurance Distribution Agreement (which,
however, will continue to apply to Creditis as the lafter is not a party to the Settlement
Agreement, without prejudice to the Bank's best efforts as set forth in letter h) below), as a result
of the signing and entry into force of the New Life Insurance Distribution Agreement (as defined
below), which supersedes the Life Insurance Distribution Agreement;

h) the Bank undertakes to make its best effort to ensure that Creditis enters into a distribution
agreement substantially in line with the text agreed by and between the Bank and Amissima Vita.
In this respect, there are no adverse effects on the Bank in the event of failure to sign such an
agreement, if the Bank has fulfilled its commitment.

The settlement agreements resulted in total indemnification charges for an amount of EUR 42.1 min,
plus EUR 2.2 mln in reimbursement of legal expenses recognised under ‘Other operating expenses’ in
addition to full draw-down of the amounts set aside in previous years (EUR 83.5 mln).

On 22 November 2019, as part of closing of the Settlement Agreement, the Bank and Banca del Monte
di Lucca (the Bank and BML, hereinafter jointly referred to as the “Distributors”) on the one hand, and
Amissima Vita, on the other, entered into a new distribution agreement for Life Insurance products (the
“New Life Insurance Distribution Agreement”) in lieu of the previous Life Insurance distribution
agreement, with its term extended until 31 December 2028 and automatically renewable for one
additional period of 10 years.

Upon completion of the transaction described above and upon termination of the agreements entered
into when the Insurance Companies were sold, a Claims Agreement still remains in place between then
Carige Assicurazioni, now Amissima Assicurazioni, and Banca Carige, in relation to certain pending
disputes, brought both by and against the Bank, which were analytically identified as involving Carige
Assicurazioni, for which the Bank has declared itself ready to bear charges (legal expenses and charges

deriving from unsuccessful legal actions brought against the Bank) and collect any proceeds
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(counterparties sentenced to the payment of legal expenses or compensation for legal actions brought
by the Bank).

Taking info account the assessments made by the legal counsels who are following the cases, about the
measures already established at the Insurance Company prior to its sale, no specific provisions to the
fund for risks and charges have been made by the Bank.

NPE SERVICING AGREEMENT WITH CREDITO FONDIARIO

The income statement for the period includes EUR 24.5 min in compensation, as agreed when a new
agreement was signed in August 2019, corresponding to the estimated amount of penalties arising
from the servicing agreement entered into with Credito Fondiario in May 2018, in view of the prospect
that the loans then serviced by Credito Fondiario would be sold and subsequently also serviced in whole
or in part by AMCO. The agreement was conditional upon the Shareholders' Meeting approval of the
Capital Strengthening Plan and sale of the non-performing loan portfolio to AMCO, both of which
events took place in 2019, as planned.

The servicing agreement for the management of non-performing loans provides for the transfer to
Credito Fondiario of minimum levels of non-performing loans over the term of the agreement. The
measurement and assessment of the commitments undertaken by the Group under this agreement are
an area of estimation and uncertainty on the part of the Temporary Administrators.

OTHER LAWSUITS

Writ of summons brought by Saba Marco before the Court of Genoa for the assignment of money found
or compensation for the discovery of money allegedly found and not accounted for among the assets in
the financial statements. The writ was served on 12 February 2018.

The judgment of first instance rejected the applicant's claims with an order to pay the costs; the
counterparty appealed with a concurrent request to suspend the enforceability of the appealed
judgment.

With the support of its legal advisors, the Bank considers the claim unfounded and the relative risk of
losing as remote.

Bankruptcy Receivers' claim for damage for an amount of EUR 100 min

As part of criminal proceedings brought before the Court of Savona against the former top management
of the Bank, as per information provided in the Report on the Consolidated Financial Position and
Results of the Operations as at 31 December 2018, the Bankruptcy Receivers entered an appearance
as civil claimants before the Court, claiming EUR 100 mIn worth of damages and holding the Bank
liable under civil proceedings. With respect to this event, the Bank, supported by the opinion of its
external legal counsel, has considered the possibility of settling the claim out of court, and the related
effects were incorporated in this Report. The settlement was therefore finalised at a total cost of EUR 10
min, of which EUR 8 mln incurred in this reporting period and EUR 2 min from a provision for risks and
charges previously set aside.

Claims for damages resulting from the shareholders' resolution of 20 September 2019, for increasing
the share capital by EUR 700 min, including share premium, with the exclusion of the right of option.

At the end of 2019 and during 2020, the Bank was notified by the court, sometimes individually,
sometimes jointly and severally with other parties, of a series of particularly significant claims for
damages, totalling approximately EUR 500 min.

In particular, reference is made to:

a) the writ of summons claiming for damages of approximately EUR 486.6 min served by
Malacalza Investimenti on 16 January 2020, with the defendants being the Bank, together with
the Voluntary and Mandatory Intervention Scheme of the Italian Interbank Deposit Protection
Fund (FITD) and Cassa Centrale Banca;

b) the writ of summons claiming for an indefinite amount, which was proposed by the
representative of the savings shareholders on 2 December 2019 to protect the interests of
savings shareholders;

c) the writ of summons proposed by a number of shareholders on 16 January 2020 for a claimed
amount of approximately EUR 11.8 mln.
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While taking into account the specific nature of each type of action, the lawsuits initiated by the
shareholders seek compensation for the damages they believe they have suffered as a result of the
capital increase resolution adopted by the Shareholders' Meeting on 20 September 2019, in relation to
the following aspects:

- failure to comply with the obligation to grant option rights to the shareholders or, in any case,
lacking or insufficient explanation of the reasons for exclusion pursuant to Article 2441,
paragraphs 5 and 6 of the ltalian Civil Code;

- breach of the criteria for determining the issue price pursuant to Article 2441, paragraph 6, of
the ltalian Civil Code because shareholders' equity was not taken into account;

- failure to comply with the implied nominal value of the share given by the ratio of share capital
to the number of shares with violation of the prohibition to issue shares below par value.

On the other hand, the action brought by the common representative of the savings shareholders, which
refers to the same Shareholders' Meeting, seeks unquantified compensation for the damage allegedly
suffered by the savings shareholders as a result of the implementation of the afore-mentioned resolution
of the Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting.

In response to these summons, the Bank's units in charge obtained initial support from legal experts
appointed to form an independent judgement on the risk of losing. The analyses and deep dives carried
out to date have led the Bank’s units to conclude that, on the basis of the information available at the
moment, the risk of losing is to be considered remote.

INCOME TAX TREATMENT

Considering the significant amount of deferred tax assets recognised under the assets in the Financial
Statements and, specifically, deferred tax assets that cannot be converted into tax credits pursuant to
Law no. 214/2011, the valuation process underlying their recognition, which is put in place by the
preparers of the accounts takes on particular significance. In the current context of operation, the
governing bodies of the Parent Company, which was placed under Temporary Administration from 2
January 2019 to 31 January 2020, deemed it prudent, on the basis of the information currently in their
possession, to continue not to recognise, as has been the case since 2018, additional DTAs, particularly
DTAs based on future profits and not arising from temporary differences (DTAs on tax losses); other
DTAs for which recognition was suspended are those linked to significant events (e.g. provisions to the
Redundancy Fund) whose period of tax reversal would fall in years when taxable income forecasts were
not yet sufficient to ensure their immediate absorption.

At the moment, this line has still been confirmed, taking info account the uncertainty and discontinuity
of the current situation with respect to the past, including in view of possible future combinations.

DTAs not recognised in the period amounted to approximately EUR 268 mlIn at Group level, with
cumulative DTAs not recognised at Group level as at 31 January 2020 totalling approximately EUR
359 min.

On a going concern basis, the recognition of deferred tax liabilities as at 1 January 2018 was assessed
on the basis of the methodology developed in recent years (probability test), including with the support
of external professionals. Account was also taken of the interruption of tax consolidation, which the
banks of the Group participated in.

With particular reference to the deferred tax assets on tax losses and ACE (aid for economic growth)
recognised until 1 January 2018, which continues to be held in these financial statements, the
probability test was carried out, based on the results of the updated 2019-2023 Strategic Plan, including
with a view to verifying whether the forecasts of future profitability, more conservative than those
considered at the end of 2018, were still such as to ensure their re-absorption and therefore justify their
recognition and maintenance over time.

Although the test highlighted that, for the foregoing reasons, the recovery time of the DTAs recognised
will be longer than that estimated as at 31 December 2018 (in the absence of volatility assumptions
from 2038 to 2042), their recognition in the financial statements is still considered sustainable.

The test carried out on the basis of the assumptions explained for 2018 has once again demonstrated
the probability that the DTAs may be recovered, although not over a short time period.

The test only concerns the EUR 693 mIn worth of deferred tax assets that are not convertible into tax

credits, on the basis, as mentioned, of the forecasts emerging from the update to the 2019-2023
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Strategic Plan, approved by the Temporary Administrators on 26 July 2019, and, finally, on the basis
of further assumptions better described in Part B of the Explanatory Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, to which reference should be made in full.

In conclusion, the simulation carried out is considered to have highlighted the elements that, pursuant
to IAS 12, are suitable for assessing "probability", including in consideration of the specific tax
regulations in force for the conversion of DTAs and the carry forward of tax losses. Among these
elements, the projection of the Strategic Plan taxable income for 2023 to the following years (at a fixed
2% growth rate exclusively equal to the expected rate of inflation) and the unlikely recurrence of the
causes identified for the significant tax losses, are key factors for assessing probability, in this specific
case.

It should be noted that an extension or worsening of the current economic-financial crisis -including in
light of ongoing developments associated with the Corona-virus pandemic in the course of 2020-
represents an element of uncertainty regarding the execution and timing reflected in the plan forecasts
and projections by the management, even considering that, for the purpose of the probability test, said
projections may potentially develop over a sufficiently long period of time to believe that the effects may
be mediated as part of the normal cycle of the economy; however, it cannot be ruled out that different
conditions may emerge, worse than those currently estimated and considered for the development of
the probability test.

When there is uncertainty over the tax treatment of certain items, IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments” clarifies how to apply the recognition and measurement requirements in IAS 12
“Income Taxes”.

IFRIC 23 clarifies how to apply the recognition and measurement requirements in IAS 12 when there is
uncertainty over whether the relevant taxation authority will accept the income tax treatment of certain
items under tax law.

In the presence of such uncertainty, it is necessary to determine whether the assumptions, estimates and
decisions taken in determining the taxable amount should be disclosed in the financial statements.
With respect to this issue, the Group has not identified any specific areas of uncertainty for which the
application of this Interpretation is expected to have an impact on these Consolidated Financial
Statements.

NON-PERFORMING LOAN PORTFOLIO DISPOSAL TO AMCO S.P.A.

In line with the 2019 - 2023 Business Plan and, particularly, the NPE strategy of the Banca Carige
Group, the Group continued the derisking process aimed at reducing its portfolio of non-performing
loans. To this end, AMCO S.p.A. (former Societd per la Gestione di Attivitd - SGA S.p.A.) submitted a
binding offer (the latest was made in June 2019) which, at Group level, envisaged the sale of non-
performing loans for a gross amount of approximately EUR 2,786 min as at 30 June 2019 (EUR 2,651
min of which pertaining to the Parent Company) at an overall sale price of approximately EUR 1,049
min (of which EUR 1,005 mlIn pertaining to the Parent Company) (“project Hydra”). On 15 and 16
November 2019, the banks of the Banca Carige Group and AMCO entered into two agreements for
the disposal of non-performing loans, one in relation to the leasing portfolio for a GBV of EUR 177 min
as at 30 June 2019 and another concerning the remaining portion of the non performing portfolio for
a GBV of EUR 2,609 min as at the same date, respectively at a sale price of EUR 48 min (leasing
portfolio) and EUR 1,001 mlIn (remaining part of NPL portfolio held for sale).

The purchase price indications contained in the binding offer for the disposal of the non-performing
loans were gradually reflected in the valuation of the portfolio at issue, in accordance with the criteria
of the Group's internal impairment models.

The disposal of the bulk of the portfolio (amounting to gross EUR 2,299 min as at 30 June 2019) took
legal effect on 20 December 2019.

As at 31 January 2020, the conditions had not yet been met for the derecognition of the residual portion
of the loan book being disposed of, consisting in leases and part of the exposures to the Messina Group,
for a total gross amount of EUR 494 mIn (gross EUR 488 mln as at 30 June 2019); the loans were
valued by taking account of the latest information available.
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The Temporary Administrators believe that the disposal of these credit exposures, which is a prerequisite
for their derecognition, will be completed in the course of 2020 on the basis of assessments by the
Company units in charge.

Reported below is a summary of the main characteristics and impacts on the exposures included in

project Hydra:

e economic effective date of the sale: 1 July 2019 (1 January 2020 for the remaining loans being
disposed of, which are subject to conditions precedent);

e legal effective date and date of derecognition, where applicable: 20 December 2019;

e gross book value sold of approximately EUR 2,786 mn as at 30 June 2019, of which around EUR
488 min in leases and part of the exposures to the Messina Group (approximately EUR 2,195 min
upon derecognition);

e sale price of approximately EUR 1,049 min as at 30 June 2019, of which around EUR 203 mln in
leases and part of the exposures to the Messina Group (consideration paid of approximately EUR
788 mln, net of retained payments, for the loan portfolio being derecognised);

e fotal writedowns/losses, including leases being disposed of and part of the exposures to the Messina
Group, for an amount of approximately EUR 452 mln, of which EUR 406 mln in losses on
impairment of loans (item 130), EUR 29 min in losses on disposal (item 100), EUR 14 mln in lower
interest income (item 10) and, finally, EUR 4 mIn in adjustments to assets measured at fair value
(item 110);

e other charges in relation to the transaction for an amount of approximately EUR 15 min (legal,
notary and advisor fees, charges for the migration of the accounts sold and, lastly, charges related
to work on leased properties that are being sold).

DISPOSALS OF NON-PERFORMING LOANS IN THE 2017-2019 PERIOD: INDEMNITIES

Some agreements for the bulk disposal of loans which were executed from 2017 to the reporting date
of these Consolidated Financial Statements include the option for purchasers to request compensation
upon the occurrence of a series of events.

During the period, a series of claims were received, for various reasons, including the non-existence of
credit protection guarantees, seftlements carried out prior to the disposal, mortgage degree lower than
declared, efc.

Overall, the claims for indemnities led to approximately EUR 5 miIn worth of charges recognised as
other operating expenses and EUR 16.6 min in higher provisions to the fund for risks and charges.

CREDIT RECOVERY VIA ACQUISITION AND COMPLETION OF REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS

The Group also pursues credit recovery via the acquisition of the real estate investments it has made
over time, seeing to it that these properties are renovated, upgraded, completed and marketed.

This activity is carried out via the real estate companies of the Group which were specifically established
for this purpose; reference is made in particular to Carige Reoco S.p.A. and Abitare RE S.r.I. The former
is 100% owned by the Parent Company and was founded in 2018; the latter was founded in 2019 and
is 100% owned by Carige Reoco.

In July 2019, in particular, the real estate company, Abitare R.E. S.r.I., signed the agreements for the
purchase of the real estate projects relating to the four cooperative companies belonging to Abitcoop,
at a price of approximately EUR 116.1 mlIn, plus EUR 13.6 min in VAT, while at the same time taking
over mortgages and loans for an amount of approximately EUR 112 mln from Carige.

The real estate projects held via the two real estate subsidiaries for the purpose of capital appreciation of
the investment through development, renovation and requalification for subsequent sale in the ordinary
course of business, were classified and measured as inventories, in accordance with I1AS 2.
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SECTION 3

Scope and methods of consolidation

1. Equity investments in wholly owned subsidiaries

The scope of consolidation has changed with respect to that used for the preparation of the Financial
Statements as at 31 December 2018 following the removal from scope of Creditis Servizi Finanziari
S.p.A. (after disposal of the Bank’s 80.1% investment in the company) and the inclusion of a new real
estate company - Abitare R.E. S.r.l. - incorporated by Carige Reoco S.p.A.

1. Equity investments in wholly owned subsidiaries

Ty(l)pfe Shareholding Voting rights (2)
relati relationship (3)
Company name Register | onshi
Operatin ed p Actual | Potentia
g office office (1) held by % held % | %
A. Companies
A.1 Consolidated line-by-line
Banking Group
1. Banca CARIGE SpA under
Temporary Administration Genoa Genoa
2. Banca del Monte Lucca SpA | Lucca Lucca 1 Al.1 60.00
100.0
3. Banca Cesare Ponti SpA Milan Milan 1 Al 0
4. Centro Fiduciario C.F. SpA
in liquidation Genoa Genoa 1 Al 96.95
5. Argo Mortgage 2 Srl Genoa Genoa 1 Al 60.00
6. Carige Covered Bond Srl Genoa Genoa 1 Al.1 60.00
7. Carige Covered Bond 2 Srl | Genoa Genoa 1 Al 60.00
8. Lanterna Finance Srl (4) Genoa Genoa 4 AT.1 5.00
9. Lanterna Consumer Srl (4) Genoa Genoa 4 Al 5.00
10. Lanterna Lease Srl (4) Genoa Genoa 4 Al 5.00
100.0
11. Carige Reoco SpA Genoa Genoa 1 AT.1 0
100.0
12. Abitare R.E. Srl Genoa Genoa 1 Al.11 0
Key

(1) Type of relationship:
1 = maijority of voting rights at ordinary shareholders’ meetings
2 = dominant influence at ordinary shareholders’ meetings
3 = agreements with other shareholders
4 = other forms of control
5 = unified management pursuant to art. 26, paragraph 1 of Legislative Decree 87/92
6 = unified management pursuant to art. 26, paragraph 2 of Legislative Decree 87/92
(2) Voting rights available at ordinary shareholders’ meetings, both actual and potential
(3) Value entered only if other than the percentage of ownership

(4) Self-securitisation SPV, controlled under the requirements of IFRS 10.
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As regards the scope of business, subsidiaries can be divided into banking institutions (Banca Carige
S.p.A, Banca del Monte di Lucca S.p.A, Banca Cesare Ponti S.p.A.), trust companies (Centro Fiduciario
C.F. S.p.A. in liquidation), special-purpose vehicles for securitisations (Argo Mortgage 2 S.r.l., Lanterna
Finance S.r.l., Lanterna Consumer S.r.l. and Lanterna Lease S.r.l.), special-purpose vehicles for the
issuance of covered bonds (Carige Covered Bond S.r.I. and Carige Covered Bond 2 S.r.l.) and real
estate companies (Carige Reoco S.p.A. and Abitare R.E. S.r.1.).

It is noted that the special-purpose vehicles Argo Mortgage 2 S.r.l., Lanterna Finance S.r.l., Carige
Covered Bond S.r.l. and Carige Covered Bond 2 S.r.l. were all consolidated line by line. The assets
were not derecognised from the financial statements of the respective transferors under either the
securitisations or disposals for the issuance of covered bonds, as all connected risks and rewards were
substantially retained by the Group.

These Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared using the reporting packages as at 31 January
2020 made available by the Parent Company and the other consolidated entities, as approved by their
respective governing bodies and drafted according to the IASs/IFRSs approved and effective as at the
reporting date, according to guidance provided by the Parent Company. The consolidated income
statement includes the data of Creditis Servizi Finanziari S.p.A., netted of intercompany transactions,
until 31 March 2019.

2, Significant judgements and assumptions in determining the scope of
consolidation

According to the IASs/IFRSs, the scope of consolidation includes all directly or indirectly controlled

entities.

The concept of control applied is that outlined in the IFRS 10 - Consolidated financial statements. The

companies that were considered to be subsidiaries and therefore included in the scope of line-by-line

consolidation are all those companies in which the Parent Company has all of the following elements:

— control over the entity in which the investment is held, or sufficient rights that give it the ability to
direct the investee's activities;

— exposure to positive or negative variable returns, deriving from its involvement with the investee, that
vary as a result of the investee’s performance;

— the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of its returns.

All subsidiaries were included in the scope of consolidation. Excluded from the scope of consolidation,

however, were non-investees for which shares with voting rights were received on pledge, inasmuch as

the guarantee obtained was intended as a credit protection instrument and not as an instrument to

exercise influence over the companies in question.

The special-purpose vehicles Lanterna Finance S.r.l., Lanterna Consumer S.r.l and Lanterna Lease S.r.l.,

set up to carry out securitisation transactions, were considered to be subsidiaries and were thus included

in the scope of consolidation, although they are only 5% owned.

At the reporting date, no jointly controlled companies were identified, to which "IFRS 11 - Joint

Arrangements" applies.
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3. Equity investments in wholly-owned subsidiaries with significant non-
controlling interests

3.1 Non-controlling interests, availability of votes of non-controlling interests and
dividends distributed to non-controlling interests

Company name Non-controlling Voting rights held | Dividends paid to
interests % by non-controlling
non-controlling interests

interests % (1)

1. Banca del Monte Lucca S.p.A. 40.00 40.00 -

(1) Votes available at ordinary shareholders' meeting
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3.2 Significant non-controlling interests: accounting information

Company Total Cash and Financial Property & Financial Sharehold Net Net interest Operatin Profit Profit Profit (loss) Net Profit Other Total
Name assets cash assets equipment | liabilities ers' equity Interest and other g (loss) (loss) after after tax (Loss) compre | comprehensi
equivalents and Income banking expenses before tax from from (1) hensive ve income
intangible income tax from continuin discontinu income, (3)
assets continui g ed affer tax =
ng operation operations 2) (M+(2)
operatio s
ns
3. Banca del
Monte Lucca (17,285
S.pA 673,364 9,739 600,714 20,180 611,055 32,541 10,679 19,562 (22,278) ) (16,907) (16,907) (116) (17,023)

(1) The data used are taken from the reporting package as at 31/01/2020 that was used for the consolidation process.
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4. Significant restrictions

It is noted that, under the requirements of paragraph 13 of IFRS12, no material or legal restrictions or
constraints exist that may hinder the prompt transfer of capital resources within the Group. The only existing
constraints are the ones that can be traced to (i) regulatory provisions, which may require a minimum
amount of own funds or a Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) to be held, and a ban on dividend pay-out, and
(ii) the ltalian Civil Code provisions on reserves and profit distribution.

5. Other information
Investments in associates, i.e. companies subject o significant influence, were measured at equity.

Equity investments in companies subject to significant influence (consolidated using the equity method)

Operating | Registered Shareholding relationship Voting rights
Company name : '
office office —
0 otentia
held by % held | AVl % | Ty
A. Companies consolidated at
equity
1. Autostrada dei Fiori S.p.A. Turin Imperia Banca Carige S.p.A. | 20.62

With reference to Autostrada dei Fiori S.p.A., it is noted that the latest reporting package as at 31 December
2019 was used, as approved by its Board of Directors pursuant to the IAS/IFRS accounting standards.

With reference to companies over which the Group exerts significant influence, measurement at cost was
maintained for companies that are not considered value-relevant, in accordance with the general principles
set out in the framework. The equity investment in Nuova Erzelli S.r.l. was booked at Euro 0.01 after write-
down.

Equity investments in companies subject to significant influence excluded from the equity method

. ) Shareholding relationship Voting rights
C Operating | Registered
ompany name : :
office office -
held b % Actual Potential
i held % %
1. Nuova Erzelli S.r.l. Genoa Genoa Banca Carige S.p.A. 40.00
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lllustrated below are the characteristics of the two consolidation methods adopted.

Line-by-line consolidation

Financial statements, prepared using line-by-line consolidation, reflect the capital, economic and financial

position of the Group, intended as one business entity. For this purpose, four operational steps are required:

- standardise the accounting policies applied within the scope of consolidation, introducing adjustments
as necessary, should a member of the Group have adopted principles other than those used in the
consolidated financial statements for similar transactions and events under similar circumstances;

- aggregate the financial statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries line by line. The
corresponding values of assets, liabilities, shareholders’ equity, revenues and expenses are then summed
up;

- offset the value of investments in subsidiaries against the corresponding portion of shareholders’ equity
for those companies as at the date of their first-time recognition in the consolidated financial statements.
At the acquisition date, the fair values of all assets and liabilities acquired are measured and goodwill
is determined as required by IFRS 3. Being an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life, goodwill is
not amortised: however, its carrying amount is tested for impairment annually or whenever there is an
indication that it may have incurred a long-lasting loss in value to verify that its recoverable value remains
higher. Negative differences are recognised in the Income Statement. The non-controlling interest share
of shareholders’ equity and profit (loss) is recognised as a separate item;

- cancel significant intra-group balance-sheet and profit and loss entries between companies subject to
line-by-line consolidation.

The consolidation of a subsidiary company begins when the Group obtains control and ceases when the
Group loses control. The assets, liabilities, costs and proceeds of the subsidiary acquired or sold during
the period are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which the Group obtains
control until the date on which the Group no longer exercises control over the company.

Profit (loss) for the period and other comprehensive income are attributed to the Parent Company and to
non-controlling interests, even if this implies that non-controlling interests have a negative balance. When
necessary, appropriate adjustments are made to the subsidiaries' financial statements in order to ensure
compliance with the group's accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, shareholders' equity,
revenues, costs and cash flows relating to transactions between group entities are fully written-off on
consolidation.

Changes in the equity interests held in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
in equity.

If the Group loses control of a subsidiary, related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling

interests and other comprehensive shareholders' equity shall be written off, while any gain or loss shall be
recognised in the income statement. Any shareholding retained must be measured at fair value.
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Consolidation at equity

Through the equity method, an investment is initially recognised at cost and then adjusted according to
changes in the investor’s share of the investee’s shareholders’ equity. The book value of the investment is
increased or decreased to recognise changes in shareholders’ equity resulting from gains or losses of the
investee that are recognised as “Gains (losses) on investments in associates and companies subject to joint
control” in the Income Statement. The shares of changes in shareholders’ equity indicated in the balance
sheet of the investee without passing through profit or loss are instead recognised directly to Reserves.

The difference between the cost of the investment and the share of shareholders” equity acquired is treated
using a similar approach to line-by-line consolidation, except that if there is a positive residual difference
(goodwill), it is not recognised to its own separate item among intangible assets, and therefore tested
separately for impairment, but remains posted under Equity Investments.

Following application of the equity method, the entire book value of the investment is tested for impairment
by comparing its recoverable value and its carrying amount if there is evidence that the value of the
investment has decreased. Any intra-group gains or losses are cancelled in proportion to the shareholding
in the associate.

Upon loss of significant influence over an associate, the Group assesses and recognises the residual
investment at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the investment as at the date on
which the Group ceases to exercise significant influence and the fair value of the residual investment and
the consideration received is recognised in the income statement.
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SECTION 4

Subsequent events

Pursuant to the provisions of IAS 10, information is given that, from 31 January 2020 (the reporting date
of the Financial Statements) to 29 May 2020 (the date on which the draft Financial Statements were
approved by the Temporary Administrators), no events occurred that would require an adjustment to the
amounts recognised.

On 11 February 2020, the Board of Directors of Banca Carige granted the Nomination and Governance
Committee the powers to steer the strategic guidelines for the definition of sustainability policies and
initiatives, without prejudice to the strategic responsibilities of the Board of Directors. The Committee was
thus renamed Nomination, Governance and Sustainability Committee and was assigned support tasks in
the definition of strategic guidelines, contributing to ensure that sustainability policies and risks are correctly
managed, in particular in the areas envisaged by Legislative Decree no. 254/2016, as well as the task of
providing the Board of Directors with a prior opinion on the performance of activities related to the
preparation of the consolidated non-financial statement pursuant to Legislative Decree no. 254/2016, to
be submitted to the Board of Directors for approval.

Following the spread of Covid-19, the Bank launched a series of initiatives to support its footprint areas,
including:

- allocation of a total of EUR 20 mln for granting soft loans to companies that have reported a
slowdown in their activities following the spread of the Covid-19 crisis, and a 3-month suspension
of loan repayments for retail customers residing in the "lockdown areas" and companies with
registered or operational headquarters in the same areas;

- inferest-free "loans of honour' of up to EUR 5,000, rapidly disbursed also on-line, to small
businesses and self-employed workers affected by the stoppage of activity due to the Covid-19
pandemic; interest-free advances on temporary unemployment benefits for a maximum amount of

EUR 1,400.

On 26 February 2020, the Board of Directors of Banca Carige approved the funding programme for
2020, more specifically:

= new issuing programmes of bank covered bonds;

= one new securitisation transaction;

= disposal of new assets to the special-purpose vehicle Lanterna Finance;

= launch of a new TLTRO Il programme;

= a Euro Medium Term Notes (EMTN) programme up to a total maximum amount of EUR 1,000

min;

= the issue of Certificates, for a maximum amount of EUR 1,000 mln;

= the issue/offering and listing of domestic bonds, for a maximum amount of EUR 1,500 min;

= the marketing of time deposits through the international platform RAISIN.

On 20 March 2020, upon request of the Common Representative of Savings Shareholders, the Special
Meeting of Savings Shareholders was convened, in a single call, for Monday, 20 April 2020 to resolve on
the following agenda:

1. Update by the Common Representative of savings shareholders on the court challenge filed against
the resolution adopted by the Extraordinary Meeting of Ordinary Shareholders on 20 September 2019.
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Decisions on the continuation of judicial activities undertaken and their funding. Related and ensuing
resolutions.

2. Increasing the Fund established under article 146, paragraph 1, letter ¢, of Legislative Decree no.
58/1998. Related and ensuing resolutions.

The Shareholders' Meeting was attended (including by proxy) by many shareholders, representing 18.34%
of the shares of this class. The proposals by the Common Representative of the Savings Shareholders were
approved by 98.27% of the share capital represented at the Shareholders' Meeting. 1.73% of the votes
were against the proposals.

On 22 April 2020, the Board of Directors approved the Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure
Report for 2019, agreeing for it to be published before the Temporary Administration financial statements
in order to ensure a timing of publication in line with the practices of other Issuers. The Corporate
Governance and Ownership Structure Report for 2019 was thus published on 29 April 2020.

On 29 April 2020, the Board of Directors resolved to convene the Extraordinary and Ordinary
Shareholders' Meeting of the Bank on 29 May 2020, in one call, to resolve on the following agenda:

Extraordinary session

1. Proposal for the optional conversion of the Company’s savings shares into ordinary shares. Ensuing
amendments to the Articles of Association. Related and ensuing resolutions.

2. Proposal for a reverse split of ordinary and savings shares outstanding, at a ratio of 1 (one) new
ordinary share issued, with regular dividend entitlement, for every 1,000 (one thousand) ordinary shares
held and 1 (one) new savings share with regular dividend entitlement for every 1,000 (one thousand)
savings shares held. Ensuing amendment to art. 5 of the Articles of Association. Related and ensuing
resolutions

Ordinary session

1. Waiver of the liability actions against former Chairman Cesare Castelbarco Albani and former
CEQ Piero Luigi Montani

2. Engagement of the independent auditing firm for financial years 2021-2029 and related
resolutions

3. Report on the Remuneration Policy and compensation paid

4. Third-party liability insurance for members of the corporate bodies

The resolutions relating to the Extraordinary session of the shareholders' meeting agenda concern a set of
measures aimed at rationalising the Bank's shareholding structure, including in view of the Bank’s shares
potentially being readmitted to listing on the Electronic Stock Market (Mercato Telematico Azionario)
organised and managed by Borsa Italiana S.p.A., after suspension from trading since January 2019.
More specifically, the Reverse Split will reduce the number of shares outstanding, net of brokerage and
trading of any fractional shares. With a view to facilitating the Reverse Stock Split for individual shareholders
and the brokerage of any fractional shares arising from the Reverse Stock Split, a service will be made
available to the shareholders for dealing with fractional shares that cannot be reverse split. Furthermore,
prior to the Reverse Stock Split, the Bank will define the appropriate rounding-up procedures including
through a broker identified for this service.

The Optional Conversion of ordinary shares -to be effected by 31 December 2020 at a conversion ratio
of 20,500 ordinary shares for each savings share opted in for conversion- is intended to enable savings
shareholders opting in, to renew their presence in the Bank’s shareholding structure, by receiving ordinary
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shares of the Bank, potentially with a significantly higher level of tradability than today’s de facto very
limited tradability of savings shares.

Should the Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting approve both transactions, the Reverse Stock Split would
be effected after the Optional Conversion, with both to be completed, however, by no later than 31
December 2020.

As part of the agenda of the ordinary session, the Shareholders' Meeting will be called, among other
aspects, to express its opinion on the engagement of the independent auditing firm for financial years
2021-2029 on the basis of the reasoned proposal of the Board of Statutory Auditors pursuant to Legislative
Decree no. 39/2010.

In fact, upon approval of the financial statements as at 31 December 2020, the engagement to audit the
company's financial statement conferred by the Shareholders' Meeting of Banca Carige of 29 April 2011
on Ernst & Young S.p.A., for the nine-year period 2012-2020, will come to an end.

In light of this, it was deemed appropriate to submit to the Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting the proposal
for the engagement of the independent auditing firm for the nine-year period 2021-2029, prior to the
expiry of the current statutory audit engagement, in line with the market practices adopted by the main
ltalian banking groups and considering the need to ensure an effective and efficient process of turnover of
the auditing firms, including through a more fruitful handover between the outgoing and incoming auditing
firm.

The coronavirus pandemic broke out in mainland China when the Temporary Administration period was
nearing its conclusion and subsequently spread out to other countries including ltaly, causing a slowdown
or a standstill of the economic and commercial activity in many industries. The Carige Group, also through
the Parent Company's competent functions, was able to take timely action to ensure continuity of service.
More specifically, immediate action was taken to protect Group employees, with extensive recourse to
smart working by endowing personnel with the appropriate technological equipment. Measures were also
taken to manage the impact on teller operations with a view to guaranteeing the provision of services, to
ascertain the adoption by the main suppliers of business continuity measures with the aim of ensuring
service continuity, and to support individuals and businesses that were hit by the coronavirus pandemic.
Despite the uncertainty about the emergency progression, such measures are ensuring the operational
continuity of the service.

As a result of the partial and temporary halt of economic activities due to the pandemic, ltaly's economic
forecasts for 2020 are uncertain; moreover, ltaly's economy will be impacted by the effects that the
pandemic is generating at a global macroeconomic level. At the moment, such impacts on domestic
economy are impossible to predict, as they will largely depend on the duration of the crisis, the effectiveness
of the initiatives implemented by the Authorities, the resilience and the responsiveness of both businesses
and households, and the role that the banking system will be able to play in supporting the economy. A
significant contraction in ltaly's GDP is most definitely expected, also in view of the slowdown in the
economic cycle that was already underway before the spread of the pandemic. The extent of the contraction
is, however, difficult to predict at this stage, as evidenced by the variability of the first estimates released by
leading economic research institutes; the economic measures that the ltalian government and the European
institutions have promptly taken and the further measures that could be taken during the year -should the
exacerbation of the crisis make them necessary or appropriate- will certainly help mitigating the
recessionary effects.

The Group considers this event to have taken place after the Reporting Period; no adjustment is thus
required, pursuant to IAS 10. With regard to the information to be disclosed pursuant to paragraph 125
of IAS 1, which requires companies to disclose information about the assumptions it makes about the
future, and other major sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
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significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, and in the face of a smooth and rapidly evolving situation, it is not considered
possible at present to provide a quantitative estimate of the potential impact of the coronavirus pandemic
on the Company's economic and financial position, given the multiple variables that are still unknown and
undetermined. Such impact will thus be included in the 2020 accounting estimates.

Degrees of uncertainty are in particular attributable to the factors underlying the forward-looking models
required by IFRS 9 for estimating expected losses on credit exposures. These scenarios, however, in such a
context, characterised by high uncertainty, could produce excessively volatile and pro-cyclical results.
Therefore, the ECB has urged banks to take long-term stable outlooks into account in the scenario analyses
used to estimate the cost of credit. The ECB has also pointed out that it will reserve the right to provide
banks with macroeconomic scenarios for the application of provisioning policies in the near future.
Against these premises, the Group estimated the expected loss as at 31 January 2020, on the basis of the
expected evolution of the main economic variables as at that date, properly weighted according to the
probability of occurrence attributed to the various scenarios identified. "Part E - Information on risks and
risk hedging policies" of the Explanatory Notes provides information on the main economic variables used
in the estimates as at 31 January 2020 and how, by varying them on the basis of the preliminary information
available, the estimates of the expected loss on the Group may vary.

Moreover, with reference to the other areas affected by the uncertainties associated with the coronavirus
pandemic, "Section 11 - Tax Assets and liabilities" of Part B Assets of the Explanatory Notes provides
information about the underlying assumptions, the methodology applied and the results of the "probability
test" of deferred tax assets pursuant to IAS 12.
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SECTION 5

Other information

Suspension of the domestic tax consolidation regime

Banca Carige S.p.A. and the companies of the Carige Group have adopted -as of its introduction in
the Italian tax legislation by Legislative Decree No. 344/2003- the “national tax consolidation” option,
as regulated by articles 117-129 of the Consolidated Law on Income Tax (Testo Unico delle Imposte
sui Redditi - "TUIR"). It consists of an optional treatment, whereby the total net income or the tax loss of
each subsidiary participating in the tax consolidation -together with the withheld amounts, deductions
and tax credits- are transferred to the parent company, for which a single taxable income or a single
reportable tax loss is determined (resulting from the algebraic sum of its own income/losses and of those
of the participating subsidiaries) and, consequently, a single tax payable/receivable is calculated.
Banca Carige was placed under Temporary Administration from 2 January 2019 to 31 January 2020.
For tax purposes, art. 75 of the Consolidated Law on Banking, which sets forth the final obligations of
the Temporary administrators, establishes that such a time span coincides with both the accounting year
and the tax reporting period for taxes related to the financial year.

Given that the Temporary Administration procedure concerned only Banca Carige and not the other
companies consolidated for tax purposes, the extension of the Temporary Administration period to 2020
has caused the misalignment between the Parent Company's tax period and that of the consolidated

entities, and hence the suspension of the national tax consolidation regime as of fiscal year beginning
on 1 January 2019.

Auditing

The Banca Carige Group's consolidated financial statements were audited by EY S.p.A. on a voluntary
basis.

The Auditing Firm also verifies the consistency of the information contained in the "Report on
Operations".
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A.2 - MAIN ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PURSUANT TO

ART. 75, PARA. 2 OF THE ITALIAN CONSOLIDATED LAW ON BANKING

For the different items in the Balance Sheet, this section illustrates the criteria adopted for the

classification, recognition, measurement, derecognition and reporting of income components.

1. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS

Classification criteria

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include:

a)
b)

9)

financial assets held for trading;
financial assets measured at fair value (fair value option);
financial assets mandatorily at fair value.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the short term
with the objective of generating a profit from short[Jterm fluctuations in price or dealer’s
margin;

part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which
there is a short-term profit expectation, or the evidence of a recent pattern of short[Jterm
profitJtaking;

a derivative contract that is not accounted for as a hedging instrument (to which a specific
accounting policy is applied - “hedge accounting”) or that does not fall within the definition
of a financial guarantee contract.

The category of financial assets held for trading includes securities and the positive values of
derivative contracts held for trading (negative values are posted to the item “Financial liabilities held
for trading”).

A derivative is a financial instrument with all three of the following characteristics:

its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument
price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit
index, or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is
not specific to a party to the contract;

it requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be
required for other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to
changes in market factors; and

it is settled at a future date.

Derivatives held for trading include those which are operationally linked to financial assets and/or
liabilities carried at fair value (subject to the fair value option) or classified as held for trading with

seftlement of spreads or margins on different maturities (‘multiflow" contracts) and derivatives

embedded in hybrid financial liabilities, which were recognised separately because:

their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to the economic characteristics
and risks of the host contracts;

the embedded instruments meet the definition of a derivative contract;

hybrid instruments are not measured at fair value, with related changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

The banks of the Group have decided not to make use of the fair value option for financial assets.
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Financial assets mandatorily at fair value are assets other than derivative contracts represented by
debt instruments whose contractual terms do not give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding' and assets other than
those held for trading, with a different business model (‘other business model)?.

Reclassifications among different categories of financial assets shall be carried out when, and only
when, an entity changes its business model for managing financial assets.

Reclassifications are allowed only for debt instruments and not for derivative contracts® and equity
instruments, and must be done prospectively from the reclassification date, without restating any
previously recognised profit and loss items.

Changes in business model do not include a change in intention related to particular financial assets,
the temporary disappearance of a particular market for financial assets or a transfer of financial
assefs between parts of the entity with different business models.

Changes in the entity's management of financial assets under the selected business model, for
example an increase in the frequency of sales, do not lead to a reclassification of existing assets but
to a different classification of financial assets subsequently acquired.

The accounting criteria for reclassifications of financial assets are as follows*:

e From AC to FVTPL: the carrying amount in the new category is the fair value of the asset at
the reclassification date. Any difference between the previous amortised cost of the financial
asset and fair value as at the reclassification date is recognised in profit or loss.

e From FVTPL to AC: the fair value as at the reclassification date becomes its new carrying
amount, consequently with no difference to be posted to profit or loss. The internal rate of
return is determined using the fair value of the asset at the reclassification date.

e From FVTPL to FVTOCI: the financial asset continues to be measured at fair value. The
internal rate of return is determined using the fair value of the asset at the reclassification
date.

e From FVTOCI to FVTPL: the financial asset continues to be measured at fair value. The
amounts suspended in the OCI reserve are entirely written down and recognised in profit or
loss.

e From AC to FVTOCI: the carrying amount in the new category is the fair value of the asset
at the reclassification date. Any difference between the previous amortised cost of the
financial asset and the fair value is recognised in other comprehensive income; the loss
allowance is derecognised from the gross carrying amount of the asset and recognised in
other comprehensive income. The effective interest rate and the measurement of expected
credit losses are not adjusted as a result of the reclassification.

e From FVTOCI to AC: the fair value as at the reclassification date becomes its new carrying
amount. The effective inferest rate and the measurement of expected credit losses are not
adjusted as a result of the reclassification. The amounts suspended in the OCI reserve are
entirely written down and recognised in the asset value and not in profit or loss, as if the asset
had always been measured at amortised cost.

!Financial instrument that fail the “Solely Payment of Principal and Interest test (SPPI test)”.
2 “Other business models” are neither:
v" held to collect " contractual flows (HTC) nor
v" held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets(HTC&S).
3 Trading derivatives may only be subsequently designated as effective hedges.
*The different categories of financial assets are:
e  CA: financial assets at amortised cost;
e FVTOCI: financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income;

e  FVTPL: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, other than those measured at fair value.
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Recognition criteria

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value,
usually for an amount equal to the consideration given, less transaction costs or proceeds that are
directly attributable to the financial asset, which are recognised directly in profit or loss.

Loans are initially recognised when, and only when, the bank becomes a party to the contract of the
financial asset and thus acquires the unconditional right to receive payment of the amounts due
under the contract.

Securities are recognised at settlement date; any changes in fair value occurring between the trade
date and settlement date are recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative contracts are recognised at the date when they are entered into.

Measurement criteria

After initial recognition, financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are measured
at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

The criteria adopted for measuring the fair value of financial instruments are reported in Section A.4,
“Information on Fair Value” of the Explanatory Notes.

Transactions in derivatives settled through central clearing platforms, are subject to netting of positive
and negative fair values under IAS 32, applying the conventional criteria described in Circular
262/2005, when both of the following requirements are met:

a) an entity has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and

b) intends either to seftle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Derecognition criteria

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are derecognised when they are sold,
substantially transferring all related risks and rewards, or when the contractual rights to cash flows
expire.

Ciriteria for the recognition of income

Interest income on loans and debt securities, as well as spreads and margins on derivatives
operationally linked to financial assets and/or liabilities measured at fair value (subject to the fair
value option) or classified as held for trading with settlement of spreads or margins expected to take
place on different maturities (“multiflow” contracts) are recognised on an accrual basis under the
sub-items of interest income.

Dividends are recognised on an accrual basis with reference to the date of the resolution adopted
for the payout by the Shareholders’” Meeting and are posted to the item “Dividends and similar
income”.

Gains and losses from trading and capital gains and losses arising from fair value measurement are
recognised through profit or loss in the period in which they arise and are posted to the item “Net
profit (loss) from trading”.

2. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Classification criteria

Debt instruments are classified as financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (net equity) it both of the following conditions are met:

* the financial asset is part of a “Held to collect and sell - HTC&S” business model, whose
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objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets,
and
* the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that

are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding®.
Investments in equity instruments not held for trading that would otherwise have been measured at
fair value through profit or loss are classified in this item, if an entity makes an irrevocable election
at initial recognition to present in other comprehensive income any subsequent changes in the fair
value of the investment ("Fair Value OCI option" or FVTOCI).
In this item, the banks of the Group only classify securities, availing itself, in particular, of the
“FVTOCI option” for investments not qualifying as interests in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures.

The criteria adopted for reclassification of financial assets are reported in Section 1 "Financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss”.

Recognition criteria

Loans are initially recognised when the bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument and thus acquires the unconditional right to receive payment of the amounts under the
contract.

Securities are recognised at settlement date; any changes in fair value occurring between the trade
date and settlement date are posted to an OCl reserve.

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are initially recognised
at fair value, usually for an amount equal to the consideration given, plus transaction costs or
proceeds that are directly attributable to the financial asset.

Transaction costs and proceeds directly attributable to the initial recognition are the incremental costs
directly aftributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of the financial assets which can be
immediately determined as at that date; transaction costs do not include costs which, although having
the same characteristics, may be subject to repayment by the counterparty or included under normal
internal administrative costs.

Derecognition criteria

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are derecognised when
they are sold, substantially transferring all related risks and rewards, or when the contractual rights
to their cash flows expire, or when an entity expects that all or a portion of the exposures will not be
recovered.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset shall be reduced if an entity has no reasonable
expectations of fully or partly recovering such financial asset. The write-off may occur before the legal
actions for asset recovery have been concluded and it does not necessarily imply the waiver of the
legal right of recovery for the bank.

The write-off constitutes an event of derecognition of a financial asset or a portion thereof.

As regards a write-off of a portion of a financial asset, it may take place only if carried out after the
identification of specific cash flows (or a portion thereof) that the entity has no reasonable prospects
of recovering.

The write-off policies adopted by the banks of the Group are described in Section E of the Explanatory
Notes concerning “Credit risk”.

5 Financial instruments that pass the “Solely payment of principal and interest test (SPPI test)”.
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Revenue recognition and measurement criteria

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are subsequently
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value presented in a valuation reserve. The criteria
adopted for measuring the fair value of financial instruments are reported in Section A.4,
“Information on Fair Value” of the Explanatory Notes.

For debt instruments only, expected losses on receivables are also recognised in the income
statement as an offsetting entry to the valuation reserve, with no reduction in the value of the asset,
which is presented at its total fair value. Paragraph “3 Financial assets measured at amortised cost”
describes the criteria for the recognition of expected losses on loans.

The write-off amount corresponds to:

. the reversal of overall loan loss provisions, with offsetting entry to the gross carrying amount
of financial assets, and

. for the part exceeding the overall loan loss provisions amount, the impairment of the financial
asset directly recognised in profit or loss.

Possible recoveries subsequent to write-off are recognised in profit or loss under reversals, while the
accounting of reversals on revalued assets previously de-recognised is not allowed.

Interest income on debt securities is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method
as “Interest and similar income”; this item also includes the interest accrued in relation to the time
value of money, determined when impaired financial assets are measured on the basis of their
original effective interest rate.

Arrears interest on credit-impaired financial assets is recognised in profit or loss only when collected.
Dividends are recognised on an accrual basis with reference to the date of the resolution adopted
for the payout by the Shareholders’ Meeting and are posted to the item “Dividends and similar
income”.

Gains and losses from disposal of debt instruments measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise and are
posted to the item “Profits (losses) on disposal or repurchase of financial assets measured at fair
value through profit and loss with impact on comprehensive income”, which includes what is known
as the recycle of the equity reserve to profit or loss.

Gains and losses from disposal of debt instruments measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income, including what is known as the recycle of the equity reserve, are recognised
as a retained earnings reserve.
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3. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST

Classification criteria

Debt instruments are classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost if both of the following
conditions are met:
* the financial asset is part of a “Held to collect - HTC” business model, whose objective is to
hold assets to collect contractual cash flows, and
* the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding®.
The banks of the Group classify in this item loans to banks and customers consisting in both loans
and debt securities.

The criteria adopted for reclassification of financial assets are reported in Section 1 "Financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss”.

Recognition criteria

Loans are initially recognised when the bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument and thus acquires the unconditional right to receive payment of the amounts under the
contract. Debt securities are recognised on the date on which settlement takes place.

Financial assets at amortised cost are initially recognised at fair value, usually corresponding to the
amount granted or subscription price, plus any directly atftributable transaction costs’.

Transaction costs and proceeds directly attributable to the initial recognition are the incremental costs
directly aftributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of the financial assets which can be
immediately determined as at that date; transaction costs do not include costs which, although having
the same characteristics, may be subject to repayment by the counterparty or included under normal
internal administrative costs.

As concerns Purchased or Originated Credit-Impaired assets (“POCI”), the fair value corresponds to
the total of cash flows discounted at the credit adjusted effective interest rate (“CEIR"); “CEIR” is the
rate that, at initial recognition, exactly discounts the expected value of future cash flows to the initial
value at amortised cost.

The “POCI” scope identified by the banks of the Group corresponds to the “new finance”® referred
to non-performing forborne exposures’.

If the contractual cash flows are renegotiated or modified and the asset does not qualify for
derecognition, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset shall be recalculated by discounting
the renegotiated or modified contractual cash flows at the financial asset's original effective interest
rate. Any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the modified financial asset and are
amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial asset.

The scope of renegotiated or otherwise modified financial assets, which may not qualify for
derecognition, has been identified by the banks of the Group (if the modifications are not significant)
as coinciding with forborne exposures (both performing and non-performing); for such exposures, a
qualitative and quantitative assessment is carried out to determine whether there was a substantial

¢ Financial instruments that pass the “Solely payment of principal and interest test (SPPI test)”.

7 Except for trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and that must be initially recognised at
their transaction price, in accordance with IFRS 15.

8 “New finance” is understood as the actual disbursement of new amounts to the debtor and not a mere increase of the
credit facility granted, for example when a past due exposure is rescheduled.

% A business strategy for the purchase of non-performing exposures is not in place and substitution of the NPEs is not part

of the loan restructuring management process.
109



modification of the contractual terms'®.

""" aimed at preserving the customer base and carried out under the

All “commercial renegotiation
existing market conditions at the date of modification are considered by the banks of the Group as

substantial and not resulting in material profit/loss and balance sheet impacts due to the adoption
of IFRS 9.

Measurement criteria

After initial recognition, financial assets measured at amortised cost are measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

The amortised cost is the amount measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus
or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between
that initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction for impairment or
uncollectibility.

The effective interest method is a method for calculating the amortised cost and allocating interest
over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument, including both directly attributable transaction
costs and revenues and all fees paid or received between parties to the contract, so as to exactly
obtain the first recognition value'?.

In order to calculate the effective interest rate, the estimate of cash flows and the expected life of a
financial instrument shall consider all the relevant contractual terms (for example, prepayment,
extension, call and similar options), but shall not consider the expected credit losses'®.

If interest rates and transaction costs and revenues vary according to market parameters, the financial
asset’s credit-adjusted effective interest rate (or “CEIR”) shall be periodically redetermined in
accordance with the variation in the contractual rate and related future cash flows.

The original credit-adjusted effective interest rate (or “CEIR”) may not be modified, not even when
the contractual terms are renegotiated or modified due to the financial difficulty of the borrower; on
the contrary, a variation due to circumstances other than the financial difficulty of the borrower, such
as legal requirements, entails the consequent revision of the original credit-adjusted effective interest
rate (or “CEIR").

The amortised cost method is not applied to short-term financial assets (with term to maturity up to
12 months), with an indefinite life or revolving, inasmuch as the effects of application of discounted
cash flows are deemed negligible for this particular case.

For a financial instrument measured at amortised cost, an entity shall, at each reporting date,
recognise a loss allowance at an amount equal to:
* lifetime expected credit losses, if there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition;
* 12-month expected credit losses (after the reporting date) if, at the reporting date, the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

10 For further details, reference should be made to the following paragraph concerning the “derecognition criteria”.

" Commercially renegotiated financial assets are defined by the Bank of Italy in Circular no. 262/2005 as
“financial assets subject to contractual modification in accordance with paragraph 5.4.3 and Appendix A of IFRS
9, other than forborne exposures”.

12 As regards “POCI” exposures, the “CEIR” rate is used, as defined in the previous paragraph.

13 As stated in the previous paragraph, for the latter aspect, "POCI" exposures are considered an exception.
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Expected credit losses are defined as the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks
of a default occurring as the weights and, in particular:

* lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument;

* 12-month expected credit losses are the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that
represent the expected losses that result from default events on a financial instrument that
are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.

The credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to an entity in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the entity expects to receive (cash shortfalls),
discounted at the original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for Purchased
or Originated Credit-Impaired financial assets).

Recoverable cash flows are estimated by considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument
through the expected life of that financial instrument and shall include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

If an entity has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit losses in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that credit risk on that financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
entity shall measure the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses at
the current reporting date.

Financial assets are classified into three stages that are reflective of the credit quality impairment
model under IFRS 9; the stages are as follows:

e Stage 1: financial instruments with no significant increases in credit risk since initial
recognition;

* Stage 2: financial instruments that have undergone significant increases in credit risk since
initial recognition, but that do not show objective evidence of impairment;

* Stage 3: credit-impaired financial assets for which there is objective evidence of impairment
at the reporting date.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events have occurred that have a significant
impact on the expected future cash flows of the financial asset. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or borrower;

b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past-due event;

c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, granted to the borrower a concession that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of the financial
difficulties of the borrower; or

f) the purchase or origination of financial assets at a deep discount that reflects the incurred
credit losses.

The combined effect of several events may cause financial assets to become credit-impaired.

As regards own securities, if several tranches of the same security are purchased at different dates, it
is possible that the initial purchase conditions may differ from one another (different ratings/PDs of
the individual securities or of the issuer). In consideration of this, the assessment of changes in credit
risk since initial recognition and for the calculation of expected credit losses adopts a “tranche-based

approach” which applies the “FIFO” (First In First Out) principle to determine the outstanding
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balance. This method allows for a more transparent management of the portfolio and a continuous
updating of creditworthiness.
For the purpose of determining significant increases in the credit risk of exposures for their allocation
to the three stages, the Group has defined the use of absolute qualitative criteria and relative
quantitative criteria:

* (absolute) qualitative criteria for classification in Stage 2:

v" use of the “Low Credit Risk Exemption” for debt securities that have an updated rating
included in the “investment grade” scope;

v forloans, automatic classification of exposures that are at least 30 days past due in Stage
2 (without using the “rebuttable presumption” under IFRS 9);

v for loans, automatic classification of “forborne” positions in Stage 2;

v’ for loans, use of performance monitoring indicators for classifying some positions in
Stage 2;

* (relative) quantitative criteria for the classification in Stage 2: comparing the degree of risk

of each position at initial recognition and at reporting date (comparing Probability of Default
curves);
» classification of all exposures in default in Stage 3: the definition of “default” used is in line

with the requlatory framework (prudential supervisory reporting - COREP) and it is also used

in the internal credit risk management models”.

In order to recognise lifetime expected credit losses for significant increases in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial recognition, an assessment of the significant increase in credit risk
on a collective basis may be necessary, considering all reasonable and supportable information,
including that which is forward-looking, about significant increases in the credit risk, for example in
a group or a subgroup of financial instruments.
This is to ensure that the objective of recognising lifetime expected credit losses is achieved, where
significant increases of credit risk have occurred - even though no specific evidence of such increases
is available on an individual basis (individual asset). Lifetime expected credit losses are generally
expected to be recognised before a financial instrument becomes past due.
For the purpose of determining significant increases in credit risk and recognising a loss allowance
on a collective basis, financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared credit risk
characteristics.
Expected losses on own securities that are -or are not -credit impaired are calculated on a collective
basis.
Loans are assessed on an individual basis rather than on a collective basis and according to the
following criteria:

e assessment on an individual basis: exposures classified as "Bad loans" and "Unlikely-To-Pay

exposures", as defined by the Bank of Italy's Supervisory Regulations*, if the credit position

meets at least one of the following requirements:

v' the exposure exceeds a quantitative materiality threshold set out in the internal
regulations;

v even if the exposure is for an amount lower than the aforementioned threshold, the
position was individually assessed before (if there is objective evidence of impairment, it
is not possible to transition from the individual to the collective assessment);

14The definitions are contained in the paragraph “Credit Quality” of the General Instructions for preparation of the “Chart
of Accounts” (Bank of ltaly’s Circular no. 272/2008) and are referenced to in Bank of ltaly’s Circular no. 262/2005 "Banks'

financial statements: layout and preparation”.
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v regardless of the level of the exposure, the position is subject to bankruptcy procedures
(only for positions classified as bad loans);
e collective assessment: exposures not subject to individual assessment.

Individual assessment is carried out by analysts of the units in charge who determine the expected
future cash flows and the time frame required for their collection, taking into account the type, value
and enforceability of any guarantees in support of the loan.

The individual assessment of expected future cash flows depends on the type of scenario that banks
apply, i.e. a going concern approach or a gone concern approach, taking also into account the
outlooks of future macro-economic scenarios (“forward looking information") defined for collective
assessments.

As concerns collective assessments, the models and methodologies used to estimate the Expected

Credit Loss are based on the Basel framework parameters (PD-Probability of Default, LGD-Loss Given
Default and EAD-Exposure at Default) properly recalibrated according to a Point-in-Time approach,
and include “forward looking information".

Individual and collective assessment models also include forecast sales transactions of a
comprehensively identified portfolio of gross non-performing loans with a high probability of sale.

Derecognition criteria

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are derecognised when they are sold, substantially
transferring all related risks and rewards, or when the contractual rights to their cash flows expire, or
when the loan or receivable is considered fully or partially irrecoverable.

IFRS 9 indicates that':

* an exchange of debt instruments with substantially different terms shall be accounted for as
an extinguishment of the original financial instrument and the recognition of a new financial
instrument;

* similarly, a substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial asset or a part of it
(whether or not attributable to the financial difficulty of the debtor) shall be accounted for as
an extinguishment of the original financial asset and the recognition of a new financial asset;

* the terms are considered as substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10
per cent different from the discounted present value of the cash flows of the original financial
asset;

» the difference between the carrying amount of the extinguished financial asset and the fair
value of the new asset, shall be recognised in profit or loss.

IFRIC 19 provides the following guidance to address the accounting treatment of a financial liability
settled, in full or in part, by equity instruments issued by the debtor:

* the equity instruments issued cause the derecognition of the financial liability;

* the value of the equity instrument is 'consideration paid' to extinguish the financial liability;

* the equity instrument issued should be measured at its fair value;

* the difference between the carrying amount of the derecognised instrument and the initial
value of the equity instrument should be recognised in profit or loss.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset shall be reduced if an entity has no reasonable
expectations of fully or partly recovering such financial asset. The write-off may occur before the legal
actions for asset recovery have been concluded and it does not necessarily imply the waiver of the

15 Certain indications contained in IFRS 9 for the derecognition of financial liabilities are reported, which, as indicated by
the 1ASB Interpretation Committee, can also be applied in analogy to financial assets.
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legal right of recovery for the bank.

The write-off constitutes an event of derecognition of a financial asset or a portion of it.

As regards a write-off of a portion of a financial asset, it may take place only if carried out after the
identification of specific cash flows that are not expected to be collected (or a share of such cash
flows).

The write-off policies adopted by the banks of the Group are described in Section E of the Explanatory
Notes concerning “Credit risk”.

For securitisations, retained securitisations and disposal transactions structured for the purpose of
issuing Bank-originated covered bonds, the assets were not derecognised from the financial
statements of the transferring entities because the originator substantially retains all the risks and
rewards in all of these transactions.

For securitisations, the amounts received for transferring the securitised loans were recognised under
the item “Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost - Due to customers”, net of the amount of
securities issued by the special-purpose vehicle which are held in the portfolio, and net of other forms
of credit enhancement. Interest accrued on these liabilities is recognised on an accrual basis under
the item “Interest and similar expense”.

Liquidity deposited by the special purpose vehicle with an entity other than the originator for covered
bond transactions (which require the granting by the transferring bank of a subordinated loan to the
SPV for the purchase of the underlying assets) and for retained securitisations is recognised as a
receivable from the SPV under the item “Financial assets measured at amortised cost - Loans to

customers”.

Ciriteria for the recognition of income

The difference between the POCI assets' carrying amount measured at initial recognition and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss in the item “Net losses/recoveries on impairment of
financial assets at amortised cost”.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in
the derecognition of that financial asset, the difference between the gross carrying amounts of the
asset, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate, are recognised in profit or
loss as “Gains (losses) due to modification not resulting in derecognition”.

Losses and reversals on loans are posted in profit or loss to “Net losses/recoveries on impairment”;
recoveries consist in the reversal of impairment, due to an improvement in the credit rating of the

borrower and cash collections (other than gains on disposal) of previously impaired financial assets.

The write-off amount corresponds to:
* the reversal of overall loan loss provisions, with offsetting entry to the gross carrying amount
of financial assets, and
» forthe part exceeding the overall loan loss provisions amount, the impairment of the financial
asset directly recognised to profit or loss.
Possible recoveries after write-offs are recognised in profit or loss under recoveries, while the
accounting of recoveries from loan assessments and relating to amounts previously de-recognised is
not allowed.

Interest and similar income is recognised on an accrual basis as “Interest and similar income”, using
the effective interest method for loans and receivables other than short-term receivables (with term
to maturity up to 12 months), with an indefinite life or revolving.

For financial assets that have become credit impaired or for purchased or originated credit impaired
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financial assets (POCI), interest revenue is calculated on the value at amortised cost (gross carrying
amount less total credit losses); for POCI assets, this assessment method is maintained over the full
contractual term of the asset even if it is no longer credit-impaired.

Arrears interest on credit-impaired financial assets is recognised in profit or loss only when collected.
The item “Interest and similar income” also includes interest accrued in relation to the time value of
money, determined when credit-impaired financial assets are assessed at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (or “Credit Adjusted Effective Interest Rate”, CEIR).

Gains and losses on disposal of financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise and are posted to the item “Profits (losses) on disposal or
repurchase of financial assets measured at amortised cost”.

4. HEDGING DERIVATIVES

The banks of the Group avail themselves of the option provided by IFRS 9 to continue to apply the
hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39.

Classification criteria

The aim of risk hedging transactions is to neutralise potential losses on a given element or group of
elements (hedged item) attributable to a specified risk, through profits achieved on a different element
or group of elements (hedging instrument) should the risk-related event actually occur.

The types of hedging under IAS 39 include:

e fair value hedges, which are intended to hedge the exposure to changes in fair value of a
recognised asset or liability, that are attributable to a particular risk;

e cash flow hedge: a hedge of the exposure to adverse variability in expected future cash flows that
is attributable to a financial asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction;

e hedge of a net investment in a foreign entity: a hedge of the exposure to adverse variability in
expected future cash flows of a foreign currency operation.

A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if, and only if, all of the following conditions

are met:

e at the inception of the hedge there is formal designation and documentation of the hedging
relationship and the entity’s risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge,
including identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk being
hedged and the criteria to assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness;

e the hedge is expected to be “highly effective” i.e. changes in the hedged item's fair value or cash
flows are expected to be almost completely offset by corresponding changes in the hedging
instrument. This offsetting effect is expected to be achieved consistently with the originally
documented risk management strategy (for that particular hedging relationship). Moreover, the
effectiveness of the hedge (i.e. the related fair value) must be reliably measured;

e the effectiveness of the hedge is assessed at inception and on an ongoing basis throughout the
financial reporting periods for which the hedge was designated. A hedge is regarded as highly
effective if, at the inception of the hedge and in subsequent periods, changes in the hedged item's
fair value or cash flows are expected to be almost completely offset by corresponding changes
in the hedging instrument, and if the actual results of the hedge demonstrate that it was effective
in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk, within
a range of 80-125 per cent;

e effectiveness is assessed at the time the annual or interim financial statements are prepared;

115



e inthe event of a hedge of forecast transactions, the finalisation of the transaction must be highly
probable;

e only instruments that involve a party external to the reporting entity can be designated as hedging
instruments.

The following types of hedges are considered by the banks of the Group, which use only derivative

contracts as hedging instruments:

e fair value hedges: used to hedge interest rate risk for specific, individually identifiable items, such
as customer loans, securities classified under financial assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income, bonds issued, and to hedge foreign exchange risk;

e cash flow hedges: used to hedge exposure to variability in future cash flows associated with
medium/long-term floating-rate liabilities or forecast transactions involving liabilities in which the
individual elements are not identified.

Recognition criteria

Hedging derivatives are initially recognised at fair value, usually for an amount equal to the price
paid, less transaction costs or proceeds that are directly attributable to the financial asset, which are
recognised directly in profit or loss.

Measurement criteria

After initial recognition, hedging derivatives are measured at fair value.

The criteria adopted for measuring the fair value of financial instruments are reported in Section A.4,

“Information on Fair Value” of the Explanatory Notes.

Transactions in derivatives settled through central clearing platforms, are subject to netting of positive

and negative fair values under IAS 32, applying the conventional criteria described in Circular

262/2005, when both of the following requirements are met:

a) an entity has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and

b) intends either to seftle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

For fair value hedges, changes in fair value attributable to both derivative contracts and to the

hedged risks of each hedged instrument are recognised in profit or loss as “Net profit (loss) from

hedging”.

The banks of the Group availed themselves of the option of discontinuing the hedge accounting

amortisation of the adjustment to the hedged item until the hedging relationship remains effective.

For cash flow hedges, only derivative contracts are accounted for: if the hedging relationship is 100%

effective, the change in the fair value of the derivative contract is accounted for as an offsetting entry

to movements in the cash flow hedge valuation reserve, whereas, if the hedging relationship is totally
or partly ineffective, the share of fair value associated with the ineffective portion is recognised in
profit or loss as “Net profit (loss) from trading”.

More specifically:

e the share of profit or loss associated with the hedging derivative that, in absolute amounts, equals
the change in fair value of the expected future cash flows on the hedged items is recognised in
equity; any share of profit or loss associated with the hedging derivative that, in absolute
amounts, exceeds the change in fair value of the expected future cashflows on the hedged items
is immediately recognised in profit or loss (“overhedging”);

e if the cumulative gain or loss on the hedged item exceeds the cumulative gain or loss on the
hedging instrument (“underhedging”), the change in the derivative’s fair value is recognised in
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equity;

e the equity reserve is “released” to profit or loss in the period (or periods) in which movements of
hedged items are registered in the income statement (for example when amortisation, interest or
capital losses are booked). However, if it is expected that all or a portion of a loss recognised in
equity will not be recovered in one or more future periods, the amount that is not expected to be
recovered shall be reclassified into profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

Derecognition criteria

For fair value hedges, an entity shall discontinue prospectively the hedge accounting if:
a) the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised;
b) the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting described above;
c) the entity revokes the designation.

For cash flow hedges, an entity shall discontinue prospectively the hedge accounting if:

a) the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. In this case, the cumulative
gain or loss on the hedging instrument that has been recognised in equity from the period
when the hedge was effective shall remain separately in equity until the forecast transaction
occurs;

b) the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting described above. In this case,
the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument that has been recognised in equity
from the period when the hedge was effective shall remain separately in equity until the
forecast transaction occurs;

c) the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, in which case any related cumulative
gain or loss on the hedging instrument that has been recognised in equity from the period
when the hedge was effective, shall be reclassified from equity to profit or loss as “Net profit
(loss) from trading”;

d) the designation is revoked. For hedges of a forecast transaction, the cumulative gain or loss
on the hedging instrument that has been recognised in equity from the period when the
hedge was effective, shall remain separately in equity until the forecast transaction occurs or
is no longer expected to occur. If the transaction is no longer expected to occur, the
cumulative gain (or loss) that had been recognised in equity shall be reclassified from equity
to profit or loss as “Net profit (loss) from trading”.

Ciriteria for the recognition of income

Recognised as “Interest and similar income” and “Interest and similar expense” are the spreads and
margins accrued over hedging derivative contracts (with the items ‘Interest’ also including interest
relating to the hedged financial instruments).

The balance of spreads or margins accrued over hedging derivative contracts relating to the
individual items or technical forms of hedging contracts is included in the interest income or interest
expense, depending on the sign (positive or negative) of the interest-related cash flow that is modified
by the derivatives.

For fair value hedges, the gains or losses from measuring the derivative contracts and hedged items
are recognised in profit or loss for the period in which they arise and are posted to “Net profit (loss)
from hedging”.

For cash flow hedges, the amounts of valuation reserves that are recycled to profit or loss when
forecast transactions are no longer considered probable or when losses allocated to such reserves
are expected not to be recovered, are recognised in profit or loss as “Net profit (loss) from hedging”.
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5. EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Classification criteria

This category includes investments in subsidiaries and in companies subject to significant influence.
It is presumed that an entity is subject to significant influence, if 20 per cent or more of its voting
power is held by an investor. The existence of significant influence by an entity is usually evidenced
by its participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of the company, through
shareholders agreements aimed at ensuring representation on the governing bodies and
safeguarding a comprehensive management steering approach, but without giving rise to the control
of the investee.

Similarly classified under this item are any investments in subsidiaries.

“Non-controlling interests” are classified under “Financial assets measured at fair value through other

comprehensive income”'®.

Criteria for classification and measurement

Investments are initially recognised on the settlement date.

Investments in subsidiaries excluded from the scope of line-by-line consolidation and in entities
subject to significant influence exempt from application of the equity method for being considered
non-significant are recognised at cost.

The equity method is applied to investments in companies subject to significant influence.

The equity method is a method of accounting whereby the investment is initially recognised at cost
and adjusted thereafter for the change in the investor’s share of net assets of the investee.

The share of changes in net assets arising from profit or loss of the investee is recognised in profit or
loss as “Profits (losses) on investments in associates and joint ventures”; the share of changes in net
assets arising in the financial statements of the investee without passing through profit or loss are
instead posted directly to the item “Reserves”.

The difference between the cost of the investment and the share of net assets acquired is treated
using a similar approach to line-by-line consolidation, except that if there is a positive residual
difference (goodwill), it is not separately recognised among intangible assets (and therefore tested
for impairment separately), but continues to be posted to Equity Investments.

At the end of each annual or interim reporting period after application of the equity method, a review
is performed to determine whether there is any indication that an equity investment may be impaired.
These signs are normally identified in an investment’s internal and external factors, i.e.:

e the equity investment’s value has declined during the period;

e changes have taken place in the environment in which the investee operates;

e market interest rates have increased during the period;

e the economic performance of the investment is, or will be, worse than expected.
If any one of these conditions is met, the recoverable value of the investment is calculated, i.e. the
higher between the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use. If the carrying amount exceeds
the recoverable value of the investment, an impairment loss is recognised for the investment.
The value in use is calculated as the present value of future cash flows generated by the investment,
applying a market rate on these flows which is reflective of the cost of equity and risks specific to the
investment. When calculating the value in use it is also necessary to discount the final value of the

16 Except for equity instruments relating to the Voluntary Scheme of the Interbank Deposit Protection Fund (FITD), which are

classified as "Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss”.
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presumed disposal of the investment on the basis of a hypothetical price that is agreed in an arm’s
length transaction between independent, knowledgeable, willing parties.

If an impairment loss recognised in prior periods no longer exist or has decreased, the carrying
amount is increased to the cost value prior to impairment.

Derecognition criteria

Upon loss of significant influence over an associate, the Group assesses and recognises the residual
investment at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the investment as at the date
on which the Group ceases to exercise a significant influence and the fair value of the residual
investment and the consideration received is recognised in the income statement.

Criteria for the recognition of income

Losses and reversals on impairment of investments and profit or loss on disposal of investments are
recognised in “Profits (losses) on equity investments” for the period in which they arise.

The value of the equity investments is reduced by dividend periodically received by the Bank which is
recognised in “Dividend and similar income”, at the time when the right to payment arises.

6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Classification criteria

This category includes land and buildings used in operations, held for investment or held for sale,
movable properties, equipment, machinery and artwork.
In particular:
e property and equipment held for use in production or for the supply of goods and services
are classified as “assets used in operations” in accordance with IAS 16;
e property owned for investment purposes (fo earn rentals or for capital appreciation) is
classified as "Investment property" in accordance with IAS 40;
e property held for investment and capital appreciation development that is in the process of
construction or development for subsequent sale in the ordinary course of business, is
classified as inventories, in accordance with IAS 2.

Property and equipment also includes rights of use acquired under leases in relation to the use of
property and equipment as a lessee, in accordance with IFRS 16, with regard to the following:
e land and buildings;

e cars;
e Automated Teller Machines (ATMs)'”.

Recognition criteria

An item of property and equipment other than those acquired to extinguish credit-impaired exposures
is initially recognised at cost, which comprises its purchase price (after deducting trade discounts and
rebates) and any costs directly attributable to purchasing and bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating.

The purchase price also includes the cost of non-recurring maintenance on owned property resulting

17 Lease agreements for cars and ATMs contain both a lease component and non-lease components that are

accounted for separately in accordance with the other applicable accounting standards.
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in a significant and tangible increase in productivity and/or an increase in the useful life of the asset'®.
For a description of non-recurring expenses for maintenance on third party premises, please see the

specific paragraph of Section “15 - Other information”.

Property, plant and equipment acquired to extinguish credit-impaired exposures are usually classified
as inventories (IAS 2) or non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations, if the assets
meet the criteria to be classified in accordance with IFRS 5.

Such assets are initially recognised at the lower of the value of the net receivable measured at
foreclosure and its fair value; the fair value is:

e the value inferred from marketing activities in progress if, at the date of initial recognition,
the asset is being actively marketed for sale and there is evidence that the parties involved
remain committed to a sale plan;

e the quick sale value, in view of the sale occurring in a shorter period than the marketing time
normally considered to determine the market value of the asset;

e the market value resulting from a specific appraisal, in other cases.

The rights of use acquired under the lease and the related lease liabilities are recognised at the date
on which the lessor makes the underlying assets available for use (‘commencement date").
Right-of-use assets acquired through leasing are initially measured at cost, which shall comprise:

a) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

c) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and

d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset, to be made in accordance with IAS 37.

Measurement criteria

After initial recognition, “Assets used in the business” and “Assets held for investment” are valued at
purchase cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Items of property and
equipment are systematically depreciated using the straight-line method which applies a constant
rate over their useful life, except for:

- land, acquired separately or incorporated in the property value, which is not depreciated
given its indefinite life. Separation of the property value from the land and building value at
the acquisition date, for all properties, is based on appraisals by independent experts
registered with professional associations;

- artwork, which is not depreciated as its useful life cannot be estimated and the value is
normally expected to increase in the long term.

Unless the useful life of the individual assets is specifically determined otherwise, the depreciation
period is calculated by using the following general criteria:

- for buildings, at an annual standard rate of 1.5%;

- for other property and equipment at rates judged appropriate, including from an accounting
perspective.

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods of property and equipment are reviewed
at each year-end and, where appropriate, adjusted prospectively.

18 The costs of day-to-day servicing of the assets owned by the company are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred, given the fact they are of a recurring nature and are intended to maintain the asset in good working

order.
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At least at the end of each annual reporting period, a review is performed to determine whether there
is any indication that the value of property and equipment may be impaired. This valuation is based
on internal and external sources of information.

If there is an indication that the asset may be impaired, the asset’s carrying amount is compared with
its recoverable amount (“impairment test”), with the latter being defined as the higher of the asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use, i.e. the present value of future cash flows expected
to originate from the assets.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Where the reasons for impairment cease to exist, a reversal is recognised in profit or loss, which shall
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

Property and equipment identified according to IAS 2 are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value, which is the estimated selling price less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

At least at the end of each annual reporting period, an assessment is made to determine that the
cost of inventories does not exceed their net realisable value: if this happens, inventories shall be
written down to the net realisable value.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. When the circumstances that previously caused
inventories to be written down below cost no longer exist or when there is clear evidence of an
increase in net realisable value because of changed economic circumstances, the amount of the
write[Jdown is reversed in profit or loss, with the reversal being limited to the amount of the original
write[Jdown.

After the commencement date, the right-of-use assets acquired under leases shall be measured by

I'?, which requires the right-of-use asset to be measured at cost:

applying a cost mode
e deducting any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses (by
respectively applying the provisions of IAS 16 and 36); and
e adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability arising from the lease contract.?
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
Where the reasons for impairment cease to exist, a reversal is recognised in profit or loss, which shall
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or

amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

Derecognition criteria

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be derecognised:
e on disposal; or
e if the asset is sold, when the buyer obtains the right to direct the use of the asset and to
receive all of the economic benefits expected from its use; usually this occurs upon
completion of the sale.
The gain or loss arising from the disposal or discontinuation of an item of property and equipment
shall be determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss when the item is derecognised.
The rights of use acquired as part of leasing and related lease liabilities are derecognised at the end

19 The fair value model under IAS 40 and the revaluation model under IAS 16 cannot be adopted by the Group because
they are not applied for the subsequent measurement of owned assets.
20 Remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications or to reflect revised in-substance

fixed lease payments.
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of the lease term.

Ciriteria for the recognition of income

Any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (reversals) are recognised in profit or loss as
“Net adjustments to/recoveries on property and equipment”. For the rights of use acquired as part
of leasing and related lease liabilities, such items also include any gains or losses arising from lease
modifications and gains from the remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Gains and losses from disposal are recognised as “Profits (losses) on disposal of investments”.

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Classification criteria

Application software is classified in said category.

Other intangible assets, other than goodwill, are recognised if they are identifiable as such, i.e. if
they lack physical substance, arise from contractual or other legal rights and are capable of
generating future economic benefits.

Ciriteria for recognition and measurement

An intangible asset is recognised only if it can be demonstrated that:

e it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow
to the entity;

e the asset cost can be measured reliably.

Other intangible assets are measured at their adjusted cost, i.e. the initial acquisition cost plus any

directly aftributable expenditure, less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated

impairment losses, plus any reversal of impairment.

The amortisation of other intangible assets occurs on a straight line basis over their useful life and is

recognised as a direct decrease in asset value.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life

shall be reviewed at least at each financial year-end.

If the expected useful life of the asset is different from previous estimates, the amortisation period

shall be changed accordingly. If there has been a change in the expected pattern of consumption of

the future economic benefits embodied in the asset, the amortisation method shall be changed to

reflect the changed pattern?'.

At the end of each annual or interim reporting period, if there is evidence that an asset may be

impaired, then the asset's recoverable amount must be estimated. The amount of the loss recognised

in profit or loss is equal to the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount

of the asset.

Where the reasons for impairment cease to exist, a reversal is recognised in profit or loss, which shall
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or
amortisation), had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

21 During the first half of 2018, the Group extended the estimated useful life of its software, including in light of the ten-year
agreements signed as part of the IT system outsourcing transaction.
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Derecognition criteria

Intangible assets are derecognised:
e when they are discontinued or
e if the asset is sold, when the buyer obtains the right to direct the use of the asset and to
receive all of the economic benefits expected from its use; usually this occurs upon
completion of the sale.

Criteria for the recognition of income

Any depreciation or impairment losses/reversals of other intangible assets are recognised in profit or
loss as “Net adjustments to/recoveries on intangible assets”.
Gains and losses from disposal are recognised as “Profits (losses) on disposal of investments”.

8. NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND GROUPS OF ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES
ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

At 31 January 2020, the Group does not have any non-current assets and groups of assets held for
sale, as 80.1% of the investment in Creditis was sold in March 2019.

Classification criteria

Individual assets and groups of assets held for sale referred to in IFRS 5 and associated liabilities are
classified under the items “Non-current assets and groups of assets held for sale” and “Liabilities
associated with assets held for sale” if their carrying amount is recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use.

Classified under these items are situations in which a plan to sell the individual assets or disposal
groups in their current condition has been initiated and their sale is considered highly probable
because Management has committed itself to the sale, which is expected to be completed within one
year from the date of classification.

Criteria for recognition and measurement

Immediately before the classification of the individual assets or groups of assets and liabilities held
for sale under the items “Non-current assets and groups of assets held for sale” and “Liabilities
associated with assets held for sale”, the book value of the assets and liabilities is remeasured by
applying the applicable accounting standards.

Such assets and liabilities are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value, less cost to
sell.

On subsequent remeasurement of a disposal group, the carrying amounts of any assets and liabilities
that are not within the scope of the measurement requirements of IFRS 5, shall be remeasured in
accordance with applicable IFRSs before the disposal group is remeasured at the lower of its carrying
amount and fair value, less costs to sell.

Derecognition criteria

The individual assets and groups of assets held for sale and associated liabilities are derecognised
after their disposal.

Criteria for the recognition of income

Property and equipment and intangible assets held for sale are no longer subject to amortisation.
Non-current assets and groups of assets held for sale are measured in accordance with the following
criteria:
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e Any initial or subsequent write[Jdown of the asset to fair value less costs to sell is recognised
as an impairment loss.
e Any subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell, but not in excess of the cumulative
impairment loss that was previously recognised, recognised as a gain in profit or loss.
Separate recognition is provided for under item “Profit (loss) after tax from discontinued operations”
in the Income Statement for only risks and charges (net of related taxes) relating to discontinued
operations.

9. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Criteria for recognition and classification

Current tax assets and liabilities represent the net fiscal position of the Group companies with respect
to Italian and foreign tax authorities. In particular, these amounts represent the net balance of current
fiscal liabilities for the period, calculated on the basis of a conservative forecast of the tax charge for
the period, determined on the basis of currently applicable tax regulations, and current tax assets
represented by tax paid in advance and other tax credits for tax withholdings or other tax credits from
previous years that the Group companies have requested to offset against tax due in subsequent
years.

Current tax assets also represent tax credit that the Group companies have requested the relevant
authorities o reimburse.

Income tax, calculated in accordance with national tax legislation, is booked as a cost on an accrual
basis, in accordance with the method of recognising costs and revenues that generate it.
Income tax provisions are determined according to a forecast of current and deferred tax assets and
liabilities, taking account of any possible uncertainty regarding its estimate, as referred to in IFRIC
23. Specifically, deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated according to temporary differences
-without time limits- between the value attributed to an asset or liability, based on statutory criteria,
and the corresponding value accepted for tax purposes, applying what is known as the liability
method.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that:
e the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability
in a transaction which is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit;
e the reversal of the taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,

branches and associates can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are the amounts of income taxes recognised against deductible temporary
differences and the carryforward of unused tax credits and losses to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and losses can be utilised, unless:

e the deferred tax asset associated with the deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination;
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax
loss);

e for all deductible temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, branches
and associates, and interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax assets shall be recognised
to the extent that, and only to the extent that, it is probable that the temporary difference will
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reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.

Measurement criteria

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent their recovery is probable, assessed on the basis of
the continued capacity of the company or parent company involved -taking into consideration the
effect of the exercise of the tax consolidation option- to generate positive taxable income. At the end
of each reporting period, unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed and recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be
recovered.

Those deferred tax assets which, in accordance with Law 214/2011, under certain conditions, are
transformed into tax credits, do not require, unlike the others, any tests to assess their recovery
potential and hence they are automatically recognised.

The Parent Company, which was placed under Temporary Administration from 2 January 2019 to
31 January 2020, deemed it prudent not to recognise DTAs, as of 2018, particularly DTAs based
on future profits and not arising from temporary differences (on tax losses and ACE -aid for economic
growth- tax deductions); other DTAs for which recognition was suspended are those linked to
significant events (e.g. provisions to the Redundancy Fund) whose period of tax reversal would fall in
years when taxable income forecasts were not yet sufficient to ensure their immediate absorption. At
the moment, this line has still been confirmed, taking into account the uncertainty and discontinuity
of the current situation with respect to the past, including in view of possible future combinations.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised with the sole exception of reserves under tax suspension, insofar
as the distribution of such items is not foreseeable. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised
in the Balance sheet, with open balances and without offsetting, under tax assets and tax liabilities,
respectively.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are systematically assessed to take into account any changes in
regulations or tax rates and are therefore measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The tax liabilities total is adjusted to meet charges that could derive from findings already notified or
in any event from disputes pending with tax authorities.

Criteria for the recognition of income

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are typically recognised in profit or loss as “Taxes on profit (loss)
for the year from continuing operations”.

An exception is represented by deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from transactions that are
directly recognised in equity, which thus refer to the same item (i.e. a business combination) and are
part of the goodwill value calculation.

10. ALLOWANCES FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

Allowances for commitments and guarantees given

This item includes:
a) allowances for credit risk with respect to revocable and irrevocable financing commitments
undertaken and guarantees pledged, which are subject to the IFRS 9 rules on loss allowances;
b) allowances for other commitments and guarantees which are not subject to the IFRS 9 rules on
loss allowances.
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For the quantification of provisions for credit risk referred to under item a), the criteria for the
calculation of expected credit losses - described in Paragraph “3 Financial assets measured at
amortised cost” - are applied with the following specific approach:

e An expected credit loss on loan commitments:

v' is the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
the bank if the holder of the loan commitment draws down the loan and the cash flows
that the bank expects to receive if the loan is drawn down;

v should be consistent with the expectations of drawdowns on that loan commitment, i.e.
the bank shall consider the expected portion of the loan commitment that will be drawn
down within 12 months of the reporting date when estimating 12[Jmonth expected credit
losses, and the expected portion of the loan commitment that will be drawn down over
the expected life of the loan commitment when estimating lifetime expected credit losses;

v discounted using the effective interest rate, or an approximation thereof, that will be
applied when recognising the financial asset resulting from the loan commitment®2.

e For a financial guarantee contract, the entity is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, cash shortfalls are the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the entity expects to receive from the holder, the
debtor or any other party. If the asset is fully guaranteed, the estimation of cash shortfalls for
a financial guarantee contract must be consistent with the estimations of cash shortfalls for
the asset subject to the guarantee.

Expected credit losses on financial guarantee contracts shall be discounted by applying a

discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and the

risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken
info account by adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.

e The maximum period to consider when measuring loan commitments and expected credit
losses is the maximum contractual period over which the entity has a present contractual
obligation to extend credit.

No instance of commitments and guarantees which are not subject to the IFRS 9 rules on loss
allowances as referred to in item b) is reported by the banks of the Group .

Provisions for commitments and guarantees given are recognised in profit or loss as “Net provisions
for risks and charges”.

Allowances for pensions and similar obligations

Allowances for pensions and similar obligations, as envisaged in specific regulations, are recognised
among liabilities for an amount sufficient to ensure that obligations arising from commitments are
met as required by the related regulations.

The total Supplementary Pension Fund is calculated by an independent actuary using actuarial
methods.

Allowances for pensions and for similar obligations are classified as post-employment benefit plans,
i.e. compensation paid to employees upon termination of employment.

According to IAS 19, these benefits can be classified as “defined contribution plans” or “defined

22 This is because, for the purpose of applying the impairment requirements, a financial asset that is recognised following a
draw down on a loan commitment shall be treated as a continuation of that commitment instead of as a new financial
instrument. The expected credit losses on the financial asset shall therefore be measured considering the initial credit risk of
the loan commitment from the date that the entity became a party to the irrevocable commitment. If the effective interest rate

cannot be determined, the discount rate is determined by applying the criteria for financial guarantee contracts.
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benefit plans”, depending on the economic nature and on the main terms and conditions of the

plan:

a)

Defined contribution plans are post[Jemployment benefit plans under which an entity pays fixed
confributions into a separate entity (a fund) and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay
further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating
to employee service in the current and prior periods; actuarial risk (that benefits will be less than
expected) and investment risk (that invested assets will be insufficient to meet expected benefits)
are not borne by the entity but fall on the employee.

The contributions to be paid to a defined contribution plan are recognised as follows:

e s liabilities, after subtracting any contributions already paid. If the contribution already paid
exceeds the contribution due for service before the end of the reporting period, an entity shall
recognise that excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent that the prepayment will
lead to, for example, a reduction in future payments or a cash refund; and

e as an expense, unless another International Accounting Standard requires or permits
recognition as an asset.

Where contributions to a defined contribution plan do not fall due wholly within twelve months

after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service, the rate used to

discount them shall be determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period

on high quality corporate bonds. In countries where there is no market for such bonds, the market

yields (at the end of the reporting period) on government bonds shall be used.

Defined benefit plans, in which the company guarantees certain services, underwriting the

actuarial and investment risk regardless of the contribution.

For defined benefit pension funds the annual variation in the Defined Benefit Obligation is

booked to the income statement, as regards cost components (Service cost), and as regards

financial components (Net interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset).

The valuation-related component, comprised of actuarial gains and losses that originate from

adjustments of previous actuarial assumptions made, is charged to the Shareholders’” Equity

Reserve (“Valuation Reserves” item). Subsequent reclassification to profit or loss of amounts

recognised in equity is prohibited, whereas reclassification to other components of equity

(reserves from allocation of profit) is allowed.

The defined benefit plans also include the provision for employee severance pay (for a description

of criteria adopted, please refer to Paragraph "15 - Other information").

The profit or loss for the settlement of a benefit plan (“settlement”) is the difference between:

* the current value of the obligation for defined benefits to be settled, determined at the date
of settlement; and

* the seftlement price, including all transferred plan assets and all payments effected directly
by the entity for the seftlement.

The profit or loss for the benefit plan settlement is entered in the income statement when the

settlement occurs.

Past service cost -i.e. the change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting

from a plan amendment or curtailment- is recognised as an expense at the earlier of the following

dates:

* when a plan amendment or curtailment occurs; and

* when the entity recognises related restructuring costs or the termination benefits.

When determining past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, an entity shall remeasure

the net defined benefit liability (asset) using the current fair value of plan assets and current

actuarial assumptions, including current market interest rates and other current market prices,

reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets before the plan amendment,
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curtailment or settlement.
A settlement occurs at the same time as an amendment or curtailment of the plan if the plan is
terminated, resulting in the obligation being settled and the plan ceasing to exist. The conclusion
of the plan however does not constitute a settlement if it is replaced by a new plan guaranteeing
substantially identical benefits.
Additional information is provided in Section “12 - Provisions for risks and charges” of the
Explanatory Notes, part B - Balance Sheet.

Other allowances

Allocation to the allowances for risks and charges shall be recognised when all the following three
conditions are met:

a) an entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event;

b) itis probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and

c) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The probability that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation shall be
understood as it being more probable than not that the event will occur.
The amount recognised as a provision for risks and charges shall be the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period.

The best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation is the amount that an
entity would reasonably pay to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period or to transfer
it to a third party at that time. The estimates are determined by experience of similar transactions and
reports from independent experts.
“Other allowances" includes provisions for liabilities of an uncertain amount or timing of payment
such as those related to:

* legal disputes, including creditors' clawback lawsuits;

* customer complaints;

* restructuring®;
* tax disputes;
* other obligations (legal or constructive) at the end of the reporting period.

"Other allowances" also include other long term employee benefits and employee incentives for
termination of long term employment?*.

The allowances related to other long term employee benefits are those paid during employment that
are not entirely due within the twelve month period following the end of the financial year during
which the employees rendered their service and which are determined by the same actuarial criteria
as provided for pension funds, recognising actuarial profits and losses immediately in the Income
Statement.

Incentives for terminating employment are recognised at a time when the company is unable to
withdraw from offering benefits; such liability is recognised before this date if the charges are

2 Under IAS 37, a restructuring is defined as a programme that is planned and controlled by management, and materially
changes either the scope of a business undertaken by an entity or the manner in which that business is conducted. The following

are examples of events that may fall under the definition of restructuring:

. sale or termination of a line of business;

. the closure of business locations in a country or region or the relocation of business activities from one country or
region to another;

. changes in management structure, for example, eliminating a layer of management;

. fundamental reorganisations that have a material effect on the nature and focus of the entity’s operations.

24 |ncentives for termination of the employment relationship also include contributions paid to the "Solidarity Fund
for professional retraining and reconversion, for the support of employment and income of the banking sector

employees".
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recognised as restructuring costs falling within the scope of IAS 37.

The following provisions apply for the initial and subsequent recognition of the incentives for

terminating employment:

e “post-employment benefits”, in the event that the benefits due for terminating employment are
an improvement of the benefits following employment;

e “short term benefits”, to be recognised on an accrual basis in the period in which the work is
carried out, if it is believed that the benefits will be fully paid within the twelve month period
following the end of the year in which these benefits are recognised;

e “other long term benefits”, if it is believed that the benefits will not be fully paid within the twelve
month period following the end of the year in which these benefits are recognised.

The allowances are re-examined and adjusted to reflect the best current estimate at least at the end

of each year; if the passage of time has a significant effect on the value of the obligation, the flow

of resources assumed necessary to extinguish the obligation is discounted.

The net provisions are entered under “Net allowances for risks and charges" in the Income Statement;

with the exception of economic items relative to employee benefits that, to better reflect their nature,

are recorded under “Administrative expenses — Personnel costs”.

If a review reveals that it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources will be required, the
provision shall be reversed and recognised in profit or loss as “Net provisions for risks and charges”.

11. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

Classification criteria

This category includes “Due to banks”, “Due to customers” and “Securities issued” which do not fall
within financial liabilities held for trading or measured at fair value.

“Due to banks”, “Due to customers” also include liabilities posted by the lessee during financial
leasing transactions, in accordance with IFRS 16.

Securities issued include unsubordinated and subordinated bonds issued and certificates of deposit.

Recognition criteria

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised upon receipt of the cash flows or issuance
of the debt securities, at the fair value of the liabilities, normally consisting in the consideration
received or price of issuance, plus transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance.
Transaction costs and proceeds directly attributable to the initial recognition of liabilities are
incremental costs directly attributable to the issue or disposal of the financial liabilities, which can be
immediately determined as at that date; transaction costs do not include costs which, although having
the same characteristics, may be subject to repayment by the counterparty or included under normal
internal administrative costs.
The fair value of any financial liabilities, issued at terms below arm’s length, is estimated and the
difference compared to the market value is recognised directly in profit or loss;
The fair value measurement methods used for liabilities and securities issued are described in section
A.4 “Information on Fair Value” of the Notes to the Financial Statements.
Derivatives embedded in hybrid financial liabilities are recognised separately if:

e their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to the economic characteristics

and risks of the host contracts;
e the embedded instruments meet the definition of a derivative contract;
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e hybrid instruments are not measured at fair value, with related changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

If an entity determines that an embedded derivative must be separated from the host but it cannot
separately measure the embedded derivative either initially or at a subsequent reporting date, the
entire hybrid instrument should be measured at fair value through profit or loss.
If the fair value of the embedded derivative contract cannot be reliably measured on the basis of its
terms and conditions, its fair value is estimated as the difference between the fair value of the hybrid
(combined) contract and the fair value of the host contract. If the fair value of the embedded
derivative cannot be measured using this method, than the entire hybrid (combined) contract must
be measured as at FVTPL.

The rights of use acquired under the lease and the related lease liabilities are recognised at the date
on which the lessor makes the underlying assets available for use (‘commencement date").
At the commencement date, lease liabilities are recognised at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date.
The lease payments® comprise the following:
a) fixed payments, less any lease incentives;
b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date;
c) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
d) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and
e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising
an option to terminate the lease.

Lease payments payable are generally discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate®.

Such rate was identified as the "amortizing internal transfer rate (ITT)" of funding and was determined

for each lease contract, taking into account the term of the contract and the frequency of payments.

The lease term is the non-cancellable period of a lease, together with both:

a) periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
that option; and

b) periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to
exercise that option.

Measurement criteria

After initial recognition, financial liabilities at amortised cost other than lease liabilities are measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method (for a description of the amortised cost method,
please see "Section 3 - Assets at amortised cost").

A new placement of repurchased own bonds on the market (or, similarly, a repurchase agreement
transaction -for funding purposes- with self-issued bonds as the underlying) is considered as a new
issuance, consequently increasing the value of securities in issue but with no recognition of any profit
or loss from trading.

25 Lease payments payable only include rents, and exclude value added tax charges (VAT). On the basis of the definition of
"lease payment' - whereby payments under a lease contract are those made by the lessee to the lessor - all administrative
expenses relating to leased assets other than lease payments (maintenance costs, operational costs of buildings, insurance
policy premiums, overheads, etc.) are excluded from the carrying amount of the right of use asset and liability, since they relate

to a counterparty other than the lessor.

26 Generally, the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined.
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After the commencement date, lease liabilities are measured by:

a) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability;

b) Reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made and remeasuring the carrying
amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications or to reflect revised in-substance fixed
lease payments.

Derecognition criteria

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are derecognised when they expire or are repaid or
repurchased in the case of previously issued securities. In this latter case, the difference between the
carrying amount and the purchase cost is recognised through profit or loss.

IFRS 9 indicates that:

e an exchange of debt instruments with substantially different terms shall be accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial instrument and the recognition of a new financial
instrument;

e similarly, a substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability or a part of it
(whether or not attributable to the financial difficulty of the debtor) shall be accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability;

e the ferms are considered as substantially different if the present value of the cash flows under the
new terms, determined using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different
from the discounted present value of the cash flows of the original financial liability;

e the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability measured at the date of
derecognition and the fair value of the new liability shall be recognised in profit or loss.

IFRIC 19 provides the following additional guidance to address the accounting treatment of a

financial liability settled, in full or in part, by equity instruments issued by the debtor:

e the equity instruments issued cause the derecognition of the financial liability;

e the value of the equity instrument is 'consideration paid' to extinguish the financial liability;

e the equity instrument issued should be measured at its fair value;

e the difference between the carrying amount of the derecognised instrument and the initial value
of the equity instrument should be recognised in profit or loss.

The rights of use acquired as part of leasing and related lease liabilities are derecognised at the end
of the lease term.

Ciriteria for the recognition of income

Interest and similar expense relating to financial liabilities at amortised cost are recognised on an
accrual basis as “Interest and similar expense”, using the effective interest method for payables other
than short-term (with term to maturity up to 12 months), with an indefinite life or revolving.

Interest on the lease liability in each period during the lease term shall be the amount that produces
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability?”.

Gains and losses from disposal/repurchase of liabilities other than lease liabilities are recognised in
the Income Statement under the item “Profits/losses from disposal/repurchase - of financial
liabilities".

27 The periodic rate of interest is the rate applied at initial recognition, or the revised rate reflecting any reassessment or lease
modifications or in-substance fixed payments. If the change in lease payments results from a change in floating interest rates,

a revised discount rate is used that reflects changes in the interest rate.
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For the rights of use acquired as part of leasing and related lease liabilities, "Net adjustments
to/recoveries on property and equipment' also includes any gains or losses arising from lease
modifications and gains from the remeasurement of lease liabilities.

12. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING

Classification criteria

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is:

e issued mainly for short-term repurchase, with the aim of generating profit from short-term value
fluctuations;

e part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which
there is a short-term profit expectation, or the evidence of a short-term profit-taking realisation;

e a derivative contract not designated as effective hedging derivatives (to which a specific
accounting system applies, known as “hedge accounting”) or that does not fall within the
definition of financial guarantee contract.

The category of financial liabilities held for trading includes the negative values of derivative contracts

held for trading (positive values are posted under the item “Financial assets held for trading”) and

“technical overdrafts” generated from trading securities.

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:

* its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument
price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit
index, or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is
not specific to a party to the contract;

* it requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be
required for other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to
changes in market factors; and

e itis settled at a future date.

Derivatives held for trading include those which are operationally linked to financial assets and/or
liabilities carried at fair value (subject to the fair value option) or classified as held for trading with
settlement of spreads or margins on different maturities ("'multiflow" contracts) and derivatives
embedded in hybrid financial liabilities, which were recognised separately because:

e their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to the economic characteristics
and risks of the host contracts;

e the embedded instruments meet the definition of a derivative contract;

e hybrid instruments are not measured at fair value, with related changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Reclassifications between different categories of financial liabilities are not permitted.

Recognition criteria

Financial liabilities held for trading are initially recognised when they are entered into, at fair value,
usually for an amount equal to the consideration received, less transaction costs or proceeds that
are directly aftributable to the instrument, which are recognised directly in profit or loss.

Measurement criteria
After initial recognition, financial liabilities held for trading are measured at fair value, which changes

in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
The criteria adopted for measuring the fair value of financial instruments are reported in Section A.4,
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“Information on Fair Value” of the Explanatory Notes.

Transactions in derivatives settled through central clearing platforms, are subject to netting of positive
and negative fair values under IAS 32, applying the conventional criteria described in Circular
262/2005, when both of the following requirements are met:

a) an entity has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and

b) intends either to setftle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Derecognition criteria

Financial liabilities held for trading are derecognised when they are repaid, substantially transferring
all related risks and rewards, or when the contractual rights to cash flows expire.

Criteria for the recognition of income

Interest expense on uncovered short positions ("technical overdrafts") on securities, as well as spreads
and margins on derivatives operationally linked to financial assets and/or liabilities carried at fair
value (subject to the fair value option) or classified as held for trading with settlement of spreads or
margins expected to take place on different maturities (“multiflow” contracts) are recognised on an
accrual basis under the sub-items of interest expense.

Gains and losses from trading and capital gains and losses arising from fair value measurement are
recognised through profit or loss in the period in which they arise and are posted to the item “Net
profit (loss) from trading”.

13. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The banks of the Group have decided not to make use of the fair value option for financial liabilities.

14. FOREIGN-CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS

Upon initial recognition, foreign currency transactions are recognised in the currency of account,
applying the current exchange rate to the amount in foreign currency as at the transaction date.
Monetary items are the currency units held, assets to be received and liabilities to be paid in a fixed
or determinable number; conversely, non-monetary items are those items which provide no legal
right to receive or obligation to deliver a fixed or determinable number of currency units.
Balance sheet entries denominated in foreign currencies are valued at the end of each annual or
interim reporting period as follows:
- cash items are translated at the period-end exchange rate;
- non-cash items, measured at their historic cost in a foreign currency, are translated at the
transaction date exchange rate;
- non-cash items, measured at fair value in a foreign currency, are translated at the period-
end exchange rate.
Exchange differences from the measurement of non-cash items classified under financial assets
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised in profit or loss or equity
based on whether or not they are involved in fair value hedges of foreign currency risk.
Other exchange differences from disposal or translation differences on items in a foreign currency
are recognised in profit or loss.
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15. OTHER INFORMATION

v"  Information on revenues from contracts with customers (IFRS 15)

In order to recognise revenue representing the transfer of promised goods or services to customers,
IFRS 15 is delivered in a five-step model framework to:
1) identify the contract(s) with a customer;
) identify the performance obligations in the contract;
) determine the transaction price;
4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract;
) recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a perfformance obligation.

Performance obligations are the promise to transfer to the customer either:
* a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or
* a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.
A good or service that is promised to a customer (performance obligation) is distinct if both of the
following criteria are met:
* the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other
resources that are readily available to the customer; and
* the entity’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable
from other promises in the contract.
When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the bank may act as
either a principal or an agent.
The bank is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that good or service is
transferred to the customer and, when it satisfies a performance obligation, the bank recognises
revenue in the gross amount of consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the
specified good or service transferred.
The bank is an agent if it does not control the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer. When (or as) it satisfies a performance
obligation, the bank recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the
other party.

The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. The consideration may include fixed amounts, variable amounts, or both.
When determining the transaction price, an entity shall consider the effects of all of the following:

* variable consideration because of discounts, incentives, performance bonuses, penalties or
other similar items;

* a significant financing component (time value of money);

* non-cash consideration, to be measured at fair value if it can be reasonably estimated (if it
cannot be reasonably estimated, the entity shall measure the consideration indirectly by
reference to the stand-alone selling price of the goods or services promised to the customer
in exchange for the consideration);

* consideration payable to a customer (e.g. sales incentives).

An entity shall include in the transaction price some or all of an amount of variable consideration

estimated only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of
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cumulative revenue recognised will not occur.

Where a contract has multiple performance obligations, an entity will allocate the transaction price
to each performance obligation in an amount that depicts the amount of consideration to which an
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for satisfaction of each performance obligation. To meet the
allocation objective, the most suitable method to determine said amounts is by reference to the stand-
alone selling price at which an entity would sell a promised good or service separately to a customer.
If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, an entity shall estimate the standalone selling
price by adopting an approach that maximises the use of observable inputs and apply estimation
methods consistently in similar circumstances?®.

When (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, an entity shall recognise as revenue the amount
of the transaction price that is allocated to that performance obligation. A performance obligation is
satisfied when control of the underlying good or service is transferred to the customer.

Revenue is recognised either:

* “at a point in time”: when control is passed; or

* “over time”: revenue is recognised over time, selecting an appropriate method to measure
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.

If a customer pays consideration before the entity performs by transferring the related good or service
to the customer, the entity shall present the contract as a liability under “Other liabilities”.

If an entity performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays
consideration, the entity shall present the contract as an asset under “Other assets”; two types of
assets can be recognised:

* “Receivable”, i.e. an entity’s right to consideration that is unconditional. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

An entity shall account for a receivable in accordance with IFRS 9.

Upon initial recognition of a receivable, any difference between the measurement of the
receivable in accordance with IFRS 9 and the corresponding amount of revenue recognised
shall be presented as an expense.

* “Contract asset”, i.e. an entity’s right to consideration representing something other than a
receivable.

An entity shall assess a contract asset for impairment in accordance with IFRS 9. An
impairment of a contract asset shall be measured, presented and disclosed on the same
basis as a financial asset that is within the scope of IFRS 9.

For contracts with customers that become onerous, the provisions of IAS 37 shall apply.

IFRS 15 also provides the rules for recognising some of the costs related to the contract with the
customer (contract costs), distinguishing between incremental costs of obtaining a contract and costs
incurred to fulfil a contract.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that an entity would not have incurred
if the contract had not been successfully obtained. The incremental costs of obtaining a contract must
be recognised as an asset if the entity expects to recover those costs, otherwise they shall be
recognised as an expense.

An entity may recognise the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred

28 |f a standalone selling price is not directly observable, suitable methods for estimating it under IFRS 15 include:
e adjusted market assessment approach;
e  expected cost plus margin approach;
e residual approach, to be used only if the selling pri;:gsis highly variable or uncertain.



if the amortisation period of the asset that the entity otherwise would have recognised is one year or
less.
If the costs incurred in fulfilling a contract with a customer are not within the scope of another
Standard (for example, IAS 2, IAS 16 or IAS 38 ), an entity shall recognise an asset from the costs
incurred to fulfil a contract only if those costs meet all of the following criteria:
* the costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the entity can
specifically identify;
* the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in satisfying
performance obligations in the future;
* the costs are expected to be recovered.
Contract costs that are recognised as assets shall be amortised on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates. Under IAS 36,
an amount that cannot be recovered and a reversal of an impairment loss shall be recognised in
profit or loss.

A contract with a customer may be partially within the scope of IFRS 15 and partially within the scope
of another standard. If other standards specify how to separate and/or initially measure one or more
parts of the contract, then those separation and measurement requirements are applied first. The
transaction price is then reduced by the amounts that are initially measured under other standards;
an entity shall then apply the provision of IFRS 15 to allocate the amount of the transaction price that
remains (if any) to each performance obligation and/or to any other parts of the contract falling
within the scope of IFRS 15. If the other Standards do not specify how to separate and/or initially
measure one or more parts of the contract, then the entity shall apply IFRS 15 to separate and/or
initially measure the part (or parts) of the contract.

For further information, please see the following paragraph “Recognition of income and related
costs”.

v" Recognition of income and related costs

The main criteria for income recognition are summarised below?’:

e inferest income and inferest expense are calculated on a pro rata basis on the basis of the
contractual interest rate or the effective interest rate where amortised cost is applied. The
amortised cost method is not applied to short-term financial instruments (with term to maturity
up to 12 months), with an indefinite life or revolving, inasmuch as the effects of application
of discounted cash flows are deemed negligible;

e for financial assets that have become credit impaired or for purchased or originated credit
impaired financial assets (POCI), interest income is calculated on the value at amortised cost
(gross carrying amount less total credit losses); for POCI assets, this assessment method is
maintained over the full contractual term of the asset even if it is no longer credit-impaired;

e arrears interest on credit-impaired financial assets is recognised in profit or loss only when
collected;

e negative interest on financial assets and liabilities is respectively recognised as “Interest and
similar expense” and “Interest and similar income” in profit or loss;

e fee and commission income and income deriving from the provision of services are

2 In general, paragraph 4.47 of the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting specifies that “Income is recognised in
the income statement when an increase in future economic benefits related to an increase in an asset or a decrease of a
liability has arisen that can be measured reliably. This means that recognition of income occurs simultaneously with the

recognition of increases in assets or decreases in liabilities”.
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recognised in the financial statements during the period in which the services are provided
(at a point in time) or distributed over time over the expected duration of the service (over
time), to the extent that the service is provided in each period; possible variable
considerations relating to discounts, incentives, penalties or bonuses are recognised in
advance as compared with their monetary occurrence, only if it is highly probable that their
amount will not subsequently have to be significantly reduced;

e dividends are recognised in profit or loss as at the date of the Shareholders’ Meeting
resolution approving their distribution;

e gains and losses from trading in financial instruments are recognised through profit or loss
in the period in which they arise;

e revenues from the sale of property and equipment are recognised when the buyer has the
right to direct the use of the asset and to receive economic benefits expected from its use;
usually this occurs upon completion of the sale.

Expenditures are recognised in profit and loss for the periods in which the related revenues are
recognised.

If cost-revenue association is not feasible, the costs are immediately recognised in profit or loss.
When it is expected that economic benefits will materialise over several financial years and an
association with revenues may only be determined in a generic or indirect manner, the expenses are
recognised in profit or loss according to a systematic and rational allocation method. This is often
necessary fo recognise expenses associated with the use of assets such as property, plant, equipment,
goodwill, patents and trademarks; in such cases costs are defined as depreciation or amortisation.
Such allocation procedures are intended to measure costs in the accounting periods in which the
economic benefits associated with such items are consumed or expire.

v" Share-based payments

The Group Banks’ remuneration policies are in line with Title IV, Chapter 2 “Remuneration and
Incentive Policies and Practices” of Bank of ltaly’s Circular letter no. 285/2013 and define the
structure of the employees’ variable salary component, which involves the award of an annual bonus,
with payout structured as follows:

o for identified staff, the bonus is partly paid up-front (in cash and financial instruments) and
partly deferred (in cash and financial instruments);

e for remaining personnel, the bonus is paid up-front in cash. For staff who are assigned
individual targets, if the variable component is 50% of the annual gross salary (AGS), the
relevant governing body may decide that a 40% share of the bonus may follow the deferral
rules in use for Identified Staff, subject to the applicable forms of payment and criteria of
internal consistency and fairness.

The components consisting in financial instruments will be paid in Phantom/unit shares®.

The components consisting in Phantom/unit shares are denominated in “virtual” shares which will be
awarded at the end of the vesting period, based on the performance achieved and converted into
cash according to the change in value of the underlying shares between the beginning of the vesting
period and conversion into cash. The value of the incentive is therefore linked to changes in the value
of Carige’s stock. Benefits for employees paid in financial instruments fall within the scope of

30 Subject to a decision by the relevant governing bodies, other types of financial instruments may also be awarded,
including unlisted securities, as defined in Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) no. 527/2014 with regard to regulatory
technical standards specifying the classes of instruments that are appropriate to be used for the purposes of variable
remuneration.
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application of IFRS 2, with particular regard to share-based, cash-settled payment awards made to
employees.

Related charges are recognised as “Administrative expenses — Personnel expenses” and “Other
liabilities” when certain conditions are met.

Financial liabilities are measured at fair value by using an option-pricing model, thus considering
the terms and conditions according to which the revaluation rights have been assigned and the extent
to which the staff rendered its services until that date. The initial fair value is recognised as an expense
until vesting.

Until the liability is seftled, the related fair value is re-measured at each reporting date and at the
date of settlement, with all changes in fair value being recognised in profit or loss.

v Treasury shares
Treasury shares held are deducted from shareholders’ equity.

Profits or losses on transactions in treasury shares are recognised to a specific equity reserve; changes
in the fair value of treasury shares shall not be recognised.

Additional information is provided in Section “12 - Company shareholders’ equity” of the Notes to
the Financial Statements, part B - Balance Sheet.

v Repurchose agreements on own securities

Repurchase agreements (liabilities) with repurchased own debt as underlying are recognised as new
placement on the securities market and thereby increase the liabilities of securities issued or liabilities
measured at fair value through profit and loss, with recognition of the obligation to repay securities
at repo maturity, for the purposes of interest rate and liquidity risk disclosure as per Part E of the
Explanatory Notes.

Similarly, repurchase agreement transactions with banking and financial counterparties with
securities issued by the same entities as underlying are entered in purchased securities portfolios,
with recognition of the commitment to reselling these securities at repo maturity.

v Non-recurring expenses for maintenance on third party premises

This relates to costs incurred for the renovation of third-party properties that can be capitalised as
the lease agreement establishes a form of control over the asset and the Bank can therefore expect
future economic benefits.

These costs, which are not covered by IFRS 16, are recognised in the item “Other Assets”, and are
amortised over a period shorter than or equal to the term of the lease liability as measured under
IFRS 16 in relation to the lease contract for the underlying property.

The amortisation provision for the period is allocated to the Income Statement under “Other
operating expense (income)”.

v Employee termination indemnities

Employee termination indemnities are recognised according to their actuarial value as determined
by an independent actuary.

For discounting purposes the projected unit credit method is used, which considers the projection of
future outlay based on historic and statistical analysis and demographic curve analysis. The
discounting rate is a market interest rate.

Contributions paid each year are considered separately and recognised and measured individually
to calculate the final obligation.

In accordance with IAS 19, the employee termination indemnities are a “post-employment benefit”.
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Specifically, for employee termination indemnities (TFR):

- - the portions of employee termination indemnities accruing after 1 January 2007 contribute
towards a “defined contribution plan” both in the case of employees choosing the option of a
supplementary pension and of allocation to the INPS Treasury fund (national social security
authority). The amount is therefore calculated on the basis of contributions due, without
application of actuarial calculation methods;

- the employee termination indemnities accrued as at 31 December 2006 are considered a
“defined benefit plan” with the consequent need to perform an actuarial assessment without the
proportional attribution of the benefit to the period of service provided, as the employment service
to be assessed is considered to be fully accrued as a result of the change in the accounting
nature of portions accruing from 1 January 2007 (date of entry into force of the supplementary
pensions reform, Legislative Decree No. 252 of 5 December 2005). Additional information is
provided in Section “9 - Employee termination indemnities” of the Explanatory Notes, Part B -
Balance Sheet.

v" Securitisations completed by the Banca Carige Group during the period from 1 January 2019 to
31 January 2020
In March 2019, the securitisation of leased receivables carried out by Banca Carige through the

vehicle Lanterna Lease S.r.l. in 2016 was finalised, through the transfer of the loans to the originator
Banca Carige, the cancellation of the securities issued, the repayment of loans received and the
seftlement of outstanding debts, including payment of the premium on the Junior notes.

During the first quarter of 2019, Banca Carige carried out a new securitisation of lease receivables,
through the transfer to the vehicle company Lanterna Lease S.r.l. of a portfolio of financial lease
contracts granted by Banca Carige consisting of 1,186 contracts, sold at a total price of EUR 231.3
min.

Further to the disposal, the special purpose vehicle issued senior securities underwritten by
institutional investors not belonging to the Group, and junior securities fully underwritten by the
originator (Banca Carige).

Given the characteristics of the securitisation, the assets under disposal were not derecognised, as
substantially all the risks and rewards of the assets sold have been retained by Banca Carige pursuant
to IFRS 9.

Moreover, as planned upon disposal of Banca Carige S.p.A.’s controlling shareholding in Creditis
Servizi Finanziari S.p.A., the two ongoing fransactions structured under the vehicle Lanterna
Consumer S.r.l. were closed through the transfer of the loans to the originator, Creditis Servizi
Finanziari S.p.A., the cancellation of the securities issued, the repayment of loans received and the
settlement of outstanding debts, including payment of the premium on the Junior notes.
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A.4 - INFORMATION ON FAIR VALUE

Qualitative information

Foreword

IFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Therefore, it is a sort of “exit price” under current market conditions, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using valuation techniques. IFRS 13 indicates that, in calculating the
fair value:

V' the prices in the principal market (understood as the market with the greatest volume or level of
activity) must be identified or, in its absence, in the most advantageous market;

v" fair value must be measured using the assumptions that the market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their best interest;

v’ it recognises the distinction between a quoted price in an active market and a price not quoted in
an active market.

IFRS 7 requires financial disclosures to indicate the fair value of each class of financial assets and
liabilities, so it can be compared with the associated book value.

IFRS 13 determines that a specific level should be assigned to fair value according to a hierarchy which,
in decreasing order of priority, categorises fair value into three levels:

* level 1: the fair value is determined directly on the basis of quoted prices observed in active
markets for assets or liabilities that are identical to the ones being measured; specific emphasis is
placed on determining the principal market or, in its absence, the most advantageous market as
well as the possibility that the firm preparing the financial statements can carry out the transaction
at the market price on the date of measurement;

* level 2: fair value is calculated on the basis of inputs other than quoted prices referred to in level
1 which are directly or indirectly observable;

* level 3: fair value is calculated on the basis of unobservable inputs and is based on the
assumptions it is presumed market participants would make to calculate the value of the
instrument.

The inputs used to calculate the fair value of an instrument could be categorised into different levels of
the fair value hierarchy; in these cases, the instrument is classified in its entirety in the same level of the
hierarchy in which the lowest level input is classified.

In the event significant adjustments are made to level 2 inputs with respect to the total fair value of the
instrument, the latter is classified in level 3 of the fair value hierarchy if these adjustments use significant
unobservable inputs.

A.4.1 Fair value levels 2 and 3: valuation techniques and inputs used

Please find below a description of the criteria adopted to both measure the fair value and classify the
instruments measured on a recurring basis and those assessed on a non-recurring basis into the different
levels of the fair value hierarchy.

a) Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis

e Securities and derivative contracts

The fair value of financial instruments corresponds to the quoted price for instruments quoted in active
markets, and to the value calculated through the use of valuation techniques for other instruments.
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A financial instrument is considered quoted in an active market when its price is readily and regularly
available from stock exchanges, operators, intermediaries, pricing agencies or regulators and when
this price represents actual arm’s length transactions taking place on a regular basis as standard, or
potential transactions that could take place on such bases.
This category includes instruments admitted to trading on regulated markets (quoted) or systematically
traded through “alternative trading” systems', whose prices are considered to be “meaningful”,
together with those obtainable from intermediaries deemed reliable, whose price reflects the price of a
normal trade, i.e. the price at which a transaction could take place on the reference date for that
instrument.
A regulated market does not guarantee the presence of “meaningful” prices when at least one of the
following conditions apply:

- trading is highly infrequent and volumes are of little significance;

- there is no information on volumes and trading and the pricing methods are considered

unreliable or are no longer published;

- there is insufficient “breadth” and “depth” to the market.
An alternative trading system or a contributor does not guarantee the presence of “meaningful” prices
when at least one of the following conditions apply:

- trading is highly infrequent and volumes are of little significance;

- there is no information on volumes and trading;

- there is not at least one contributor of high standing, who publishes “operating” prices

constantly over time.

For financial instruments quoted in active markets, the "bid" price (i.e. the highest price that a buyer is
willing to pay) is used; for financial liabilities, the "ask" price (i.e. the lowest price that a seller is willing
to accept) is used.
If the bid and ask prices are not available, the price of the most recent transaction may provide an
indication of the current fair value.
For equivalent financial assets and liabilities, with matching positions in terms of market risk, mid-
market prices are used instead of the bid or ask price as a basis for measuring fair value.
All the prices considered are those obtained as at year-end.

When the market does not have a sufficient and continuous number of transactions, bid-ask spread
and insufficiently contained volatility, which characterise level 1 of the fair value hierarchy, special
valuation methods are used, including theoretical models which, largely making use of observable
market parameters, can determine an appropriate fair value for financial instruments.
The measurement methods established for each financial instrument not quoted in an active market
are adopted consistently in the long term, unless amendments or improvements are considered
appropriate.
All parameters of the models used are based on the market conditions prevailing at the end of the
reporting period.
Usually, the NAV (“Net Asset Value”) of units of Undertakings for collective investments in transferable
securities (UCITS) which are not traded on regulated markets, such as private equity funds and similar
funds (including real estate investment funds and hedge funds), is provided by the asset manager on a
six-month basis. The fair value of these securities is measured by adjusting the NAV in order fo:
e consider the events not yet included in the measurement of the units value, such as calls on
shares and dividend payout, and to
e reflect a different valuation of underlying assets, if available, or specific contractual provisions,
including, for example, the existence of minimum financial returns below which no performance
fees are due (hurdle rates) or, alternatively, the existence of minimum performance fees.

! Secondary markets not officially regulated on which financial instruments already issued are systematically traded on the
basis of pre-established transparent rules and conditions known to all participants concerned.
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For financial instruments not quoted in active markets, the fair value -if no valuations from reliable
sources are available (even if said prices were not such as to qualify as effective market quotes)- is
calculated by using valuation techniques which aim to ultimately establish the price the instrument
would have had, at the valuation date, in an arm's length transaction driven by normal business
considerations. These techniques include:
e reference to market values indirectly related to the instrument to be valued and taken from
similar instruments in terms of their risk characteristics (comparable approach);
e valuations made by using, even only partially, inputs not taken from parameters observable on
the market, for which use is made of estimates and assumptions made by the analyst (Mark to

Model).

More specifically, the guidelines used to attribute fair value levels 2 or 3 to the financial instruments are:

T.  Valuation Techniques (Comparable Approach) — Fair value level 2

The valuation is not based on significant prices of the financial instrument to be valued, but on indicative
valuations available from reliable info-providers or on prices determined by using an appropriate
calculation method (pricing model) and observable market parameters, including credit spreads taken
from the official quotes of substantially similar instruments in terms of risk factors. If calculation methods
are used (pricing models) in the comparable approach, these allow the replication of the prices of
financial instruments quoted in active markets (calibration of the model) without including discretional
parameters —i.e. parameters whose value cannot be inferred from quoted prices of financial instruments
in active markets or set at such levels that may replicate quoted prices in active markets— in such a way
as may considerably affect the final fair value measurement.

2. Valuation Techniques (Comparable Approach) — Fair value level 3
Valuations are made by using different inputs, not all directly taken from observable market parameters
and therefore entail estimates and assumptions by the analyst. In particular, this approach requires the
valuation of the financial instrument to be conducted by using a calculation method (pricing model)
which is based, among other things, on specific hypotheses or assumptions that, on the basis of the
instrument to be valued, may concern:

- the development of future cash flows, which may be affected by future events that may be
aftributed probabilities presumed from past experience or on the basis of behavioural
hypotheses;

- the level of specific input parameters not listed on active markets, for which information acquired
from prices and spreads observed on the market is in any case preferred; where this is not
available, past data on the specific risk of the underlying asset or specialised reports are used
(e.g. reports prepared by rating agencies or primary market players);

- the reference to all possible relevant information available, even accounting information,
including, for example, the value of shareholders' equity in the case of interests or shareholdings
in unlisted companies.

The fair value of derivative contracts includes the valuation of counterparty credit risk, if the fair value is
positive (Credit valuation adjustment - CVA), or valuation of own credit risk, if the fair value is negative
(Debit valuation adjustment - DVA); derivative contracts subject to margin trading (CSA agreements) are
excluded from calculation of the CVA and DVA.

The fair value of bonds issued includes the evaluation of own creditworthiness (Own Credit risk
Adjustment - OCA).

The bonds issued by the Banca Carige Group have been listed and traded on the Hi-Mit multilateral
trading facility since 2018.

These bonds qualify as quoted in an active market, as their price is readily and regularly provided by a
third party (the “specialist”), who provides corporate brokering services at market spreads on an ongoing
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basis.

e Properties obtained by enforcement of collateral

Real estate properties acquired to extinguish credit-impaired exposures are usually classified as
inventories (IAS 2) or non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations, if the assets meet
the criteria to be classified in accordance with IFRS 52.

The fair value of these properties is:

- the value inferred from marketing activities in progress if, at the date of initial recognition, the
asset is being actively marketed for sale and there is evidence that the parties involved remain
committed to a sale plan;

- the quick sale value, in view of the sale occurring in a shorter period than the marketing time
normally considered to determine the market value of the asset;

- the market value resulting from a specific appraisal, in other cases.

b) Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value or measured at fair value on a
non-recurring basis

e Other financial instruments

The fair value of the financial instruments other than securities issued or held in the portfolio and
derivative contracts, to be disclosed in the tables of the explanatory notes, is measured by using a
Discounted Cash Flow type analysis method.

A risk neutral approach is applied, using the same PD and LGD risk parameters to measure the expected
value of future cash flows as are in use for determining impairment losses®; cash flows are discounted
using a risk-free discount factor plus a risk premium which is defined on the basis of the cost of equity.
For the following cases, it is presumed that the fair value corresponds to the carrying amount:

v Non-performing exposures: this approximation is based on the assumption that the lack of a
sufficiently large number of transactions for these financial assets does not allow the adoption
of observable market parameters, with particular reference to the discount rate components
(which would also include the market premium for risks and uncertainties).

By virtue of this, the estimated fair value depends mainly on the current portfolio management
model and the relative collection methods, and does not appear to be specifically influenced
by the evolution of rates of return demanded by the market.

The internal methods of calculating the fair value (so-called exit price) of the loan portfolio are
therefore more sensitive to the loss of value forecasts, the result of a subjective valuation,
expressed by the position manager, with reference to the estimated cash flows expected from
collection and related timing.

It is not possible, therefore, to exclude that the price of any sales to third parties may deviate
from the fair value indicated for the purposes of financial reporting.

v" Short-term receivables and payables (with term to maturity up to 12 months) and other than
time deposits* and loans payable.

2 Properties used for debt collection purposes, which are exceptionally held for investment and not for sale, are classified as
investment property (IAS 40).

3 The multi-period PD and LGD curves used to measure impairment are determined by means of the Group banks’ internal
models, starting from “point in time” (PIT) values integrated -over the first three years of projection- with forward-looking
macroeconomic information (“forward looking information - FLI”), used in satellite models over multiple scenarios.

4 Time deposits on current accounts and time-restricted dematerialised savings deposits.
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Reported below are the general criteria for assigning a fair value level to financial instruments other
than securities issued or portfolio securities and derivative contracts:

v" non-performing loans: level 3;

v short-term performing loans/receivables and short-term liabilities: level 2, as it is presumed
that -being a reasonable approximation of fair value- the book value includes unobservable
inputs deemed as non-significant;

v" medium/long-term performing loans and medium/long-term liabilities: level 3, as the
criteria described above for measuring fair value use mostly unobservable inputs, do not
include some risk components and do not envisage any comparison with benchmarks
contfaining observable market data.

e Investment Property (IAS 40)

Measurement of the fair value of a non-financial asset must consider the capacity of market participants
to generate economic benefits by employing the asset in its highest and best use or selling the asset to
whichever entity can guarantee said use.

The highest and best use makes reference to the use of an asset by market participants which should
maximise the value of the asset or group of assets and liabilities in which the asset should be used,
considering the uses of the asset which are physically possible, legally permissible and financially
feasible at the measurement date.

The fair value of investment property is measured to reflect the properties’ specific characteristics (e.g.
state of preservation, presence of any easements, size) and returns of similar property, also considering
the feedback provided by independent info-providers.

The fair value measured with this approach is classified into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy because,
as described above, is it measured by using mainly unobservable inputs.

A.4.2 Processes and sensitivity of valuations
The financial instruments included in level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are comprised of the:

1. investments held in the Bank of Italy amounting to EUR 257.4 mln;

2. equity instruments (non-controlling interests in unlisted companies) fair valued pro-rata to the
shareholders' equity for an amount of EUR 21.95 mln;
debt securities and equities in default or from loans restructuring or otherwise unlisted;
the Group’s NPL securitisation;
stakes in Private Equity and Hedge Funds;
financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value as they did not pass the SPPI test.
With reference to the investments held in the Bank of Italy, the fair value was in line with the values of
previous financial years.
Valuation methodologies, in which the significant input used could not be directly observed on the
market (e.g. volatility), were adopted for some securities and equity instruments arising from restructuring
agreements of large-amount exposures.

oo

A.4.3 Fair Value Hierarchy

With reference to the financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis, a quarterly analysis is
performed for determining the characteristics of the individual securities in order to categorise them
within the correct a level of fair value.

If the stock exchanges that presented bid/ask quotations with a small bid/ask spread and with
acceptable exchange volumes lose such features and the value can be estimated using internal models
whose inputs are objectively observable on the market, a transfer is made from level 1 to level 2.
Conversely, if a loss of the conditions necessary for the financial asset to belong to level 1 or level 2
occurs, and if the price may be estimated via an internal model that makes use of at least one non-
observable market input, the asset is classified in level 3 of the fair value.
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Quantitative information

A.4.5 Fair Value Hierarchy

A.4.5.1 Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis: breakdown by fair value level

31/01/2020 31/12/2018
Assets/liabilities measured at fair value L1 L2 L3 L1 L2 L3
1. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, o.w. 628 20,191 136,654 1,026 20,067 152,623
a) Financial assets held for trading 108 1,601 6 557 1,477 8
b) Financial assets measured at fair value - - - - - -
c) Other financial assets mandatorily at fair value 520 18,590 136,648 469 18,590 152,615
2. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 499,370 . 284,326 500,287 . 311510
income
3. Hedging derivatives - 9,087 - - 13,842 -

4. Property and equipment - - - - - R

5. Intangible assets - -

Total 499,998 29,278 420,980 501,313 33,909 463,774

1. Financial liabilities held for trading - 1,165 - - 720 -
2. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - - - - -
3. Hedging derivatives - 266,295 - - 239,612 -
Total - 267,460 - - 240,332 -
Key
L1 = Level 1
L2 = Level 2
L3= Level 3
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A.4.5.2 Annual changes in assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis (level 3)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

o.w. b) Financial
o.w. a) . - o.w. c) other .
. . financial ! . assets at fair
financial financial lue th h Hedai Property | bl
Total assets assets assets value throug edging and ntangible
held for designated mandatoril other derivatives equipment assets
tradin at fair ot fair GlUZ comprehensive quip
9 value v income
1. Opening balance 152,623 8 - 152,615 311,151 - - -
2. Increases 10,746 1 - 10,745 13,779 - - -
2.1. Purchases - 4
2.2. Profits 6,260 1 6,259 5,815
recoanised in:
2.2.1. Profit and 6,260 1 6,259
Loss
- of which: capital 5,128 1 5,127
gains
2.2..2‘ Shareholders’ X X ) 5815
equity
2.3. Transfer from
other levels )
2.4. Other increases 4,486 - 4,486 7,960
3. Decreases 26,715 3 26,712 40,604
3.1. Sales 5,922 5,922 40,007
3.2. Repayment 796 796
3.3. Losses. 5,261 3 5,258 597
recognised in:
3.3.1. Profit and 5261 3 5,258 51
Loss
|_ of which capital 5,260 9 5,258
osses
3.312. Shareholders’ X X 546
equity
3.4. Transfer from
other levels )
85 Other 14,736 14,736
ecreases
4, Closing balance 136,654 6 - 136,648 284,326 - - -

146



A.4.5.4 Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value or measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis:
breakdown by fair value level

Assets/Liabilities not
measured at fair value
or measured at fair
value on a non-
recurring basis

31/01/2020

31/12/2018

BV

L1 L2

L3

BV

L1

2

L3

1. Financial assets
measured at amortised
cost

18,551,726

927,197 7,495,073

11,056,037

17,200,504

843,602

3,688,144

13,377,584

2. Assets held for
investment

177,550

182,553

158,019

162,406

3. Non-current assets
held for sale and
discontinued operations

617,224

Total

18,729,276

927,197 7,495,073

11,238,590

17,975,747

843,602

3,588,144

13,539,990

1. Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

20,072,079

- 13,839,320

6,022,692

19,087,529

1,154,049

12,742,870

4,821,433

2. Liabilities associated
to non-current assets

234,759

Total

20,072,079

- 13,839,320

6,022,692

19,322,288

1,154,049

12,742,870

4,821,433

Key

L1 = Level 1
L2 = Level 2
L3= Level 3
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A.5 - INFORMATION ON “DAY ONE PROFIT/LOSS”

Paragraph 28 of IFRS 7 regulates the specific case of purchase/sale of a financial instrument not quoted
in an active market, where the price of the transaction, which generally represents the best estimate of
fair value at initial recognition, differs from the fair value determined using the valuation techniques
adopted by the entity at the time of recognition.

In this case, a profit/loss emerges in the measurement at the time of purchase for which adequate
disclosure by class of financial instrument must be given of the accounting policy adopted for
recognising that difference, with an indication of the aggregate difference yet to be recognised in profit
or loss at the beginning and end of the period and a reconciliation of changes in the balance of this
difference.

No such cases are to be reported for the consolidated financial statements.
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Part B

CONSOLIDATED
BALANCE SHEET



ASSETS
SECTION 1
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - ITEM 10

1.1 Cash and cash equivalents: breakdown

Total Total

31/01/2020 31/12/2018
a) Cash 256,660 266,088
b) Demand deposits with Central banks - -
Total 256,660 266,088
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SECTION 2

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS - ITEM
20

2.1 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown

Total Total
ltems/Amounts 31/01/2020 31/12/2018
L1 L2 L3 L1 12 L3

A. Balance-sheet assets

1. Debt securities 108 - 6 557 - 8
1.1 Structured securities - - - - - -
1.2 Other debt securities 108 - 6 557 - 8

2. Equity instruments

3. Units in UCITS

4. Loans
4.1 Repurchase agreements
4.2 Other

Total (A) 108 - 6 557 - 8

B. Derivatives - - - -
1. Financial derivatives - 1,601 - - 1,477
1.1 trading - 1,601 - - 1,477 -
1.2 connected with the fair value
1.3 other
2. Credit derivatives
2.1 trading
2.2 connected with the fair value

2.3 other

Total (B) - 1,601 - - 1,477 -
Total (A+B) 108 1,601 6 557 1,477 8

Key

L1 = Level 1
12 = Level 2
L3 = Level 3
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2.2 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by borrower/issuer/counterparty

ltems/Amounts

31/01/2020

31/12/2018

A. Balance-sheet assets

1. Debt securities
a) Central banks
b) Public Administrations
c) Banks
d) Other financial companies
of which: insurance companies
e) Non-financial companies

114
19
90

4

565
469
88
4

4

2. Equity instruments
a) Banks
b) Other financial companies
of which: insurance companies
c) Non-financial companies
d) Other issuers

3. Units in UCITS

4. Loans
a) Central banks
b) Public Administrations
c) Banks
d) Other financial companies
of which: insurance companies
e) Non-financial companies
f) Households

Total (A) 114

B. Derivatives

a) Central counterparties

b) Other

Total (B) 1,601

Total (A+B) 1,715
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2.5 Other financial assets mandatorily at fair value: breakdown

Total Total
ltems/Amounts 31/01/2020 31/12/2018
L1 L2 L3 L1 L2 L3

1. Debt securities - - 40,236 - - 48,869
1.1 Structured securities - -
1.2 Other debt securities 40,236 48,869
2. Equity instruments - - 718 - - 1,012
3. Units in UCITS 520 - 11,604 469 - 13,632
4, Loans - 18,590 84,090 - 18,590 89,102
4.1 Repurchase agreements - - - -
4.2 Other 18,590 84,090 18,590 89,102
Total 520 18,590 136,648 469 18,590 152,615

Key

L1 = Level 1
L2 = Level 2
L3 = Level 3
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2.6 Other financial assets mandatorily at fair value:breakdown by borrowers/issuers

Total Total

31/01/2020 31/12/2018
1. Equity instruments 718 1,012
of which: banks 272 294
of which: other financial companies 446 718
of which: non-financial companies - -
2. Debt securities 40,236 48,869
a) Central banks - -
b) Public Administrations - -
c) Banks - _
d) Other financial companies 40,236 43,271
of which: insurance companies - -
e) Non-financial companies - 5,598
3. Units in UCITS 12,124 14,101
4. Loans 102,680 107,692
a) Central banks - -
b) Public Administrations - -
c) Banks 25,146 31,685
d) Other financial companies 71,771 69,683
of which: insurance companies - -
e) Non-financial companies 5,763 6,324
f) Households - -
Total 155,758 171,674
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SECTION 3

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME - ITEM 30

3.1 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income: breakdown

Total Total
ltems/Amounts 31/01/2020 31/12/2018
L1 L2 L3 L1 L2 L3
1. Debt securities 495,510 - 498,020 -
1.1 Structured securities - -
1.2 Other debt securities 495,510 - 498,020 -
2. Equity instruments 3,860 284,326 2,267 311,151
3. Loans - - - -
Total 499,370 284,326 500,287 311,151
Key
L1 = Level 1
L2 = Level 2
L3 = Level 3
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3.2 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income: breakdown by borrowers/issuers

ltems/Amounts Total Total
31/01/2020 31/12/2018
1. Debt securities 495,510 498,020
a) Central banks
b) Public Administrations 495,510 498,020
c) Banks
d) Other financial companies
of which: insurance companies
e) Non-financial companies - -
2. Equity instruments 288,186 313,418
a) Banks 262,375 302,375
b) Other issuers: 25,811 11,043
- Other financial companies 21,363 6,512
of which: insurance companies - -
- non-financial companies 4,443 4,530
- other 5 1
3. Loans - -
a) Central banks
b) Public Administrations
c) Banks
d) Other financial companies
of which: insurance companies
e) Non-financial companies
f) Households
Total 783,696 811,438
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3.3 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income: gross value and overall value

adjustments

Gross amount

Overall value adjustments

Overall
of which: por'lioflfsv:rife-
. o
Stage instruments Stage two  Stage 3 Stage one  Stagetwo  Stage 3
one with low
credit risk
exemption
Debt securities 495,546 495,502 36 -
Loans - - - -
Total 31/01/2020 495,546 495,502 - - 36 - - -
Total  31/12/2018 498,067 498,027 - - 47 - - -
of which: purchased or
originated credit-impaired X X X -

financial assets

* Amount to be shown
for information
purposes
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SECTION 4

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST - ITEM 40

4.1 Financial assets at amortised cost: breakdown of loans to banks

Total Total
31/01/2020 31/12/2018
Book value Fair Value Book value Fair Value
Type of o.w.: ow.:
transaction/Amounts purchased purchased
Stage 1 Stage or Stage 1 Stage or
and 2 3  originated L 12 L3 and 2 3  originated L2 L3
credit- credit-
impaired impaired
’g' Loans to central 3 745 343 - - - 3,745,343 - 378,126 - - - 378,126 -
anks
1. Time deposits X X X X X X
2. Compulsory
3,745,343 X X X 378,126 X X X
reserve
3. Repurchase X X X X X X
agreements
4. Other X X X X X X
B. Loans to banks 789,580 9,455 - - 622,191 300,923 1,136,525 9,455 - - 874,465 270,536
1. Loans 789,580 9,455 - 622,191 300,923 1,136,525 9,455 - 874,465 270,536
1.1 Current
accounts and 18,822 X X X 22,222 X X X
demand
deposits
12 Time X X X X X X
deposits
I;(.]?:].S:ther 770,758 9,455 X X X 1,114,303 9,455 X X X
- Asset
repurchase 119,642 X X X 570,932 X X X
agreements
- Leasing X X X X X X
- Other 651,116 9,455 X X X 543,371 9,455 X X X
2. Debt securities - -
2.1 Structured
securities ) )
2.2 Other debt
securities ) )
Total 4,534,923 9,455 - - 4,367,534 300,923 1,514,651 9,455 - - 1,252,591 270,536
Key
L1 = Level 1
L2 = Level 2
L3 = Level 3
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4.2 Financial assets at amortised cost: breakdown of loans to customers

Total Total
31/01/2020 31/12/2018
Book value Fair Value Book value Fair Value
Type of ow.: ow.:
transaction/Amounts purchased purchased
or or
Stage 1and2  Stage 3 originated L1 L2 L3 Stage 1 and 2 Stage 3 originated L1 L2 L3
credit- credit-
impaired impaired
1. Loans 12,119,673 628,910 - - 2,951,484 10,628,245 12,475,766 1,917,438 - - 2,130,049 12,940,768
1.1. Current accounts 975,491 33,494 - X X X 1,220,898 139,560 X X X
1.2. Repurchase 1,351,835 - - X X X - X X X
agreements
1.3. Mortgages 7,499,556 524,329 - X X X 8,604,603 1,477,978 X X X
1.4. Credit cards,
personal loans and
fifth of salary-backed 84,829 446 - X X X 82,127 733 X X X
loans
1.5 Leasing 426,786 50,213 - X X X 477,650 95,927 X X X
1.6. Factoring 72,547 40 - X X X 57,637 20,565 X X X
1.7. Other loans 1,708,629 20,388 - X X X 2,032,851 182,675 X X X
2. Debt securities 1,258,765 - - 927,197 176,055 126,869 1,283,194 - - 843,602 205,504 166,280
2.1. Structured
securities ) )
2.2 Ofher debi 1,258,765 : - 927097 176,055 126,869 1,283,194 : 843,602 205,504 166,280
Total 13,378,438 628,910 - 927,197 3,127,539 10,755,114 13,758,960 1,917,438 - 843,602 2,335,553 13,107,048
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4.3 Financial assets at amortised cost: breakdown by borrowers/issuers of loans to customers

Total Total
31/01/2020 31/12/2018
Type of transaction/Amounts purcila‘:e: dor purcc})‘l.a‘;ve: dor
Stage 1 and 2 Stage 3 originated | Stage 1 and 2 Stage 3 originated
credit- credit-
impaired impaired
1. Debt securities 1,258,765 - - 1,283,194 - -
a) Public Administrations 921,660 902,918
b) Other financial companies 337,105 380,276
of which: insurance companies -
c) Non-financial companies - - - -
2. Loans to: 12,119,673 628,910 - 12,475,766 1,917,438 -
a) Public Administrations 462,648 - 571,570 972
b) Other financial companies 2,083,604 57,788 1,028,129 49,544
of which: insurance companies - - - 3
c) Non-financial companies 4,105,795 496,602 5,058,485 1,553,495
d) Households 5,467,626 74,520 5,817,582 313,427
Total 13,378,438 628,910 - 13,758,960 1,917,438 -
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4.4 Financial assets at amortised cost: gross value and overall value adjustments

Gross amount

Overall value adjustments

Overall
partial
of which: s s write-
Stage one | instruments | Siage two | Stage 3 fage "% | Stage 3 offs*
9 with low 9 9 one two 9
credit risk
exemption
Debt | 1258915 921,641 . 150 . .
securities
Loans 14,891,623 - 1,852,009 1,144,020 21,242 67,795 505,654 21,300
Total 31/01/2020 16,150,538 921,641 1,852,009 1,144,020 21,392 67,795 505,654 21,300
Total 31/12/2018 13,564,754 902,797 1,821,628 3,560,515 31,266 81,505 1,633,622 132,124
of which: purchased or
originated credit-impaired X X - X

financial assets

* Amount
to be
shown for
information
purposes
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SECTION &

HEDGING DERIVATIVES - ITEM 50

5.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of contract and underlying asset

Fv_ 31/01/2020

L1 L2

L3

NV FV  31/12/2018
31/01/2020 L1 L2 L3

NV
31/12/2018

A. Financial derivatives
1. Fair Value
2. Cash flows

3. Foreign investments

9,087

122,599 13,842 442,838

B. Credit derivatives
1. Fair Value
2. Cash flows

Total - 9,087

122,599 - 13,842 - 442,838

Key

NV = notional value
L1 = Level 1

L2 = Level 2

L3 = Level 3
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5.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by hedged portfolios and type of hedging (book value)

Fair Value Cash flows
Micro-hedge
Transaction/Type of Foreign
. debt . .
hedging " equity g I g,  investments
securities currency 3 o -
instruments loans and » @ ] @
and d . commodities other < 2 <
. and stock receivables P : S
inferest ., gold S o Qo
rates indices g ks g
= = =
1. Financial assets at
fair value Through. ) ) ) ) X X X X X
other comprehensive
income
2. Financial assets
measured at - X - - X X X - X X
amortised cost
3. Portfolio X X X X X X - X - X
4. Other transactions - - - - - - X - X -
Total assets - - - - - - - - - -
1. Financial liabilities 8,913 X - - - - X - X X
2. Portfolio X X X X X X - X - X
Total liabilities 8,913 - - - - - - - -
1 Expected X X X X X X X -X X
transactions
2. Financial assets
and liabilities X X X X X X 174 X - -

portfolio
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SECTION 7

EQUITY INVESTMENTS - ITEM 70

7.1 Equity investments: information on investment relationships

Shareholding relationship
Company Name Regifi;rce;ed OF;?{]‘;:”‘Q rel-Zip(fn:;ip ri;/ﬁ:;n(%é)
held by .
A. Subsidiaries subject to joint control
B. Companies subject to significant
influence
1 Autostrada dei Fiori SpA Imperia Turin Significant influence | Banca Carige SpA | 20.62
2. Nuova Erzelli Srl Genoa Genoa Significant influence | Banca Carige SpA | 40.00

7.2 Significant interests: book value, fair value and dividends earned

Company Name Book value Fair value (2) Dividends earned
A. Subsidiaries 1,587
1. Banca del Monte di Lucca SpA (1) 1,587 i
B. Subsidiaries subject to joint control
C. Companies subject to significant influence 98,153
1. Autostrada dei Fiori SpA 98,153 9,399
Total 99,740 9,399

(1) The reported book value is the value shown in the Parent Company's separate financial statements, which is netted off

in consolidation

(2) The fair value is only shown for listed securities

With regard to controlling interests, information is provided only for subsidiaries in which significant
non-controlling investments have been made.
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7.3 Significant inferests: accounting information

Net
adjustments Other
to/recoveries | Profit (loss) | Profit (loss) ) ) Total
Profit (Loss) Net Profit | comprehe
Cash and ) ) Non- . ) Non- Total Net on property before tax affer tax i comprehen
Company Financial : . Financial ) . after tax from | (Loss) for nsive o
cash financial L financial | revenues | Interest and from from ) ) ) sive income
Name - assets liabilities o " ; - - discontinued the year income,
equivalents assets liabilities ™ Income equipment, continuing continuing . ) =
) ) operations m after tax
and on operations | operations ) M+
intangible
assets
A. Subsidiaries
1. Banca del
Monte di
Lucca SpA (**) 9,739 | 600,714 62,911 611,055 29,768 19,562 | 10,679 (1,664) (17,285) (16,907) - | (16,907) (116) (17,023)
B. Subsidiaries
subject to joint
control
C. Companies
subject to
significant
influence
1. Autostrada
dei Fiori SpA 344,64
(***) 64,206 | 136,374 | 629,123 | 212,361 141,334 3| (2,861) (70,547) 63,663 45,525 - 45,525 -59 45,466

(*) Total revenues in Banca del Monte di Lucca SpA means the total of item 120 "Net interest and other banking income" in the
separate income statement
(**) Figures taken from the reporting package as at 31/01/2020 prepared by the Directors and used in the consolidation process

(***) Figures taken from the reporting package prepared by the Directors according to IAS/IFRS as at 31/12/2019 and used in the consolidation process
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7.4 Non-significant inferests: accounting information

Profit Net
(loss) Profit (loss) | Profi
affer tax affer tax t Other Total )
. Total Total .| comprehensi
Book value of equity L Total from from (Loss | comprehensi !
Company Name ) asset | liabilitie o . . ! ve income
investments revenues | continuin | discontinue ) for ve income —
s s ) =
g d the after tax (2) 1)+ @
operatio operations year
ns m
Companies subject to joint control
Companies subject to significant influence
3,01
1. Nuova Erzelli Srl (*) 1,141 2 159 9) | - 9) (9)

(*) Figures taken from the financial statements as at 31/12/2017 (latest financial statements

approved)
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7.5 Equity investments: changes in the year

31/01/2020

31/12/2018

A. Opening balance

99,318

98,569

B. Increases

B.1 Purchases

B.2 Write-backs

B.3 Revaluations

B.4 Other decreases

11

11

753

753

C. Decreases
C.1 Disposals

C.2 Write-downs

C.3 Impairment

C.4 Other decreases

1,176

1,152

24

D. Closing balance

98,153

99,318

E. Total revaluations

F. Total write-downs

2,855

1,703

Details of the changes are as follows:
B. INCREASES

PURCHASES

NUOVA ERZELLI S.r.l.
Payment made to cover operating expenses

11

Total purchases

11

C. DECREASES

VALUE ADJUSTMENTS

NUOVA ERZELLI S.r.l.

1,152

Total value adjustments

1,152

OTHER DECREASES

AUTOSTRADA DEI FIORI S.p.A.
Decrease resulting from application of the equity method

24

Total other increases

24
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SECTION 9

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT - ITEM 90

9.1 Property and equipment: breakdown of assets carried at cost

Total Total
Asset/Amounts 31/01/2020 31/12/2018
1. Owned assets 499,847 562,844
a) land 189,399 211,170
b) buildings 272,937 312,906
c) furniture and furnishings 1,059 1,363
d) electronic systems 91 161
e) other 36,361 37,244
2. Leased assets 62,131 -
a) land 75
b) buildings 60,572
c) furniture and furnishings
d) electronic systems -
e) other 1,484 -
Total 561,978 562,844

of which: obtained by the enforcement of guarantees received
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9.2 Property and equipment held for investments: breakdown of assets carried at cost

Total Total
31/01/2020 31/12/2018
Asset/Amounts /017 - N2/ -
Fair Value Fair Value
Book value Book value
u | 12 13 u | 12 L3

1. Owned assets 177,550 - - 182,553 158,019 - - 162,406
a) land 77,567 - - 78,742 69,624 - - 59,968
b) buildings 99,983 - - 103,811 88,395 - - 102,438
2. Leased assets - - - - - - - -

a) land - - - - - - -
b) buildings - - - - - - -
Total 177,550 - - 182,553 158,019 - - 162,406

of which: obtained by the enforcement - - - - . - -
of guarantees received

Key

L1 = Level 1
12 = Level 2
L3 = Level 3
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9.5 Inventories of property and equipment regulated by IAS2:

ltems/Amounts Tofal Tofol
31/01/2020 31/12/2018
:éclgi\\//:r;tories of property and equipment obtained through the enforcement of guarantees 142,303 4123
a) land 79,792 1,657
b) buildings 62,511 2,466
c) furniture and furnishings
d) electronic systems
e) other - -
2. Other inventories of property and equipment 1,430 1,426
Total 143,733 5,549

of which: measured at fair value net of costs to sell

Figures as at 31.12.2018 were reclassified in line with 31.01.2020. Other inventories of
property and equipment under item 2 refer to post-acquisition capitalised costs on buildings

shown under sub-item b) of item 1.
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9.6 Property and equipment used in the business: annual changes

Land Buildings Furniture Electronic Other Total
systems
A. CGross opening balance (*) 211,267 475,026 31,705 7,353 99,926 825,277
A.1 Total net write-downs - (84,105) (30,342) (7,192) (61,403) (183,042)
A.2 Net opening balance 211,267 390,921 1,363 161 38,523 642,235
B. Increases 210 7,591 146 1 1,408 9,356
B.1 Purchases 5,261 146 1 1,408 6,816
- of which: business combinations -
B.2 Capitalised expenditure for _ B )
B.3 Write-backs - 30 - 30
B.4 Increases in fair value booked to: -
a) shareholders' equity - -
b) profit and loss - -
B.5 Positive exchange difference - -
5.6 Transfers from properties held for 210 264 « « N 474
investment
B.7 Other increases - 2,036 - - 2,036
C. Decreases 22,003 65,003 450 71 2,086 89,613
C.1 Disposals -
- of which: business combinations -
C.2 Depreciation 22 20,609 450 71 2,086 23,238
C.3 Impairment losses booked to: 682 - 682
a) shareholders' equity . - _
b) profit and loss 682 - 682
C.4 Decreases in fair value booked
to: )
a) shareholders' equity - -
b) profit and loss - - -
C.5 Negative exchange difference - - - -
C.6 Transfers to: 21,981 35,123 - 57,104
a) assets held for investment 21,981 35,123 X X X 57,104
b) non-current assets held for sale -
C.7 Other decreases - 8,589 - - 8,589
D. Net closing balance 189,474 333,509 1,059 91 37,845 561,978
D.1 Total net write-downs (22) (104,712) (30,792) (7,263) (63,489) (206,278)
D.2 Gross closing balance 189,496 438,221 31,851 7,354 101,334 768,256

E. Carried at cost

(*) Opening balance do not correspond to the closing balance for 2018 following the introduction of IFRS 16.

Line “E. Carried at cost”, which shows the cost of assets measured at fair value, was left blank as all

property and equipment used in the business is valued at cost.
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Below is a breakdown table showing details of the rights of use acquired through the lease of tangible
assets that the bank uses for functional purposes.

9.6.1 Property and equipment used in the business: annual changes - o.w. "rights of use"

Land Buildings Furniture  Electronic Other Total
systems
A. Gross opening balance 97 78,015 - - 1,279 79,391
A.1 Total net write-downs - - - - - -
A.2 Net opening balance 97 78,015 - - 1,279 79,391
B. Increases - 6,650 - - 540 7,190
B.1 Purchases - 4,586 - - 540 5,126
- of which: business
combinations ) ) )
B.2 Capitalised expenditure for - - - - - -
B.3 Write-backs - 30 - - - 30
B.4 Increases in fair value booked
to: . ) .
a) shareholders' equity - - - - - -
b) profit and loss - - - - - -
B.5 Positive exchange difference - - - - - -
B.6 Transfers from properties held
for investment X x X )
B.7 Other increases - 2,034 - - - 2,034
C. Decreases 22 24,093 - - 336 24,450
C.1 Disposals - - - - - -
- of which: business
combinations ) ) )
C.2 Depreciation 22 14,821 - - 336 15,179
C.3 Impairment losses booked to: - 682 - - - 682
a) shareholders' equity - - - - - -
b) profit and loss - 682 - - - 682
C.4 Decreases in fair value
booked to: ) ) )
a) shareholders' equity - - - - - -
b) profit and loss - - - - - -
C.5 Negative exchange difference - - - - - -
C.6 Transfers to: - - - - - -
a) assets held for investment
b) Non-current assets held for
sale ) ) )
C.7 Other decreases - 8,590 - - - 8,589
D. Net closing balance 75 60,572 - - 1,483 62,131
D.1 Total net write-downs (22) (15,473) - - (339) (15,831)
D.2 Gross closing balance 97 76,046 - - 1,819 77,962

E. Carried at cost - - - - - -
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9.7 Property and equipment held for investments: annual changes

Total
Land Buildings

A. Opening balance 69,624 88,395
B. Increases 21,981 35,123
B.1 Purchases - -
- of which: business combinations - -
B.2 Capitalised expenditure for improvements - -
B.3 Increases in fair value - -
B.4 Write-backs - -
B.5 Positive exchange differences - -
B.6 Transfer from properties used in the business 21,981 35,123
B.7 Other increases - -
C. Decreases 14,038 23,535
C.1 Disposals 928 1,135
- of which: business combinations - -
C.2 Depreciation - (2,585)
C.3 Decreases in fair value - -
C.4 Impairment losses 12,900 19,551

C.5 Negative exchange differences -
C.6 Transfers to: - -
a) properties used in the business 210 264
b) Non-current assets held for sale - -
C.7 Other decreases - -
D. Closing balance 77,567 99,983
E. Valuation at fair value 78,742 103,811
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9.8 Inventories of property and equipment regulated by IAS2: annual changes

Inventories of properly and equipment obtained through the Other
enforcement of guarantees received inventories
- of property Total
Land Buildings Furniture Electronic Other and

systems equipment
A. Opening balance 1,657 2,466 - - - 1,426 5,549
B. Increases 78,135 63,177 - - - 949 142,261
B.1 Purchases 78,135 62,901 - - - 5 141,041
B.2 Write-backs - -
B.3 Positive exchange differences - - -
B.4 Other increases 276 - - - 944 1,220
C. Decreases - 3,132 - - - 945 4,077
C.1 Disposals 3,132 - 675 3,807
C.2 Impairment losses - -
C.3 Negative exchange differences - -
C.4 Ofther decreases - - - - - 270 270
D. Closing balance 79,792 62,511 - - - 1,430 143,733

The opening balances were

reclassified in line with the figures as at 31.01.2020.

9.9 Commitments to purchase property and equipment

As at 31/01/2020, there are no commitments to purchase property and equipment.
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SECTION 10
INTANGIBLE ASSETS - ITEM 100

10.1 Intangible assets: breakdown by type of asset

Total Total
Asset/Amounts 31/01/2020 31/12/2018
Finite life |ndﬁpenlfe Finite life |ndﬁpenlfe
A.1 Goodwill
A.1.1 group
A.1.2 non-controlling inferests
A.2 Other intangible assets 78,441 53,668
A.2.1 Assets valued at cost 78,441 53,668
a) internally generated intangible assets - -
b) other assets 78,441 53,668
A.2.2 Assets valued at fair value
a) internally generated intangible assets
b) other assets - -
Total 78,441 53,668
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10.2 Intangible assets: annual

changes

Goodwill

Other intangible assets:

generated internally

Other intangible assets:

other

DEF

INDEF

DEF

INDEF

Total

A. Opening balance

- 59,187

59,187

A.1 Total net write-downs

(5,519)

(5,519)

A.2 Net opening balance

- 53,668

53,668

B. Increases
B.1 Purchases

B.2 Increases in intangible assets generated internally

B.3 Write-backs
B.4 Increases in fair value
- equity
- profit or loss
B.5 Positive exchange differences
B.6 Other increases

>

- 35,067
35,067

35,067
35,067

C. Decreases
C.1 Disposals
C.2 Write-downs
- Amortisation
- Write-downs
+ equity
+ profit or loss
C.3 Decreases in fair value
- equity
- profit or loss

C.4 Transfers to non-current assets held for sale

C.5 Negative exchange differences
C.6 Other decreases

- 10,294

10,294
10,294

10,294

10,294
10,294

D. Net closing balance

- 78,441

78,441

D.1 Total net write-downs

15,814

15,814

E. Closing balance

(94,255)

F. Carried at cost

- (94,255)

Key:
DEF: definite life
INDEF: indefinite life
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SECTION 11

TAX ASSETS AND TAX LIABILITIES - ITEM 110 (ASSETS) AND ITEM 60 (LIABILITIES)

11.1 1 Deferred tax assets: breakdown

31/01/2020 31/12/2018
Counter-item in the income statement IRES IRAP IRES IRAP
(27.5%) (5.57%) (27.5%) (5.57%)
Deferred tax assets as per Law 214/2011
Loan loss provisions 92,731 11,830 131,389 17,168
Goodwill 231,905 46,608 247,436 51,044

Total deferred tax assets as per Law 214/2011 324,636 58,438 378,825 68,212

Other deferred tax assets:

Provisions to the supplementary pension fund 10,865 2,226 16,390 2,964

P.rovmon for risks and charges related to legal 17,286 1 443 33,313 935

disputes

Provision for commitments and guarantees given 6,775 1,372 9,440 1,912

Immovables 12,514 2,544 3,556 728

Intangible fixed assets 706 - 787 -

ACE (aid for economic growth) benefit carried 50613 7,843 52,642 7,821

forward

378,770 378,813

Tax losses - -

Other 1,839 1,533 2,931 2,098

Total other deferred tax assets 481,368 16,994 497,872 16,458

TOTAL 806,004 75,432 876,697 84,670

L L IRES IRAP IRES IRAP

Counter-item in Shareholders' equity (27.5%) (5.57%) (27.5%) (5.57%)

Provisions to the supplementary pension fund 6,272 227 4,810 114

Volucm.on of securities recognised in the FVTOCI 84 66 1 265 280

portfolio

Cash flow hedging derivatives 30,238 6,124 35,357 7,162

Intangible fixed assets 436 - 3,030 -

Adjustments of loans for FTA IFRS 9 deductible in

83,401 - - -

future years

Tax losses 67,945 - 69,089 -

TOTAL 188,376 6,417 196,135 7,556
Total deferred tax assets 994,380 81,849 1,072,832 92,226
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2. Current tax assets: breakdown

Current tax assets recognised for an amount of EUR 587,960 thousand, mainly refer to:

a) tax credits on indirect tax prepayments for the current year;

b) tax credits pursuant to ltalian Law no. 214/2011, arising from the conversion of deferred tax
assets that took place from 2014 onwards following the loss for the year and/or the fiscal loss
for 2013 for some Group companies.

Part of those credits (recognised by the merged company, Banca Carige ltalia) was assessed
and verified by the Italian Revenue Agency (see paragraph 11.9 Tax Disputes' below for further
details). For this reason and in consideration of the severe fines (theoretically including criminal
sanctions) imposed in the event of unduly applied tax credits, the Group -supported by the
opinions of highly reputed tax experts- has prudentially decided to limit the offsetting use of tax
credits to positions which are not being directly or indirectly examined by the Revenue Agency;
c) tax credits from prior years awaiting refund.

11.2 1. Deferred tax liabilities: breakdown

31/01/2020

31/12/2018
Counter-item in the income statement IRES IRAP IRES IRAP
(27 .5%) (5.57%) (27 .5%) (5.57%)
Immovables 512 104 513 104
Receivables for interest taxable when collected 92 13 123 19
Equity investments 126 363 197 59
Other 3,071 622 3,114 631
TOTAL 3,801 1,102 3,947 813
Counter-item in Shareholders' equity (QI;E;%) (5I'R5A7IZA)) (QIE'E;%) (5|.R5A7|?%)
Valuation of securities recognised in the FVTOCI
portfolio 62 264 344 230
Other 387 78 387 78
TOTAL 449 342 731 308
Total deferred tax liabilities 4,250 1,444 4,678 1,121

2. Current tax liabilities: breakdown
Current tax liabilities recognised for an amount of EUR 5,068 thousand, mainly refer to:

a) other indirect tax payables (VAT, stamp duty, substitute tax on medium/long-term loans, etc.);
b) DTA fees liability pursuant to art. 11 of Legislative Decree no. 59/2016.
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11.3 Deferred tax assets: annual changes (with offsetting entry to profit and loss)

31/01/2020 31/12/2018
1. Opening balance 961,367 1,022,769
2. Increases 23,953 36,551
2.1 Deferred tax assets for the year 23,953 36,551
a) relating to previous years 1,954 3,716
b) due to changes in accounting principles 8,058
c) write-backs - -
d) other 21,999 24,777
2.2 New taxes or increase in tax rates -
2.3 Other increases - -
3. Decreases 103,884 97,953
3.1 Deferred tax assets derecognised in the year 39,925 17,475
a) reversals 39,925 17,463
b) write-downs of non-recoverable items - -
c) change in accounting policies -
d) other 12
3.2 Reduction in tax rates - -
3.3 Other decreases 63,959 80,478
a) Conversion info tax credit under Law no. 214/2011 63,959 80,478
b) other -
4. Closing balance 881,436 961,367
11.4 Deferred tax assets under Law 214/2011: annual changes (with offsefting entry to profit or loss)
Total Total
31/01/2020 31/12/2018
Opening balance 447,037 527,486
2. Increases - 29
3. Decreases 63,963 80,478
3.1 Reversals 4 -
3.2 Conversion into tax credit 63,959 80,478
a) from year losses 63,959 80,478
b) from tax losses
3.3 Other decreases - -
4. Closing balance 383,074 447,037
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11.5 Deferred tax liabilities: annual changes (with offsetting entry to profit or loss)

Total Total
31/01/2020 31/12/2018
1. Opening balance 4,760 12,056
2. Increases 713 607
2.1 Deferred tax liabilities for the year 713 607
a) relating to previous years - 6
b) due to changes in accounting principles - 37
c) other 713 564
2.2 New taxes or increase in tax rates
2.3 Other increases
3. Decreases 570 7,903
i.; ylizfrerred tax liabilities derecognised during 570 7,795
a) reversals 570 7,795
b) due to changes in accounting principles - -
c) other
3.2 Reduction in tax rates
3.3 Other decreases - 108
4. Closing balance 4,903 4,760
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11.6 Deferred tax assets: annual changes (with offsetting entry to equity)

Total Total
31/01/2020 31/12/2018
1. Opening balance 203,691 133,004
2. Increases 2,442 95,957
2.1 Deferred tax assets for the year 2,442 95,957
a) relating to previous years 837 -
b) due to changes in accounting principles - 93,805
c) other 1,605 2,152
2.2 New taxes or increase in tax rates
2.3 Other increases - -
3. Decreases 11,340 25,270
3.1 Deferred tax assets derecognised in the year 11,340 25,270
a) reversals 11,340 13,990
b) write-downs of non-recoverable items -
c) due to change in accounting principles 11,280
d) other
3.2 Reduction in tax rates
3.3 Other decreases - -
4. Closing balance 194,793 203,691
11.7 Deferred tax liabilities: annual changes (with offsetting entry to equity)
31/01/2020 31/12/2018
1. Opening balance 1,039 924
2. Increases 170 146
2.1 Deferred tax liabilities for the year 170 146
a) relating to previous years 62
b) due to changes in accounting principles 146
c) other 108
2.2 New taxes or increase in tax rates
2.3 Other increases -
3. Decreases 418 31
3.1 Deferred tax liabilities derecognised during the year 418 31
a) reversals 418 31
b) due to changes in accounting principles
c) other
3.2 Reduction in tax rates
3.3 Other decreases -
4. Closing balance 791 1,039

181



11.8  Other information

- Tax rates applied

The 2016 Stability Law (Law no. 208 of 28/12/2015), provides for a further reduction in the IRES rate
from 27.5% to 24%, effective from the fiscal year coinciding with calendar year 2017. For credit and
financial institutions, however, the reduction was cancelled out by the introduction of a 3.5% surcharge
starting from the same date.

Law Decree no. 98, published in the Official Journal, General Series no. 155 of 6 July 2011, converted
into Law no. 111 of 15 July 2011, in Art. 23, para. 5 and 6 changed the IRAP base rate to 4.65% for
the banking sector.

A coefficient of 0.9176 was established to reset the rates imposed by the regions for the IRAP tax
surcharge. Therefore, for almost all regions in which the company operates (for which the standard rate
surcharge had been set at 1%), the applicable tax rate essentially became 5.57% (4.65% new base rate
+ 0.92% surcharge).

As a consequence, the rates applied in calculating current and deferred taxes for this year are as follows:
IRES  27.5%

IRAP  5.57%

As shown, with regard to IRES, the rate applied was 27.5%, which includes the portion relating to the
main tax (24%) and that relating to the IRES surcharge (3.5%).

- Determining the tax base for the corporate income tax (IRES)

As is known, law no. 244/2007 also reinforced the principle of deriving company income from financial
statements prepared in accordance with international accounting standards (IAS/IFRS). To this end, tax
regulations were changed to envisage:

A) on the one hand, that for entities that adopt the IASs/IFRSs, the time allocation and classification
criteria of the IAS financial statements should prevail over the provisions of the Consolidated
Income Tax Law (TUIR, Article 83);

B) the introduction of a series of changes to other parts of the TUIR, in order to harmonise -from
a valuation perspective- the rules of deriving company income from the financial statements.

At any rate, it should be noted that, despite the foregoing reinforced principle of deriving company
income- differences remain between tax regulations and those arising from the application of the
International Accounting Standards. As a consequence, taxable income still shows some differences with
respect fo income inferred from the accounting records. To this effect, it should be noted that Ministerial
Decree no. 48 of 1 April 2009, (the “IAS Decree”) clarified that “even the parties adopting IAS must
apply the provisions of Chapter I, Section | of the Consolidated Income Tax Law providing for
quantitative limits on the deduction of negative components, or their exclusion or allocation to more
than one tax period, or those that partially or fully exempt or exclude any positive components from
taxable income calculation, or permit allocation to more than one tax period, and those that establish
the significance of positive or negative components for the year based, respectively, on their collection
or payment”.

It should be noted that the tax regime for loans and receivables was recently affected by multiple
significant changes.

The 2014 Stability Law established at first that, for IRES purposes, effective from the financial year in
progress as at 31 December 2013, credit and financial institutions could fully deduct during the year
any losses on loans to customers realised through disposal and deduct any other forms of write-downs
and losses on loans to customers during the year and in the four subsequent years (art. 106, paragraph
3, Consolidated Income Tax Law).

Subsequently, Art. 16 of Law Decree no. 83/2015, established that all write-downs and losses on loans
to customers can be fully deducted in the financial year of their recognition. Only for the first period of
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application of the new regime, deductibility was limited to 75% of the total amount of write-downs and
losses on loans to customers.

The non-deducted 25%, together with the write-downs on loans until 2012 and the adjustments on
loans for financial years 2013 and 2014 are deductible over ten taxable periods as of 2016 based on
the different rates applied according to the law (5% for 2016, 8% for 2017, 10% for 2018, 12% from
2019 to 2024, 5% for 2025).

The 2019 ltalian Budget Law postponed the deduction of the 10% tranche for 2018 to the tax year
ending 31 December 2026.

The 2020 ltalian Budget Law postponed the deduction of the 12% tranche for 2019, on a straight-line

basis, to the tax year ending 31 December 2022 and the three following years.

Furthermore, as regards income components deriving exclusively from the adoption of the credit loss
model of IFRS 9 and recognised in the accounts on IFRS first-time adoption, their deductibility from
the IRES and IRAP tax base has been set at 10% of their amount for 2018 (year of IFRS 9 first time
adoption) and 90% on a straight-line basis over the following nine tax periods.

The 2020 ltalian Budget Law postponed the deduction of the 10% tranche for 2019 to the tax year

ending 31 December 2028.

Write-downs and losses on loans to entities other than customers will, by contrast, continue to be
deductible according to ordinary rules for IR